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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilers pursuant to ltem 405 of Regulation S-K (§82%) is not contained herein, and will not be aored, to the best of
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held by each executive officer and director ofréagistrant and entities affiliated with such exaaibfficers and directors have been excluded frloeforegoing calculation
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purposes.
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References to Tetraphase

Throughout this annual report on Form 10-K, thert@any,” “Tetraphase,” “we,” “us,” and “our,” excephere the context requires
otherwise, refer to Tetraphase Pharmaceuticalsalmt its consolidated subsidiaries, and “our badudirectors’refers to the board of directc
of Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

The trademarks, trade names and service marks app@athis Annual Report on Form 10-K are thepeudy of their respective owners.

Forward-Looking Information

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forwardkiog statements regarding, among other thingsfuiure discovery and
development efforts, our future operating resulid financial position, our business strategy, ath@oobjectives for our operations. The word:
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “imnd,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “would”and similar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements, although nibf@rward-looking statements contain these idetnig words. You also can identify them by
the fact that they do not relate strictly to higtal or current facts. There are a number of imgurdrtisks and uncertainties that could cause our
actual results to differ materially from those itated by forward-looking statements. These risksumtertainties include those inherent in
pharmaceutical research and development, suchvassadresults in our drug discovery and clinicalal@pment activities, decisions made by
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and otheulaigry authorities with respect to the developraat commercialization of our drug
candidates, our ability to obtain, maintain ancbec# intellectual property rights for our drug catades, our ability to obtain any necessary
financing to conduct our planned activities, anaeotrisk factors. We may not actually achieve tlamg, intentions or expectations disclosed ir
our forward-looking statements, and you shouldptate undue reliance on our forward-looking statesieActual results or events could
differ materially from the plans, intentions angpegtations disclosed in the forward-looking statetsieve make. We have included important
factors in the cautionary statements included is @hnual report on Form 10-K, particularly in #extion entitled “Risk Factors” in Part | that
could cause actual results or events to differ radlg from the forward-looking statements that meke. Our forward-looking statements do
not reflect the potential impact of any future asgions, mergers, dispositions, joint venturesneestments that we may make. Unless req;
by law, we do not undertake any obligation to pelplupdate any forward-looking statements.
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ITEM 1. Business
Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical compaanyguour proprietary chemistry technology to creaieel antibiotics for serious and
life-threatening multidrug-resistant infections. \AWte developing our lead product candidate, eraliaey a fully synthetic tetracycline
derivative, as a broad-spectrum intravenous, oaid oral antibiotic for use as a first-line empimonotherapy for the treatment of multidrug-
resistant infections, including multidrug-resist@ram-negative infections. We are conducting agléthase 3 clinical program for
eravacycline called IGNITEI(nvestigatings ram-N egativel nfectionsT reated withE ravacycline), consisting of two Phase 3 clinicill$r.
IGNITE 1 is a Phase 3 clinical trial evaluating 8efety and efficacy of eravacycline with 1V admsination for the treatment of complicated
intra-abdominal infections, or clAl, for which warmounced top-line data in December 2014. IGNITE cond Phase 3 clinical trial of
eravacycline for the treatment of complicated unirtaact infections, or cUTI, with IV-to-oral traiti&n therapy, is ongoing.

Consistent with guidance issued by the United Statod and Drug Administration, or FDA, with resptecthe development of
antibiotics for clAl and our discussions with thBA, we expect that positive results from these Riase 3 clinical trials will be sufficient to
support submission of a new drug application, orA\for eravacycline in the treatment of clAl anddUIn December 2014, we announced
positive top-line data from IGNITE 1. In SeptemB6d.4, we announced positive data from the leadsitign of IGNITE 2, and in October
2014, we announced the selection of the oral dusthé 1V-to-oral transition therapy (1.5 mg/kg iMlowed by 200 mg oral dose) to be
evaluated in the pivotal portion of IGNITE 2 ane thitiation of patient enroliment. We expect tovddop-line data from the pivotal portion of
IGNITE 2 in mid2015. If we complete the pivotal portion of IGNIPEBvhen we anticipate, and it is successful, we expesubmit an NDA ti
the FDA by the end of 2015 and a marketing autla¢ion application, or MAA, to the European Medignsgency, or EMA, in the first half «
2016.

IGNITE 1 is a global, multi-center, randomized, btmiblind, double-dummy Phase 3 clinical trial thet conducted to assess the
efficacy, safety and pharmacokinetics of eravaagctiompared to ertapenem in patients with clAthintrial, we enrolled 541 patients at 66
clinical sites worldwide. These patients were randed into two arms of the trial on a 1:1 basididpas in the eravacycline arm received
1.0 mg/kg IV administered twice per day. Patientthie ertapenem arm received 1.0 g IV administeree per day. Eravacycline met the
primary endpoint of statistical non-inferiority dlinical response at the test-of-cure, or TOC tyisider the guidance set by the FDA and the
EMA. The secondary analyses were consistent withsaipportive of the primary outcome. There wer@nm+elated serious adverse eveni
the trial. The most commonly reported drug-reladderse events for eravacycline were gastrointdsiimcluding nausea (3.3%) and emesis
(2.2%). This adverse event profile for eravacyclies consistent with that seen in the Phase Zalitiial of eravacycline in clAl. The
spectrum of pathogens in this trial was similathi@t seen in other pivotal trials of antibioticgliis patient population. The most common
Gram-negative pathogens in the trial inclu@esdherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumonia, PseudomaradBacteroides

IGNITE 2 is a global, multi-center, randomized, bim4blind clinical trial that we are conductingdssess the efficacy and safety of
eravacycline compared with levofloxacin in the tneant of cUTI. We enrolled 143 patients in the léagortion of the trial, which we
designed to inform the selection of an oral dodeet@valuated in the pivotal portion of the trigthese patients were randomized into three .
on a 1:1:1 basis receiving 1.5 mg/kg IV eravacyckwery 24 hours followed by 200 mg of eravacyctiradly every 12 hours, 1.5 mg/kg IV
eravacycline every 24 hours followed by 250 mgrafvacycline orally every 12 hours or 750 mg IV [#eracin every 24 hours followed by
750 mg of levofloxacin orally every 24 hours. Aftezatment completed in the lead-in portion oftified, we evaluated primary efficacy, safety
and tolerability endpoints to determine the doggmen for eravacycline to be studied in the pivgiaition of the trial. In both IV-to-oral
dosing regimens of eravacycline, eravacycline caeghéavorably to levofloxicin. In addition, treatnmtevas generally well tolerated in all th
groups with the most common adverse events repbeid) nausea and
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emesis. Based on these results, we selected thedval transition therapy (1.5 mg/kg 1V followegt BOO mg oral dose) to be evaluated in the
pivotal portion of the trial. We are currently eltiray approximately 720 patients in the pivotal fion of the IGNITE 2 trial who will be
randomized on a 1:1 basis to receive 1.5 mg/kgréacycline every 24 hours followed by 200 mg @vacycline orally every 12 hours or 7
mg IV levofloxacin every 24 hours followed by 75@ mf levofloxacin orally every 24 hours. Under FRAidance, the primary endpoint of 1
pivotal portion of the trial is non-inferiority aflinical and microbiological response compareceimfloxacin at the post-treatment, or PT, visit,
which takes place approximately seven days aftempbetion of treatment. Under EMA guidance, the @tiynendpoint is non-inferiority of
microbiological response compared to levofloxagditha PT visit. A key secondary endpoint in IGNIZEs to test for superiority of
eravacycline over levofloxacin in the treatment©OfT| for those subjects with infections caused binglone-resistant pathogens by evaluatior
of clinical and microbiological response at the\Rsit.

Eravacycline has been designated by the FDA asadifi@d Infectious Disease Product, or QIDP, fottbthe clAl and cUTI indications.
The QIDP designation makes eravacycline eligibtepftority review and an additional five years of3J market exclusivity, if approved. In
April 2014, the FDA granted Fast Track designatifmrdoth the clAl and cUTI indications and the dvid oral formulations of
eravacycline. Fast Track designation is awardezkpedite the study and regulatory review of drugsrided to treat serious or life-threatening
conditions that demonstrate the potential to adduesnet medical needs.

In clinical trials to date, eravacycline monothegragither administered intravenously once or tvpee day for the treatment of clAl or
administered as an IV-to-oral step-down therapytliertreatment of cUTI, has demonstrated a faveraafety and tolerability profile and a
high cure rate, including against multidrug-resistaram-negative bacteria. im vitro experiments, eravacycline has demonstrated thi¢yatioi
cover a wide variety of multidrug-resistant Grangaitve, Gram-positive, anaerobic and atypical b&tencluding multidrug-resistant
Klebsiella pneumonia. Multidrug-resistanKlebsiella pneumoniais one of the carbapenem-resistBnterobacteriaceabisted as an urgent
threat by the Centers for Disease Control and Pterg or CDC, in a September 2013 report, andiomefd as an area of great concern by the
World Health Organization in an April 2014 globaksgeillance report. Gram-negative bacteria thatraséstant to all available antibiotics are
increasingly common and a growing threat to pulbdialth. We believe that the ability of eravacyclioeover multidrug-resistant Gram-
negative bacteria, as well as multidrug-resistamatn@Gpositive, anaerobic and atypical bacteria,impotential for IV-toeral transition therap
will enable eravacycline to become the drug of cador first-line empiric treatment of a wide vayi®f serious and life-threatening infections.

We believe that our proprietary chemistry techngldigensed from Harvard University on an exclusierldwide basis and enhanced
us, represents a significant innovation in the tiwazof tetracycline drugs that has the potentiaieinvigorate the clinical and market potential
of the class. Our proprietary chemistry technolotgkes it possible to create novel tetracyclinebéotics using a practical, fully synthetic
process for what we believe is the first time. Tialfy synthetic process avoids the limitationsbaicterially-derived tetracyclines and allows us
to chemically modify many positions in the tetrdaye scaffold, including most of the positions tha believe could not practically be
modified by any previous conventional method, whaaly allowed for limited chemical diversity. Usimogir proprietary chemistry technology,
we can create a wider variety of tetracyclbased compounds than was previously possible, iagals to pursue novel tetracycline derivati
for the treatment of multidrug-resistant bactehiat tare resistant to existing tetracyclines anérthasses of antibiotic products. To date, we
have used our proprietary chemistry technologyr¢ate more than 3,000 new tetracycline derivatiiaswe believe could not be practically
created with conventional methods. We own exclugisddwide rights to these compounds and our teldgyo

In 2011 and 2012, the U.S. government awarded actstfor potential funding of over $100 million fitre development of our antibiotic
compounds. These awards include a contract foo §67 million from the Biomedical Advanced Reseamol Development Authority, or
BARDA, an agency of the U.S. Department of Healti Bluman Services, for the development of eravany¢or the treatment of disease
caused by bacterial
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biothreat pathogens, which we refer to as the BARIDAtract. The funding under the BARDA Contraciliso being used for certain activities
in the development of eravacycline to treat cerigiections caused by life-threatening multidrugiséant bacteria. These awards also include
contract for up to $36 million from the Nationaktiiute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, or NDAk division of the National Institutes of
Health, for the development of TP-271, a broad-spetpreclinical compound that we are developingéspiratory diseases caused by
bacterial biothreat pathogens, which we refer tthadNIAID Contract. These awards were made to COBIRc., or CUBRC, an independent,
not-for-profit, research corporation that specidiin U.S. government-based contracts, with whierare collaborating. CUBRC serves as the
prime contractor under these awards, primarilyyéagrout a program management and administratilewih additional responsibility for the
management of preclinical studies. We serve astisathical expert on all aspects of these awardsao serve as a subcontractor of CUBRC
responsible for management of chemistry, manufaxguand control activities and clinical studies.dénour subcontracts with CUBRC, we
may receive funding of up to approximately $39.8iom reflecting the portion of the BARDA Contraitinding that may be paid to us for our
activities, and up to approximately $13.3 milliglecting the portion of the NIAID Contract funditigat may be paid to us for our activities.
The BARDA Contract includes funding for some of #tativities that we would otherwise be requiredutad on our own in connection with an
NDA filing for eravacycline

In addition to eravacycline and TP-271, we are pingsthe discovery and development of additionaibéstics to target unmet medical
needs, including multidrug-resistant Gram-negaligeteria. We have selected TP-6076 as a lead aadidder this program which we have
advanced into IND-enabling studies.

Strategy

Our goal is to become a fully integrated biopharengical company that discovers, develops and comiaizes novel antibiotics for use
in areas of unmet medical need. Key elements o§tategy include:

» Complete clinical development of eravacycline ia lead indications and seek regulatory approwWe have completed a Phase 3
clinical trial of the IV formulation of eravacycknin patients with clAl. We are also conductind@bgl Phase 3 clinical trial of
eravacycline for the treatment of cUTI, which wéigied in the first quarter of 2014. We annountigatiine data from the Phase 3
clAl clinical trial in December 2014, data from tlead-in portion of the Phase 3 cUTI clinical tiialSeptember 2014 and expect to
announce top-line data from the pivotal portiothef Phase 3 cUTI clinical trial in mid-2015. If wemplete the pivotal portion of
IGNITE 2 when we anticipate, and it is successfid,expect to submit an NDA to the FDA by the en@@15 and an MAA to the
EMA in the first half of 2016

» Maximize the commercial potential of eravacyclirlf eravacycline is approved, we intend to directhynmercialize eravacycline
in the United States with a targeted hospital sales and to commercialize eravacycline outsideUhited States through
collaboration arrangements. We believe that erastan®y/s broad-spectrum coverage of multidrug-resislGram-negative bacteria
and other multidrug-resistant bacteria, with theeptial for IV-to-oral transition therapy, will allv it to be used to treat patients
successfully in hospitals, emergency rooms an-patient clinic settings

» Pursue development of eravacycline in additionatlinations.We are initially developing eravacycline for thedtment of clAl
and cUTI, and, subject to obtaining additional ficimg, intend to pursue development of eravacydtine¢he treatment of addition
indications, including hospital-acquired bactegaeumonias and other serious and life-threatemifggiions. We may pursue these
development activities either by ourselves or withaborators

»  Opportunistically advance development of other puatlcandidates created using our proprietary chetrysechnology We have
used our proprietary chemistry technology to creabee than 3,000 new tetracycline derivatives Wabelieve could not be
practically created with conventional methods. Wenmnd to advance our antibiotic product pipelinthwiifferentiated product
candidates created using our proprietary chemistiignology and targeting hospital and acute carietg We may pursue these
activities either by ourselves or with collaborat:
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Drug-Resistant Antibiotic Market

Physicians commonly prescribe antibiotics to tpetients with acute and chronic infectious dise#isatsare either known, or presumed,
to be caused by bacteria. According to IMS Heaitl2011, approximately $41 billion was spent orild@atic drugs worldwide, of which almc
$9 billion was spent in the United States. The wjlead use of antibiotics has resulted in a ragicease in bacterial infections that are
resistant to multiple antibacterial agents. Fomepie, the bacterial pathogéttebsiella pneumoniais responsible for roughly 14% of Gram-
negative infections in hospital intensive care sifiultidrug-resistanklebsiella pneumoniaare typically treated with the carbapenem class ¢
antibiotics. However, in recent years, strainsstasit to carbapenem antibiotics have emerged ankeniig increased the threat posed by
Klebsiella pneumonia, as infections caused by carbapenem-resistaimstiave few treatment options.

As a result of the increasing prevalence of suchidnug-resistant bacteria, some antibiotics targethese bacteria have been highly
successful commercially. These include:

» linezolid, an intravenously and orally admieigtd antibiotic marketed by Pfizer, Inc., or Pfjzes Zyvox, which had worldwide
sales in 2014 of $1.35 billiol

» levofloxacin, an intravenously and orally adisiared antibiotic marketed by Ortho-McNeil Phareatecal, or Ortho McNeil, and
Johnson & Johnson as Levaquin, which had worldwales in 2012 of $75 million, down from worldwidges of $1.4 billion in
2010 after losing U.S. market exclusivity in Jultd. 2,

* meropenem, an intravenously administered antitbimarketed by AstraZeneca plc, or AstraZenesdlarrem, which had
worldwide sales in 2014 of $253 million, down framorldwide sales of $817 million in 2010 after logib.S. market exclusivity in
June 2010; an

» daptomycin, an intravenously administered aaotiib marketed by Cubist Pharmaceuticals, IncCobist, as Cubicin, which had
worldwide sales of more than $1 billion in 20.

Bacterial infections are caused by a variety diedént types of bacteria and the infections theyseecan range from mild to serious, life-
threatening infections requiring immediate treatmBacteria are broadly categorized as Gram-p@&sitBram-negative, atypical or anaerobic.
Gram-positive bacteria possess a single membratha #rnick cell wall and turn dark-blue or violet @hsubjected to a laboratory staining
method known as Gram’s method. Common causes oh@msitive bacterial infections include specieStdphylococcussuch as methicillin-
resistantStaph aureus or MRSA, StreptococcuandEnterococcus Gram-negative bacteria have two membranes witimacell wall and,
when subjected to Gram’s method of staining, lbgestain or are decolorized. According to The Newl&nd Journal of Medicine, the most
common cause of Gram-negative infectiok$sherichia coli orE. coli. Less prevalent Gram-negative bacteria strairladecspecies of
Acinetobacte, KlebsiellaandPseudomonasAtypical bacteria, such &8ycoplasmaspecies, have modified cell walls and are neithant
positive nor Gram-negative. Anaerobic bacteriahsagBacteroidespecies, either cannot grow in the presence of@xyg do not require
oxygen to grow and are classified as either Grasitipe or Gram-negative.

Antibiotics that treat bacterial infections candi@ssified as broad-spectrum or narrow-spectruntibfatics that are active against a
mixture of Gram-positive, Gram-negative and anaierbhcteria are referred to as broad-spectrum.bigtics that are active only against a
select subset of bacteria are referred to as nespmetrum. Because it usually takes from 24 todizhfrom the time a specimen is received it
the laboratory to definitively diagnose a particudacterial infection, physicians may be requie@tescribe antibiotics for serious infections
without having identified the bacteria. As sucHeefive first-line treatment of serious infectiamsjuires the use of broad-spectrum antibiotics
with activity against a broad range of bacterikeast until the bacterial infection can be diaguose

Many strains of bacteria have mutated over timehane developed resistance to existing drugs, tieguh infections that are
increasingly serious or more difficult to treat.eBe drug-resistant pathogens have become a
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growing menace to all people, regardless of agadereor socioeconomic background. They endangasleéo affluent, industrial societies li
the United States, as well as in less-developadmsatGram-positive bacteria that have developsittance to existing drugs include:

» Streptococcus pneumonithat cause pneumonia, ear infections, bloodstrafeetions and meningiti:
» Staphylococcus auretthat cause skin, bone, lung and bloodstream imfiestianc

» Enterococcthat are responsible for infections transmittetiéalthcare setting

Gram-negative bacteria that have developed resistanexisting drugs include:
» Escherichia colthat cause urinary tract, skin and bloodstreanctidas;
» SalmonelleandEscherichia colthat cause foodborne infections; ¢

» Acinetobacter baumanr, Pseudomonas aeruginoaadKlebsiellaspp. that are responsible for infections transmhiibehealthcare
settings.

Broad-spectrum antibiotics are used to treat magspital infections such as clAl, cUTI, hospitafjared pneumonia, or HAP, and
ventilator-associated pneumonia, or VAP. Basedmaralysis from a variety of industry sources, sngate that the number of patients
treated with antibiotics in hospitals in the Uni®tes annually include approximately 1.9 milladAl patients with each patient being treated
for an average of 8.6 average days for a combistchated 16.3 million annual average days of treatmapproximately 4.0 million cUTI
patients with each patient being treated for amageof 6.9 days for a combined estimated 27.9anitknnual average days of treatment; and
1.1 million HAP/VAP patients with each patient bgitneated for an average of 9.6 days for a combéstichated 10.6 million annual average
days of treatment. Of these patients, we belieatdhproximately 45% of clAl patients and 25% off¢|gatients have infections caused at
least in part by multidrug-resistant Gram-negaligeteria. Gram-negative bacteria account for 55-8584AP/VAP infections. In hospitalized
patients, rates of HAP/VAP due to MDR pathogensi@eeeasing. Late-onset HAP/VAP are more likelyo®caused by MDR pathogens, and
are associated with increased patient mortalityrancbidity.

According to a September 2013 report of the CDChsaaar in the United States, at least two milli@ople acquire serious infections
with bacteria that are resistant to one or mortefantibiotics designed to treat those infectidideast 23,000 people die each year as a dire
result of these antibiotic-resistant infectionsthwinany more dying from other conditions that asmplicated by the occurrence of an
antibiotic-resistant infection. These antibiotisigtant infections add considerable and avoidaté¢sdo the already overburdened U.S.
healthcare system. In the same September 2013 rémCDC noted that the total economic cost tibastic infections to the U.S. economy
has been estimated to be as high as $20 billiexdess of direct healthcare costs. In additionXP€ reported that, among all of the bacterial
resistance problems, Gram-negative pathogens atieytarly worrisome because they are becomingstast to nearly all drugs that would be
considered for treatment, with the most seriousvGnagative infections being healthcare associateddld most common pathogens being
Enterobacteriacea, Pseudomonas aeruginoaadAcinetobacter

As such, at present, there is an acute need fordnaggs to treat multidrug-resistant Gram-negatigetéria. Currently approved products,
such as Merrem and Levaquin, are becoming incrglysimeffective against Gram-negative bacteria ttumcreasing resistance, limiting
patients’ treatment options, particularly for pateewith multidrug-resistant infections, and fewwnlerapeutic agents are in clinical
development.

The need for new drugs to treat multidrug-resis@am-negative bacteria can be seen in both clAIGUTI. Specifically, patients with
clAl need early, rapid treatment as nearly 38%hefke patients have mixed infections, meaning tieaetis more than one pathogen causin
infection, and only 64% of patients are treatediitst-line empiric therapy while 36% require the@nt with second-line therapies. We
estimate that of the clAl patients treated withreat antibiotic treatments, approximately 23% amspribed piperacillin/
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tazobactam and of those patients, nearly 10%tfaitipy; approximately 22% are prescribed an artitibimtom the quinolone class and nearly
19% fail therapy; approximately 21% are prescribedintibiotic from the carbapenem class and n&&8yail therapy; and approximately 3%
are prescribed ceftriaxone and nearly 14% failapgr

The resistance rates for cUTI to current antibgtice between 20-60% and appear to be increasngng percent (70%) of cUTI
patients are treated with first-line empiric therayhile 30% require treatment with second-line épdes. We estimate that of the cUTI patients
treated with current antibiotic treatments, appmadely 38% are prescribed an antibiotic from thmgjene class (with IV to oral transition)
and of those patients, nearly 22% fail therapy;raximately 15% are prescribed ceftriaxone (a ondayaantibiotic) and nearly 18% fail
therapy; approximately 9% are prescribed an aritdbfoom the carbapenem class and nearly 7% failapy; and approximately 7% are
prescribed piperacillin/tazobactam and nearly 18¥tHerapy.

A survey of infectious disease specialists publisinethe June 2012 edition Gfinical Infectious Diseaseted multidrug-resistant Gram-
negative infections as the most important unmeiadi need in current practice. In the survey, G89physicians reported treating a patient in
the past year whose bacterial infection was rettistaall available antibacterial agents. Thiss&sice was confirmed by the SENTRY
Antimicrobial Surveillance Program which evaluateaterobacteriaceaandAcinetobactespp., two Gram-negative species of bacteria, from
31 U.S. medical centers from 2005 to 2009. Spedlficthe SENTRY Program found that, with respecthieEnterobacteriaceaéamily of
bacteria, 6.8% of thEscherichia colstrains studied and 15.4% of tkiebsiellaspp. strains studied exhibited an extended-spedbeta
lactamase, or ESBL, phenotype, and that 22.2&ntérobacteispp. strains studies were ceftazidime-resistarBLESire enzymes present in
certain multidrug-resistant bacteria that destilagses of beta lactam antibiotics, such as penigiltephalosporins and carbapenems. In
addition,Klebsiella pneumoniaearbapenemase-, or KPC-, producing bacteria haeegad as a highly drug resistant Gram-negativesbiact
associated with mortality rates ranging from 329806, as compared to 9% to 17% for strainklebsiella pneumoniathat are not
carbapenem-resistant.

As a further example of the seriousness of theattoEGram-negative bacteria resistant to all add antibacterial agents, in 2014, the
national media includinghe Wall Street JournalCBSandFox Newgeported on an outbreak, primarily in one subur@hitago, lllinois
hospital, of carbapenem-resistamterobacteriacea@r CRE, with more than 40 cases reported in 2013. Additlgnen February 2015, an
outbreak of CRE occurred at the Ronald Reagan Ulledical Center in which a total of seven peopledoee infected and the infection wa
contributing factor in the death of two patientssifilar report came from the Carolinas HealthCaystem in February 2015, in which 18
people contracted CRE at a hospital in CharlottetiNCarolina and one person died. According toGB&C, CRE are a nightmare bacteria, are
resistant to nearly all known antibiotics and kitl to 50% of people infected.

The growing issue of antibiotic-resistant bacten&ctions has been widely recognized as an isangly urgent public health threat,
including by the World Health Organization, or WHle CDC and the Infectious Disease Society of Atacior IDSA. In April 2014, the
WHO issued an antimicrobial resistance global silaree report stating that resistance to commastdsa has reached alarming levels
worldwide indicating that many available treatmeptions are becoming ineffective, and leading t@gative impact in patient outcomes and
health-care spending. The WHO warns that unlessfigignt measures are taken, people will startiéofldm common, formerly treatable
infections, and medical interventions such as syrggaemotherapy, organ transplantation and capeevhature infants will become
increasingly risky. The important need for new tmeent options for serious bacterial infections Wather highlighted by the passage in the
United States in July 2012 of the Generating Antibilncentives Now, or GAIN, Act, which providesgulatory incentives for the
development of new antibacterial or antifungal drirgended to treat serious or life-threateningétibns that are resistant to existing
treatment. In September 2014, the United Statessi®ent’'s Council of Advisors on Science and Teb&tmpissued a report providing
recommendations to combat the rise in antibiotistant bacteria and advising that without rapitibac the United States risks losing the
tremendous progress made in
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antibiotic development over the last century. Thegommendations focused on three areas: impratingeillance, increasing longevity of
current antibiotics and increasing the rate at tvimiew antibiotics are discovered and developed.

Additionally, legislative initiatives have recenthgen introduced as part of thesP@entury Cures discussion document, including the
Antibiotic Development to Advance Patient Treatme@ntADAPT, Act which would provide a pathway fqrmoval of antibiotics in limited
populations of patients with few or no suitableatreent options, the Developing an Innovating Sgnafer Antimicrobial Resistant
Microorganisms, or DISARM, Act which would desigeatertain novel antibiotics used to treat sericaarddrial infections to receive higher
Medicare reimbursement, and an amendment to thé\@&t which would allow successful QIDP sponsorsrémsfer up to one year of
exclusivity to another product, including productarketed by other companies.

Limitations of Available Treatment Options

When confronted with a new patient suffering frosesious infection caused by an unknown pathogehyaician may be required to
quickly initiate first-line empiric antibiotic trement to stabilize the patient prior to definitiyeliagnosing the particular bacterial infection.
However, current antibiotics for first-line empiti@atment of serious bacterial infections suffent significant limitations, including one or
more of the following:

Insufficient Coverage of Multidrug-resistant Bactea. A physician cannot afford to be too limited in #y@ectrum of bacteria covered by
antibiotics when initially treating a patient fosarious infection that has not yet been definiyivéentified. Frequently used products, such as
Zyvox and Cubicin, are limited to Gram-positive tea@ and thus are rarely used as a firg-empiric monotherapy if broad bacterial cover
is required. In addition, other popular antibiotikat have been used as first-line empiric monaipies, such as Levaquin,
piperacillin/tazobactam, which is marketed by Rfiae Zosyn, carbapenems, such as Merrem, and iempeitastatin, which is marketed by
Merck as Primaxin, have seen their utility as fins¢ empiric monotherapies diminished as the nunolb®acterial strains resistant to these
therapies has increased.

Complicated and Expensive Multi-Drug Cocktails amdulti-Dose RegimensDue to gaps in the spectrum of coverage of antisipt
physicians are often confronted with the need sgiecomplicated multi-drug cocktails for the fitste empiric treatment of patients with
serious infections. The clinical situation is fuatitomplicated when each drug in the multi-drugktaithas a different dosing regimen, such a:
two, three or four times a day, resulting in anetldurden on the pharmacy and nursing staff, higbgts due to multiple drug administrations
and an increased potential for medical errors ogirug interactions. We believe that, with theepton of eravacycline, most of the
antibiotics that are in development or have regddlen approved by the FDA that are intended teicabroad spectrum of bacteria, including
Gram-negative bacteria, or solely to address Gragative bacteria, are being developed or are apdrfor use in combination with one or
more other antibiotics, and require the additiom t¢tiird drug such as metronidazole to addrespriggence of anaerobic bacteria.

Safety and Tolerability Concern€oncerns about antibiotic safety and tolerability among the leading reasons why patients stop
treatment and fail therapy. Antibiotics on the nerkave been associated with adverse effects suety@losuppression, seizures,
nephrotoxicity and gastrointestinal disorders.

Lack of Oral Dosage Forms to Permit Transition Thegpy.When a patient comes to the emergency room or tad$pi treatment of a
serious infection, the patient initially receivéstreatment, which allows the drug to be delivensate rapidly and in a larger dose than oral
treatment. Once the infection begins to resportcetitment and the patient is stabilized, dependinthe infection, hospitals and physicians
generally seek to minimize in-hospital treatmert,ahpossible, discharge patients from the ho$pitarder to reduce costs, avoid hospital-
acquired infections, and improve the patiequgility of life. Upon discharge, physicians typlgadrefer to prescribe transition therapy treatr
with an oral formulation of the same antibiotictransition
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therapy to oral treatment allows for more conven#rd cost-effective out-patient treatment, witl dnal antibiotic providing enhanced patient
comfort and mobility and avoiding the risk of infen from the IV catheter. In addition, the usedlté same antibiotic allows the physician to
avoid switching the patient from the antibiotictthas proven effective during IV administratioratdifferent antibiotic that may be less
effective and carries the risk of new or differsiute effects. Many of the antibiotics that are nmomstmonly used as first-line empiric
monotherapies are only available in an IV formwlatiVery few of the antibiotics that cover or avedsed on the treatment of Gram-negative
bacteria have oral dosage forms.

Given these limitations, there is an unmet medie&d for a first-line empiric antibiotic treatméhnat has the following characteristics:

» Potency and effectiveness against a broad smeatf bacteria, including multidrug-resistant Grapygative, Granpaositive, atypice
and anaerobic bacteri

» Capability of being used as a monotherapy énrtajority of patients in the hospital with clALJ€Il and other multidrug-resistant
infections;

e A convenient dosing regimen, such as once or -daily;
» A favorable safety and tolerability profile; a

» Availability in both IV dosage and oral dosage fo

Based on our belief that eravacycline has, or fi@i@nhas, each of these characteristics, our goi develop eravacycline to be the ¢
of choice for first-line empiric treatment of a widariety of serious and life-threatening infection

Eravacycline
Overview

We are developing our lead product candidate, esaliae, as a broad-spectrum IV and oral antibifiiicuse as a first-line empiric
monotherapy for the treatment of multidrug-resistafections, including multidrug-resistant Gramgagive bacteria. We developed
eravacycline using our proprietary chemistry tedbgp. We believe our fully synthetic process witlable us to have a cost of manufacturing
that is sufficiently low to enable us to sell ereyeline, when and if approved, for a cost thainsilar to other hospital-based antibiotics. Our
patent strategy to broadly protect eravacyclinduiies the filing of patent applications directeddods the composition of matter of
eravacycline as well as our proprietary chemistghtology, which we used to create eravacycline oWe exclusive worldwide rights for the
development and commercialization of eravacycline.

In 2012, we completed a successful Phase 2 clitiighlof eravacycline with IV administration fdne treatment of patients with clAl. V
initiated IGNITE 1, a Phase 3 clinical trial of ea@ycline with IV administration for the treatmaegitclAl, in the third quarter of 2013, and
subsequently initiated the lead-in portion of IGHEIZ, a two-part Phase 3 clinical trial of eravamyeffor the treatment of cUTI with IV-to-oral
transition therapy, during the first quarter of 20ln December 2014, we announced positive topdata from IGNITE 1. In September 2014,
we announced positive data from the lead-in pordbIGNITE 2, and in October 2014, we announcedsttlection of the oral dose to be
evaluated in the pivotal portion of the trial ahé fnitiation of patient enroliment. We expect tva top-line data from the Phase 3 cUTI
clinical trial in mid-2015. If we complete the pitd portion of IGNITE 2 when we anticipate, andsisuccessful, we expect to submit an NDA
to the FDA by the end of 2015 and an MAA to the EMAhe first half of 2016.

Tetracycline antibiotics have been in clinical émeover 50 years and have a demonstrated recasdfefy and effectiveness. However,
as with most classes of antibiotics, a high incideof resistance among many bacteria has limiteid ¢ffectiveness and resulted in
tetracyclines being relegated to second- or thive-|
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therapy several decades after their introductidrenaists have generally been unable to synthesizgateacyclines that could overcome
bacterial resistance mechanisms. We have usedoprigtary chemistry technology to create more tB890 new tetracycline derivatives that
we believe could not be practically created withwentional methods. Many of these new derivatiireduding eravacycline, have been abli
overcome bacterial resistanceirinvitro studies.

Eravacycline is a novel, fully synthetic tetracpeliantibiotic. We selected eravacycline for develept from tetracycline derivatives that
we generated using our proprietary chemistry teldgyoon the basis of the following characteristi€she compound that we observedrin
vitro studies of the compound:

e potent antibacterial activity against a bropdarum of susceptible and multidrug-resistantdagat including Gram-negative,
Gran-positive, atypical and anaerobic bacte

» potential to treat the majority of patients asral-line empiric monotherapy with convenient dosingi

» potential for I\-to-oral transition therapy

In designing eravacycline, we inserted a fluorit@mrainto the tetracycline scaffold, which we caflworocycline, and modified the
scaffold at another position. We believe that theselifications enable eravacycline to not be sulijetetracycline-specific mechanisms of
drug resistance. As a result, we believe that esamlime is active against multidrug-resistant baata ways that tetracyclines currently on the
market or in development are not.

In in vitro studies, including a surveillance study publisire®ecember 2014 using over 4,000 patient bactsodtes collected in New
York City, eravacycline has been highly active agaemerging multidrug-resistant pathogens Ak@aetobacter baumanndis well as
clinically important species dnterobacteriaceagincluding those isolates that produce ESBLS errasistant to the carbapenem class of
antibiotics, and anaerobes, in comparison to confyngsed antibiotics.

Based onin vitro studies we have completed, we believe that eraliaeyshares a similar potency profile with carbapae except that it
more broadly covers Gram-positive pathogens likeMRindenterococcijs active against carbapenem-resistant Gram-neghéeteria and,
unlike carbapenems like Primaxin and Merrem, heaceed activity againd®®seudomanas aeruginos&ravacycline has demonstrated strong
activity in vitro against Gram-positive pathogens, including botlooomial and community-acquired methicillin susdelgtior resistant
Staphylococcus aurewss$rains, vancomycin susceptible or resistamierococcus faeciuendEnterococcus faecalignd penicillin- susceptible
or resistant strains @treptococcus pneumonidae.in vitro studies of pathogens most prevalent in clAl infatsi, eravacycline consistently
exhibited strong activity againshterococcandstreptococciOne of the most frequently isolated anaerobic mghe in clAl, either as the sole
pathogen or often in conjunction with another Graagative bacterium, Bacteroides fragilisin these studies eravacycline demonstrated
activity againsBacteroides fragili@nd a wide range of Gram-positive and Gram-negainaerobes.

Key Differentiating Attributes of Eravacycline

We believe that the following key attributes ofvaeycline, observed in clinical trials and predalistudies, differentiate eravacycline
from other antibiotics targeting multidrug-residtarfections, including multidrug-resistant Gramgagéve infections. We believe these
attributes will make eravacycline a safe and effedreatment for clAl, cUTI and other serious difetthreatening infections for which we
may develop eravacycline, such as hospital-acqiiaeterial pneumonias.

» Broad-spectrum activity against a wide variety of multidrug-resistant Gram-negative,Gram-positive and anaerobic bacteria.
In our Phase 2 clinical trial of the IV formulatiof eravacycline, eravacycline demonstrated a bigk rate against a wide variety
of multidruc-resistan
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Gram-negative, Gram-positive and anaerobic bacteriaddition, inin vitro studies, eravacycline demonstrated potent antibatte
activity against Gram-negative bacteria, includinhgoli; ESBL-producinglebsiella pneumoniagAcinetobacter baumannii
Gram-positive bacteria, including MRSA and vancomyresistanenterococcus or VRE; and anaerobic pathogens. As a result of
this broad-spectrum coverage, we believe that eyaliae has the potential to be used as a firgt-¢impiric monotherapy for the
treatment of clAl, cUTI, hospit-acquired bacterial pneumonias and other seriousifa-threatening infection:

« Lower probability of drug resistance. To date, in the clinical trials and preclinicaldies of eravacycline that we have conducted
we have seen little decrease in susceptibility Waaild suggest increased resistance to eravacyieebelieve that, as a
fluorocycline, eravacycline will not be subjecttétracyclin-specific mechanisms of drug resistar

» Favorable safety and tolerability profile. Eravacycline has been evaluated in more than 86@cts in the Phase 1, Phase 2 and
Phase 3 clinical trials that we have conductedhése trials, eravacycline has demonstrated adblesafety and tolerability
profile. In our Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical tridileravacycline in patients with clAl, no patiestdfered any drug-related serious
adverse events, and safety and tolerability wenepamable to ertapenem, the control therapy inriaést In addition, in these
Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials, the rate athwgastrointestinal adverse events such as naunskamesis that occurred in the
eravacycline arms was lo

« Convenient dosing regimenlin our clinical trials to date, we have dosed ecseline once or twice a day as a monotherapy. We
believe that eravacycline will be able to be adsteried as a first-line empiric monotherapy withesnar twice-daily dosing,
avoiding the need for complicated dosing regimgpial of multi-drug cocktails and the increaseskmf negative drug-drug
interactions inherent to mt-drug cocktails

» Potential for convenient IV-to-oral transition therapy. In addition to the 1V formulation of eravacyclinge have developed an
oral formulation of eravacycline that we are evéih@gin IGNITE 2. If successful, this oral formuilan would enable patients who
begin IV treatment with eravacycline in the hodpsitting to transition to oral dosing of eravaayeleither in hospital or upon
patient discharge for convenient home-based caesb#lieve that the availability of both IV and ot@nsition therapy may reduce
the length of a patie’s hospital stay and the overall cost of ¢

Clinical Experience

We have studied IV and oral formulations of erawdiog in 818 subjects in sixteen clinical trialsxdoicted from October 2009 to
December 2014, which includes those subjects tlaatthe lead-in portion of our ongoing Phase Bicél trial of eravacycline for cUTI.

Phase 3 Clinical Program

We designed our Phase 3 program for eravacyclieaable us to position eravacycline as a first-imgiric monotherapy for the
treatment of clAl and cUTI due to eravacycline’sda-spectrum coverage of multidrug-resistant imdest, including multidrug-resistant
Gram-negative infections. Our program is consistétit the guidance issued by the FDA for drug depeient for clAl and cUTI. The clAl
guidance indicates that, for companies developidgug for clAl and an additional indication caudsdsimilar bacterial pathogens, such as
cUTI, a single trial in clAl and a single trial that additional indication could be sufficient tapide evidence of effectiveness in both
indications. We believe that prior to the issuaotthis guidance, a company that was developingug tbr clAl and an additional indication
would have been required to conduct two PhasenRalitrials of the drug for the treatment of cl&hrolling 500 to 600 patients in each trial,
and additional Phase 3 clinical trials of the dfaugthe treatment of the additional indication, ewehere clAl and the additional indication w
caused by similar bacterial pathogens. We belieatthe opportunity provided by the guidance tansiilan NDA package for two indications
on the basis of only two Phase 3 clinical trialkegathe process of developing and seeking appuof\wdruigs for clAl and a second indication
more cost-effective. The trials can be conductatdesame time, and because the patient populaiendifferent for the two trials, patient
enrollment can be faster.
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Phase 3 clAl Clinical Trial

Eravacycline Phase 3 IGNITE 1 Study Design
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In the third quarter of 2013, we initiated a glgballti-center, randomized, double-blind, doublevshoy Phase 3 clinical trial, our
IGNITE 1 trial, to assess the efficacy, safety phdrmacokinetics of eravacycline compared to ernegein patients with clAl. We enrolled
541 patients in the trial at 66 clinical sites vdovide. These patients were randomized into two anma 1:1 basis. Patients in the eravacycline
arm received 1.0 mg/kg IV eravacycline administeaveide per day. Patients in the ertapenem armvedei.0 g IV ertapenem administered
once per day.

Investigators obtained baseline intra-abdominalce$ at the time of operation and treated patifemta minimum of four days and a
maximum of 14 days following the time of operatamd until symptoms of clAl were resolved. A TOCiwisok place 25 to 31 days after the
initial dose of treatment and a final or follow-usit occurred 38 to 50 days after the initial doéreatment.

We designed the trial as a non-inferiority studyd & be responsive to both FDA and EMA guidanaedés FDA guidance, the primary
endpoint of the trial was clinical response atTiC visit in the microbiological intent-to-treat; micro-ITT, population which consisted of all
randomized patients in the trial who had baselmadrial pathogens that cause clAl and againstiwéiavacycline has antibacterial activity.
Under EMA guidance, the primary endpoint of thaltwas clinical response at the TOC visit in thedified intent-to-treat, or MITT,
population which consisted of all patients who reee at least one dose of study drug, and in timécallly evaluable, or CE, patient populati
which consisted of all randomized patients in tied tvho meet key inclusion/exclusion criteria dntlow other important components of the
trial. Secondary endpoints included clinical resgmat the end-of-treatment, TOC and follow-up sisitthe intent-to-treat population, the CE
population, the micro-ITT population and the midadbgically evaluable, or ME, population. The MEmdation consists of all micro-ITT
patients who meet key inclusion/exclusion critenia follow other important components of the trialthe trial, we also studied microbiologic
response at the end-of-treatment and TOC visitisérmicro-ITT and ME populations, the safety arldriability of eravacycline in the safety
population and pharmacokinetic parameters afteraesacline administration. We designed the triabéo
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consistent with the FDA's clAl guidance, in whidietFDA suggested that the primary efficacy endpimina trial of clAl should be complete
resolution of baseline signs and symptoms attrltiateo clAl in the micro-ITT patient population 28ys after randomization and the absence
of clinical failure including death and unplannedigical procedures through the period ending 2& dejowing randomization.

In December 2014, we announced top-line data fiI@MITE 1. In the trial, eravacycline met the primaiydpoint of statistical non-
inferiority of clinical response at the TOC visiyder the guidance set by the FDA and the EMA. @iimaary analysis under the FDA guidance
was conducted using a 10% non-inferiority margithim micro-ITT population. In the micro-ITT popuitat, the lower and upper bounds of the
95% confidence interval were -7.1% and 5.5%, retbgelg. Under the EMA guidance, the primary anadysias conducted using a 12.5% non-
inferiority margin in the CE and MITT patient poptibns. In the CE population, the lower and uppeamuls of the 95% confidence interval
were -6.3% and 2.8%, respectively, and the lowdrupper bounds of the 99% confidence interval wér@% and 4.4%, respectively. In the
MITT population, the lower and upper bounds of 9#&6 confidence interval were -7.4% and 3.8%, rethpedyg, and the lower and upper
bounds of the 99% confidence interval were -9.2%%6%, respectively. The secondary analyses wersistent with and supportive of the
primary outcome. There were no drug-related serdmlv@rse events in the trial. The most commonlgntep drug-related adverse events for
eravacycline were gastrointestinal, including nau8e3%) and emesis (2.2%). This adverse evenilg@fof eravacycline was consistent with
that seen in the Phase 2 clinical trial of eravliegdn clAl. The spectrum of pathogens in thistivas similar to that seen in other pivotal tr
of antibiotics in this patient population. The mostmmon Gram-negative pathogens in the trial inetliEscherichia coli, Klebsiella
pneumonia, PseudomonandBacteroides.

Phase 3 cUTI Clinical Trial

Eravacycline Phase 3 IGNITE 2 Study Design
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In the first quarter of 2014, we initiated a twarpanulti-center, randomized, double-blind Phasdirical trial, our IGNITE 2 trial, to
assess the efficacy and safety of eravacycline aosapwith levofloxacin in the treatment of cUTI. Werolled 143 patients in the lead-in
portion of the trial. These patients were randonhimé¢o three arms on a 1:1:1 basis: an arm in whatients received 1.5 mg/kg IV
eravacycline every 24 hours followed by 200 mgrafacycline orally every 12 hours; an arm in whetiients received 1.5 mg/kg IV
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eravacycline every 24 hours followed by 250 mgraf/acycline orally every 12 hours; and an arm inciipatients received 750 mg IV
levofloxacin every 24 hours followed by 750 mg efdfloxacin orally every 24 hours.

After treatment was completed in the lead-in portd the trial, we evaluated efficacy, safety amlérability endpoints to determine the
dose regimen for eravacycline to be studied irpilietal portion of the trial. In the lead-in poni@f IGNITE 2 both IV-toeral dosing regimer
of eravacycline compared favorably to levofloxadihe responder outcome, the primary endpoint feilRDA, is determined as the number of
micro-ITT patients at the PT visit with both clinicesponse and microbiological response. Climesponse is measured by a complete or
significant improvement in signs or symptoms androbiological response is demonstrated if the l@sgathogen is cleared or reduced
below a specified level in a urine sample. The oesler rates in the micro-ITT population for thetidétoral 200 mg, 1V-to-oral 250 mg and
levofloxacin groups were 70.8% (n=24), 64.3% (n=a8) 52.2% (n=23), respectively. The microbiolobieaponse rates in the micro-ITT
population were 75.0% (n=24), 64.3% (n=28) and B6(6=23), respectively. The pharmacokinetics ohbmil doses of eravacycline were
comparable to the IV formulation in the trial. Ozkrtreatment was generally well tolerated intlaiee groups with the most common adverse
events reported being nausea and emesis. Onlyatiengs discontinued treatment as a result of delajed adverse events. In October 2014,
we selected the 1.5 mg/kg IV followed by 200 md di@se as the IV-to-oral transition therapy to kaleated in the pivotal portion of the trial
and initiated patient enroliment.

We are currently enrolling in the pivotal portiohtbe trial approximately 720 patients who will kxdomized on a 1:1 basis to receive
1.5 mg/kg IV eravacycline every 24 hours followsd200 mg of eravacycline orally every 12 hours 50 g IV levofloxacin every 24 hours
followed by 750 mg of levofloxacin orally every Béurs. We have designed the pivotal portion ofttia¢ as a non-inferiority study and to be
responsive to both FDA and EMA guidance. Under Kiddance, the primary endpoint of the pivotal portof the trial is clinical and
microbiological response in the micro-ITT populatit the PT visit. Under EMA guidance, the primanglpoint of the pivotal portion of the
trial is microbiological response in the micro-MIBhd ME populations. The micro-MITT population csts of any patient who received
study drug who had baseline bacterial pathogensthese cUTI and against which eravacycline habacterial activity. The ME population
consists of all micro-ITT patients who meet keyliston/exclusion criteria and follow other import@omponents of the trial. In order to
achieve the primary endpoint, eravacycline woulddi® demonstrate non-inferiority as compared\oflexacin within a margin of no more
than 10%. A key secondary endpoint in IGNITE 2isest for superiority of eravacycline over levaficin in the treatment of cUTI for those
subjects with infections caused by quinolone-rasispathogens by evaluation of clinical and micofd@ical response in the micro-ITT
population at the PT visit.

Regulatory Filing Timeline

We expect to have top-line data from the PhaseT clihical trial in mid-2015. If we successfullypmplete the trial when we anticipate,
and it is successful, we expect to submit an ND&heFDA by the end of 2015 and an MAA to the EM#he first half of 2016. Our goal is
develop eravacycline to be the drug of choice ifst-fine empiric treatment of a wide variety ofiseis and life-threatening infections.

Phase 2 clinical trial of IV formulation in clAl

In June 2012, we completed a global, multi-cemardomized, double-blind Phase 2 clinical triagt@luate the efficacy, safety and
pharmacokinetics of the IV formulation of eravadyelcompared to ertapenem in patients with clAl. &&kected clAl as the indication for the
trial because we wanted to ensure that there waeild significant population of patients in the gtudth multidrug-resistant Gram-negative
bacteria and because Gram-negative bacteria aralent in clAl. We selected ertapenem as the coispatherapy because ertapenem is one
of the antibiotics recommended by IDSA guidelinesthe treatment of clAl. We also established chhisites in countries such as India, wher
multidrug-resistant Gram-negative pathogens haghdriprevalence.
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Trial Design. We enrolled 143 hospitalized patients with clAlle trial. These patients were randomized inteetlarms on a 2:2:1 ba:
an arm in which patients received 1.5 mg/kg IV amxline administered once per day; an arm in whatients received 1.0 mg/kg IV
eravacycline administered twice per day; and arobatm in which patients received 1.0 g IV ertageradministered once per day, which is
the standard dosing regimen for ertapenem.

Investigators obtained baseline intra-abdominalces$ at the time of operation and treated patifemta minimum of four days and a
maximum of 14 days. The length of treatment foiheaatient was determined by the physician basquterset parameters. A TOC visit took
place ten to 14 days after the last dose of drugyadaninistered and a final or follow-up visit oaaat within four to six weeks after the last
dose of drug was administered.

Patient Disposition Of the 143 patients in the trial, four did note&/e drug. Two were excluded because of incorsetdomization, one
withdrew consent for inclusion in the trial aftendomization, and one was excluded for having vecenon-study antibiotics prior to the first
dose. At least one pathogen or bacterium resp@nfiblthe clAl was identified following enrollmeint 119 of the 139 patients who received
drug in the trial. We refer to this subset of patiseas the microbiologically-modified intent-todteor micro-MITT, patients. Of the 119 micro-
MITT patients, 109 were deemed clinically evaluaidsed on key inclusion and exclusion criteria §eialidated and key visits and
assessments having been performed. We refer teubet of the micro-MITT patients as the micrabgitally evaluable, or ME, patients. The
10 microMITT patients that were not considered clinicalsakiable were not classified as ME patients asaltref their withdrawing conser
failing to complete the trial, failing to attendr®C visit or having indeterminate results at theCl'@sit. The primary endpoint of the trial was
clinical response at the TOC visit in the ME patiserClinical response was defined as complete uésal or significant improvement of signs
or symptoms of infection with no further systemitibiotic treatment required. Clinical response w&k® included as one of the secondary
endpoints in the trial at the follow-up visit inetlmicro-MITT population.

Patient DemographicsPatient demographics were similar across alkttnial arms except for APACHE scores as, at basethe
patients in the 1.5 mg/kg dose group exhibitechslyghigher APACHE scores than the other treatngeatips. APACHE scores are a
commonly used severity of disease scoring systemrava higher number means that the patient had sewere disease and higher risk of
death. In the majority of the MITT patient poputatj complicated appendicitis was the diagnosedadesenderlying the infections, which were
being treated with the antibiotics in the trialh®t diseases including perforation of intestinenplicated diverticulitis, gastric/duodenal
perforation and complicated cholecystitis, comptidee other diagnoses.

Efficacy. In the trial, ME patients in the eravacycline arexperienced similar infection cure rates to the patients in the ertapenem

arm, as summarized in the table below. The talsie sthows the 95% confidence interval, a statistletdrmination that demonstrates the rang
of possible differences in the point estimatesugicess that will arise 95% of the time the endpsimbeasured.

Eravacycline Phase 2 Trial Primary Endpoint Analyss

Eravacycline Eravacycline Ertapenem
(1.5 mg/kg every (1.0 mg/kg every (1.0 g Every
Population 24 hours) 12 hours) 24 hours)
Microbiologically Evaluable (ME) N=42 N=41 N=2€
% Cure in ME (95% Confidence Intervi 92.9 (80.-98.5 100 (91.-100 92.3 (74.-99.1

Investigators in the trial had the discretion ttetimine the period that patients remained on tipliGgble treatment. The mean duratiol
treatment in the trial was 6.1 days for the pasieateiving 1.5 mg/kg IV eravacycline administeoade per day; 5.6 days for the patients
receiving 1.0 mg/kg IV eravacycline administereicewper day; and 6.0 days for the patients recgiti@ g IV ertapenem administered once
per day.
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The figure below shows the overall pathogen mixidied in the Phase 2 clAl clinical trial. Of tlpathogens isolated from the micro-
MITT patients enrolled in the Phase 2 clinicalliregproximately 60% were members of &rterobacteriaceaéamily. Micro-MITT patients
in the trial were infected with an average of la8hpgens. The Gram-negative aerobic pathogensraagunost frequently werEscherichia
coli, Klebsiella pneumonia, Klebsiella oxytoca, Bdemonas aeruginosa, Acinetobacter baumannii coxgidMorganella morganiiThe
Gram-positive aerobic pathogens occurring mostueetly wereStreptococcus spp., Enterococcus faealidStaphylococcus aureushe
anaerobic pathogens occurring most frequently \Baeroides fragili@mndClostridium spp.
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Of particular importance in the trial results whe performance of eravacycline against confirmegdesistant Gramegative pathoge
as well as other challenging Gram-negative pathegene to the global, multi-center nature of thi& sind our emphasis on sites in known
geographic “hot spots” for multidrug-resistant Graggative bacteria, 25% of the Gram-negative pahsgdentified in micro-MITT patients
were confirmed to be multidrug-resistant as a tesfubeing ESBL-positive and/or carbapenem-reststlime figure below shows that the
patients cured with eravacycline in the Phase 2 cliftical trial had 23 confirmed multidrug-resiatsGram-negative pathogens.
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Safety and TolerabilityIn the Phase 2 clinical trial, eravacycline destmated a comparable safety and tolerability pedfil ertapenem.
No patients in the trial suffered any serious ase@vents that were found to be related to eraliaey@nd the percentage of patients in
trial arms that experienced treatment emergentradwavents, or TEAES, were similar. In additiorstgzintestinal adverse events known to be
associated with tetracyclines such as nausea aadignoccurred at low rates in the eravacyclinesatat were similar to the rates for the
ertapenem arm. Adverse events associated withiamfisites were limited and similar in all treatmgnbups.

PharmacokineticsPatients in the Phase 2 clinical trial were sulgi@td pharmacokinetic sampling during the periottedtment to
enable us to assess plasma exposure levels oftcgchive in the trial. The mean area under the quov@UC, was 4,349.9 ng*th/mL (50% CV)
for the 1.5 mg/kg dose of eravacycline administeregty 24 hours (n=48) and 3,240.7 ng*h/mL (53.5%) @r the 1.0 mg/kg dose of
eravacycline administered every 12 hours (n=51% Thax, Which refers to the maximum observed peak plasonaentration, was
1,445.6 ng/mL (80.8% CV) for the 1.5 mg/kg doseafvacycline administered every 24 hours and 95g@/@L (79.8% CV) for the 1.0 mg/kg
dose of eravacycline administered every 12 hours.

Efficacy for tetracycline-class molecules is drivianthe ratio of AUC to MIC. MIC refers to minimuimhibitory concentration, which is
the minimum concentration of an antibiotic needeihhibit the growth of an organism. In the Phasdirical trial, we measured AUC for the
12 hours following dosing. As a result, in ordeutalerstand the AUC of the dose groups we studi¢lde trial over the 24 hours following
dosing, we relied on modeling to predict the AUGdvacycline in differing dose sizes and schedoves the 24 hours following dosing. We
believe that these estimated AUCs for eravacy@ieesupportive of eravacycline’s potential to tmeadtidrug-resistant Gram-negative and
other bacteria.

Phase 1 clinical trials of IV formulation

We studied the IV formulation of eravacycline iveml Phase 1 clinical trials in a total of 140 Iieavolunteers and at doses ranging
from 0.1 mg/kg to 3.0 mg/kg. No serious adversentsevere reported during the Phase 1 clinicalsti@ald no clinically significant dose-related
safety signals were reported. As expected in thisscof antibiotics, transient gastrointestinaleade events such as nausea and emesis were
observed at the higher dose levels in the Phatirigat trials. Additionally, pharmacokinetic dad@monstrates that eravacycline achieves hig
concentration levels in the blood and urine.

Phase 1 clinical trials of oral formulation

In order to assess the potential for eravacychingetdeveloped as an orally administered drug,omelected a Phase 1 single ascending
dose clinical trial in 2010, a Phase 1 multipleeasting dose clinical trial in 2011 and a secondsBHamultiple ascending dose clinical trial in
2013. In each of these trials, we evaluated thepoomd for safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetlosthese trials the oral formulation of
eravacycline achieved drug levels equivalent te¢hia the patients that received IV infusions &fhg/kg of eravacycline once per day in our
Phase 2 clAl clinical trial. As part of the Phaselifical trials, we evaluated the impact of foawidasting on the absorption of orally
administered eravacycline and observed a signifiteotd effect. As a result, we focused our develeptrefforts on patients in a fasted state.

Across the Phase 1 studies of the oral formulatleenmost common adverse events reported were aamseemesis. Doses up to 300
once daily were well tolerated with all adversergsamild to moderate in intensity. A single dailysé of 400 mg was not tolerated due to
gastrointestinal-related adverse events.

In the second Phase 1 multiple ascending dosealitrial, oral doses of 200 mg and 250 mg provittgde-daily were well tolerated.
The Day 7 mean AUC was 4520 ng*h/mL (43% CV) far #00 mg twice-daily dose of eravacycline and 62§th/mL (17% CV) for the 250
mg twice-daily dose of eravacycline. Thenfxwas 261 ng/mL (47% CV) for the 200 mg twice-daitysd of eravacycline and 398 ng/mL (14%
CV) for the 250 mg twice-daily dose of eravacycline
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We carried out extensive modeling of the IV and prearmacokinetic data from our clinical trialsevhvacycline in order to establish an
oral transition therapy dose following IV admingion. Based on our modeling results of eravacgchve believe that a twice-daily dose of
either 200 mg or 250 mg of oral eravacycline wilhizve plasma exposure levels equivalent to thesating from daily administration of the
IV formulation of eravacycline at 1.5 mg/kg andtthawice per day oral dosage form of eravacyatisue be developed to permit oral transition
therapy treatment of serious infections. As thegeetdaily oral doses of 200 mg and 250 mg were safenaaiitolerated in the second Phas
MAD clinical trial, we evaluated these doses in lémd-in portion of the Phase 3 clinical trial oheacycline with 1V-to-oral transition therapy
for the treatment of cUTI.

Preclinical Studies

In preclinical studies, we have evaluateditheitro activity of eravacycline against a broad rangeadftérial pathogens including Gram-
negative, Gram-positive, atypical and anaerobib@gens. In these studies, we also compared thaqoté eravacycline to the potency of
other antibiotic compounds against the same pati®ode many cases, the isolates measured weré¢argsis one or more of the antibiotic
compounds against which eravacycline was compaémezhch case, we measured potency by determinengahcentration of drug required to
inhibit the growth of 90% of a panel of bacteriabis isolated from patients. We refer to this sugament as a Ml@gmeasurement. A lower
MIC goindicates greater potency against a particulardoachin vitro . Historically, with tetracyclines, Ml@ovalues of up to 2 pug/mL have
indicated that Gram-positive bacteria were susb&pto tetracyclines and for most Gram-negativedyac up to 4 pg/mL. Traditionally,
bacteria considered resistant to an antibiotic MM govalues for Gram-positive bacteria of 8 pg/mL andGoam-negative bacteria of 16
pg/mL and higher.
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In Vitro Activity Against Gram-negative Bacteria

The figure below summarizes thevitro activity of eravacycline and various antibioticsrooonly used in hospitals today for the
treatment of Gram-negative bacteria in panelsitiiided 1,059 Gram-negative isolates. In eachlp&wtates of a single species of bacteria
were separately treated with each of the antitdatiche study. The number specified in the taklew for each species of bacteria indicates
the number of isolates of that species that wasleidled in the studies. The bacteria selected faluation were chosen because they are
commonly found in serious hospital infections.
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As shown in the figure, eravacycline demonstrataem, broad-spectrum Gram-negative antibacteciiity. In the majority of

instances, the MI@oof eravacycline was equivalent to or lower thanNHE govalues of the other antibiotics studied for eacttddum. Key
observations from these vitro studies include:

» Eravacycline had MlG@ovalues of under 2 pg/mL against clinical isolate& ocloacae, A. baumannii , K. pneumonjaacluding
ESBL-producing and carbapen-resistant isolate:C. freundii, S. maltophilia, M. morganii, P. vulgsrP. stuartii,andK. oxytoca.

» Eravacycline was twice as potent as the nexdtmctive comparator, tigecycline, agaiAsbaumanniin a panel that was 44%
resistant to carbapenems, 53% resistant to tetinegcand 64% resistant to fluoroquinolor

» Eravacycline was four times more potent than tigkog against ESB-producingK. pneumoniaisolates.
*  83%, 29%, and 43% of the isolates were fully rasisto fluoroquinolones, carbapenems and gentaymiespectively

» Isolates oProteus mirabilis, one of theproteeaespecies included in the figure above, were two simere susceptible to
eravacycline (MICgoof 4 ug/mL) than to tigecycline

» P. aeruginosdsolates were largely not susceptible to eravangdMIC go0f 16 pg/mL) or tigecycline (MIGoin excess of 16
pg/mL).
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The figure below further demonstrates the potetiviac of eravacycline against Gram-negative baeatencluding multidrug-resistant
Gram-negative pathogens, in comparison to commaosdyl antibiotic treatments. This surveillance stwdg conducted using over 4,000

patient bacterial isolates collected in New YorkyGiom November 2013 through January 2014, andpuliished in the Antimicrobial
Agents and Chemotherapy Journal in December 2014.
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In Vitro Activity Against Gram-positive Bacteria

The figure below summarizes thevitro activity of eravacycline and various antibioticsrooonly used in hospitals today for the

treatment of Gram-positive bacteria in panels itheluded 762 Granpositive isolates. The bacteria selected for ev@navere chosen becat
they are commonly found in serious hospital infats
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Eravacycline demonstrated excell@nvitro potency against methicillin-susceptible and restsfaphylococcus aureasd
Staphylococcus epidermidizancomycin-susceptible and resistBnterococcus faeciuendEnterococcus faecalispenicillin-susceptible and
-resistantStreptococcus pneumoniaStreptococcus anginosus, Streptococcus interme8tteptococcus mitis, Streptococcus sanguis,
Streptococcus pyogenes)dStreptococcus agalactiahe MIC govalues for eravacycline against all of gteeptococcandenterococcin the

panels were less than 0.12 pg/mL. B@phylococcj including MRSA confirmed to contain Panton-Valaetleukocidin virulence factor, the
MIC govalues were less than 0.5 pg/mL in 180 MRSA isgl&tsted.
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In Vitro Activity Against Anaerobic Bacteria

The figure below summarizes thevitro activity of eravacycline and various antibioticsrooonly used in hospitals today for the

treatment of anaerobic bacteria in panels thatidexdl 190 anaerobic isolates. The bacteria selémtexvaluation were chosen because they ar
commonly found in serious hospital infections.

LN

Key observations from thege vitro studies include that eravacycline:

* had a MIGyagainstB. fragilis, the most prevalent anaerobe in human infectioih$,ug/mL, which was four times lower than
tigecycline;

» had excellent activity against a wide range of C-positive and Grar-negative anaerobes; a

» provided broader coverage than the other antilsidéisted in the pane

In addition, in the studies, many of the isolatesif theBacteroides PrevotellaandClostridium perfringenspecies were vancomycin-

resistant, and many of the isolates of Rleptostreptococcuspp. andC. perfringenspecies were metronidazole-resistant. Eravacysliosved
strong activity against these isolates.

Other Indications

Subject to obtaining additional financing, we irdeéo pursue development of eravacycline for thattnent of additional indications,

including hospital-acquired bacterial pneumoniag atiher serious and lifdreatening infections following our developmeneeo@vacycline fo
the treatment of clAl and cUTI.

The Company has received funding for its lead pcodandidate, eravacycline, under an award from BARIn January 2012, BARDA
awarded to CUBRC a five-year contract that proviéstal of up to $67 million in funding for thexaddopment, manufacturing and clinical
evaluation of eravacycline as a potential empioiartermeasure for respiratory diseases causedhby®at and antibiotic-resistant public
health pathogens, includirigancisella tularensis which causes tularemigersinia pestis which causes plague, aBdcillus anthracis

which causes anthrax disease, as well as bagpatiabgens associated with moderate-to-severe coityvagguired bacterial pneumonia and
other serious hospital infections. The funding urtte
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BARDA Contract is also being used for certain &dtigg in the development of eravacycline to treatain infections caused by life-threatening
multidrug-resistant bacteria. Under this program,have conducted a numberimitro , toxicology and animal studies to evaluate thecaély

of eravacycline against biothreat pathogens. Egglie has performed as well as, or better thamdsard-of-care comparators in studies in
murine respiratory infection models challenged vpitiblic health pathogens. In addition we have atsapleted a Phase 1 clinical trial
assessing the bronchial pulmonary disposition tgafied tolerability of eravacycline, the first géal assessment of its potential use for treatin
pneumonia. In connection with the BARDA ContrantFebruary 2012, we entered into with CUBRC a freer cost-plus-fixed-fee
subcontract under which we may receive fundingpofaapproximately $39.8 million, reflecting therpon of the BARDA funding that may

be paid to us for our activities.

Although the BARDA Contract, and our subcontradiv@UBRC under the BARDA Contract, have five-yeamts, BARDA is entitled
to terminate the project for convenience at anytiend is not obligated to provide continued fugdiryond current-year amounts from
Congressionally approved annual appropriationgh€aextent that BARDA ceases to provide fundinghefprogram to CUBRC, CUBRC has
the right to cease providing funding to us. Comaittunding from CUBRC under our BARDA subcontrac$81.0 million from the initial
contract date through September 9, 2016, of whigh4pmillion had been received through Decembef814. If BARDA continues to supp
the program under the contract for the full fiveayterm, we believe BARDA funding for this prograwill be sufficient to provide the funds to
advance eravacycline through enabling studiesrfdd@A, and to potentially support the developmergmvacycline for other indications.

Technology Platform

We believe that our proprietary chemistry techngldigensed from Harvard on an exclusive worldwidsis and enhanced at our
company, represents a significant innovation incteation of tetracycline drugs and has the patétdireinvigorate the clinical and market
potential of the class.

The tetracycline class of antibiotics has been gsedessfully for more than 50 years. Unlike otnatgycline compounds, all tetracyclit
on the market and under development of which weasare are produced semi-synthetically, first intbaa and then modified in a limited
number of ways by available chemistry. These cotiweal methods have only been able to producedgtime antibiotics with limited
chemical diversity, making it difficult for convaahal technology to create tetracycline antibiotitat address a wide variety of multidrug-
resistant bacteria. In part, because of the chgdlein creating novel tetracycline molecules, amig tetracycline antibiotic has been develope
and approved by the FDA for sale in the UnitedeXtén the past 30 years.

By contrast, our proprietary technology makes ggible to create novel tetracycline antibioticsxgsk practical, fully synthetic process
for what we believe is the first time. This fullyrghetic process avoids the limitations of bactbriderived tetracyclines and allows us to
chemically modify many positions in the tetracyeliscaffold, including most of the positions thatlvedieve could not practically be modified
by any previous method. Using our proprietary ctetmitechnology, we can create a wider varietyetfcycline-based compounds than was
previously possible, enabling us to pursue nowehtgcline derivatives for the treatment of multigfresistant bacteria that are resistant to
existing tetracyclines and other classes of artibfroducts.
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The diagram below illustrates the tetracycline cwaffold. Scaffold positions marked with dots haeen modified to date using
conventional chemistry to create either tetracyctinugs that have been marketed or drug candidatekich we are aware that are currentl
development. Our fully synthetic process also aflédar modification of the positions marked with sldbut with greater opportunity for
substitution than is possible using conventionaneistry. The scaffold positions marked with starghe diagram below indicate useful
positions that we have modified through our fulythetic process that could not practically be rfiediby conventional chemistry.
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While the four positions on the bottom of the solaffin the diagram above that are not marked witis dr stars can also be modified
using our proprietary chemistry technology, thessitpns are involved in the binding of tetracyelno the bacterial ribosome and,

consequently, changes to these positions greatlyceeantibacterial activity of compounds. As a liesue are not pursuing compounds based
on modifications of these positions.

We believe that our approach to tetracycline dreigetbpment provides us with strong intellectualpemty protection. We hold or have
licensed rights under patents and patent applitsitioat protect both our synthetic processes feeldping tetracyclines and the compositions
of matter of the individual compounds themselvdsese include patents and patent applications dileciwvards the composition of matter for
key intermediates like the enone used in the sgighe eravacycline and our other product cand&gdt@less a new synthetic method is
created, we believe that, for the life of our itgetual property, our proprietary chemistry teclogyl will be the only practical way of modifyi
the positions on the tetracycline core scaffold Have not been previously modified using convergichemistry.

Our proprietary chemistry technology has allowedoudevelop compounds that have been highly aatiue vitro studies against
tetracycline-resistant bacterial strains, includimgjtidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacteria, ard llave novel pharmacokinetic properties. Tc
date, we have used our proprietary chemistry teolggdo create more than 3,000 new tetracyclinéve@ves that we believe could not be

practically created with conventional methods. @scovery program is focused on identifying novainpounds that will be effective against
the toughest multidrug-resistant Gram-negativedract
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Drug Development Programs

The following table sets forth our clinical and learstage antibiotic compounds that we are develpfor the treatment of serious and
life-threatening infections and their status.

Candidate Indication Status

Eravacycline clAl (1V) Top-line Phase 3 results report
cUTI (IV/oral) Phase 3 started first quarter of 2(
Pneumonia (IV' Phase 1 complete

TR-271 Bacterial biothreats IND submission planned in 20:

TP-6076 Multidrug-resistant Gram- IND-enabling studies ongoing

negative infection

TP-271

TP-271 is a fully synthetic broad-spectrum prechithicompound that we are developing for respiratlisgases caused by bacterial
biothreat pathogens under funding provided by NIANZe are collaborating with CUBRC on the TP-271gpaon funded by NIAID.

We created TP-271 using our proprietary chemisgtehnology. In doing so, we made modifications ®titracycline scaffold that were
designed to improve potency and effectiveness agaibroader spectrum of bacteria as comparedrazyeline and doxycycline, which are
currently used for the treatment of pneumonia ahdrarespiratory ailments.

In our development program for TP-271, we have aotetl a number ah vitro , toxicology and animal studies to evaluate thzatly
of TP-271 against biothreat pathogens. TP-271 bespned as well as, or better than, standard-of-camparators in studies in murine
respiratory infection models challenged with pullléalth pathogens. In susceptibility studies, TR-&8o demonstrated broad-spectrum
activity against NIAID Category A and B public hi#abacterial pathogens includifigancisella tularensis Yersinia pestis Burkholderia
mallei, Burkholderia pseudomalleiBacillus anthracis and NIAID Category C public health bacterial paglns (n vitro andin vivo) that are
associated with CABP, includir§treptococcus pneumoniaecluding multidrug-resistaqgneumococcj Staphylococcus auremethicillin-
susceptible and methicillin-resistartiaemophilus influenzagMoraxella catarrhalisandLegionella pneumophilaincluding strains that are
tetracycline-resistant. Given our progress on TP;2& expect to submit an investigational new dordND, application with the FDA for TP-
271 in 2015.

Funding for TP-271 is covered by two awards fronAM. The first award is a grant awarded to CUBRQity 2011 that provides up to
approximately $2.8 million in funding over five ysawhich we refer to as the NIAID Grant. The setaward is a contract awarded to
CUBRC in September 2011 that provides up to appresely $35.8 million in funding over five years.eNIAID Grant and the NIAID
Contract each support the development, manufagtana clinical evaluation of TP-271 for respiratdigeases caused by biothreat and
antibiotic-resistant public health pathogens, idiolg Francisella tularensis, Yersinia pestisdBacillus anthracis as well as bacterial
pathogens associated with community-acquired hiatifreumonia.

In connection with the NIAID Contract, in Octobdd12Z, we entered into a five-year cost-plus-fixee-$ebcontract with CUBRC under
which we may receive funding of up to approximat®\B.3 million, reflecting the portion of the NIAIDontract funding that may be paid tc
for our activities. In connection with the NIAID &mt, in November 2011, CUBRC awarded us a 55-mamtHee subaward of approximately
$980,000 reflecting the portion of the NIAID Grdanhding that may be paid to us for our activities.

Although the NIAID Contract and our subcontractwitUBRC under the NIAID Contract have five-yeantsr NIAID is entitled to
terminate the project for convenience at any tiamel is not obligated to provide continued fundiegdnd September 30, 2016. To the extent
NIAID ceases to provide funding of the progra
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to CUBRC, CUBRC has the right to cease providingdfag to us. Committed funding from CUBRC under subcontract with respect to the
NIAID Contract is $8.3 million, of which $7.1 mitih had been received through December 31, 201aHdition, although the NIAID Grai
has a term of five years and our subaward from COBRBs a term of 55 months, NIAID is entitled tariérate the project for convenience at
any time, and is not obligated to provide continfiettling beyond May 31, 2016. To the extent NIAIEases to provide funding of the
programs to CUBRC, CUBRC has the right to ceaseigireg funding to us. Committed funding from CUBR@der our subaward with resp
to the NIAID Grant is $0.8 million from the initigirant date through May 31, 2016, of which $0.7ianlhad been received through
December 31, 2014. If NIAID continues to suppos titogram for the full term, we believe NIAID fundj for our TP-271 program will
provide funding sufficient to advance TP-271 intwBe 1 clinical trials.

Second-generation Gram-negative Program

We are using our proprietary chemistry technolagpursue the discovery and development of tetrawgralerived compounds effective
against the most urgent multidrug-resistant Gragatiee bacterial health threats identified by tHeGZ in a September 2013 report. Pathogen
targeted include carbapenem-resistant variankdedfsiella pneumoniagAcinetobacter baumannischerichia colandPseudomonas
aeruginosa We have generated compounds that have demomsprattent activity against a broad range of theskidnug-resistant Gram-
negative pathogens. We have identified TP-6076laadapreclinical candidate from these compoundsteagan IND-enabling studies during
the fourth quarter of 2014.

Commercialization Strategy

Our commercialization strategy is to develop owdpict candidates into leading therapies that veilalzailable worldwide for the
treatment of serious multidrug-resistant infectione have retained worldwide commercial rightslt@Bour product candidates. We intend to
retain control over the commercial execution ofreatour product candidates in the United States.

We are currently developing our lead product caaiideravacycline, as a broad-spectrum IV andamidiotic for use as a first-line
empiric monotherapy for the treatment of serious life-threatening infections, including a wide iy of multidrug-resistant infections.
Assuming the successful completion of clinicallgriand receipt of regulatory approvals, we intemditectly commercialize eravacycline in
United States. We currently have limited markettagabilities and no sales or distribution capaegditWe intend to build a commercial
organization in the United States and recruit eigpeed marketing, sales and medical education gsafeals and to develop a commercial
strategy to target institutions with the greatesst af drugs for multidrug-resistant serious aneHiifreatening infections. We expect that our
sales force will focus on educating hospital argdifation-based physicians, nurses, pharmacy dire@nd payers about the benefits of
eravacycline for the product’s approved indications

If we complete the pivotal portion of IGNITE 2 where anticipate, and it is successful, we expesutumit an NDA to the FDA by the
end of 2015 and an MAA to the EMA in the first haff2016. Our current plan is to develop and conumaéize eravacycline outside the United
States with collaborators.

Manufacturing and Supply

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesthe production of any of our product candidates,do we have plans to develop
our own manufacturing operations in the foreseehltiege. All of our product candidates are orgazimpounds of low molecular weight,
commonly referred to as small molecules. They amaufactured in a fully synthetic process from raavailable starting materials. As a
result, we believe that our use of synthetic prese#l enable us to have a cost of manufacturingofor product candidates that is sufficiently
low to enable us to sell our product candidateemdind if approved, for a cost that is similar tteeo hospital-based antibiotics.
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We currently rely on a limited number of third-pacontract manufacturers for all of our required raaterials, drug substance and
finished product for our preclinical research atidical trials. We do not have long-term agreememith any of these third parties. We also do
not have any current contractual relationshipgsdermanufacture of commercial supplies of any efgroduct candidates after they are
approved. If any of our products are approved hyragulatory agency, we intend to enter into age@swith third-party contract
manufacturers for the commercial production of éhpsoducts. We currently employ internal resoutoamanage our manufacturing.

Intellectual Property

We strive to protect the proprietary technologyt tha believe is important to our business, inclgdieeking and maintaining patents
intended to cover our product candidates and coitipas, their methods of use and processes for thanufacture and any other inventions
that are commercially important to the developrmadrdur business. We also rely on trade secretsategt aspects of our business that are not
amenable to, or that we do not consider appropfiatgatent protection.

Our success will significantly depend on our apild obtain and maintain patent and other propmygbaotection for commercially
important technology and inventions and know-holatesl to our business, defend and enforce our atereserve the confidentiality of our
trade secrets and operate without infringing tHehand enforceable patents and proprietary rightbird parties. We also rely on know-how
and continuing technological innovation to devedop maintain our proprietary position.

As of March 2, 2015, we owned five U.S. patentstebn foreign patents, six pending U.S. patentiegiions and 55 pending foreign
patent applications in Europe and 17 other jurtsahis. In addition we have exclusively licensedhirblarvard University rights under eight
U.S. patents, 18 foreign patents, two pending pa$ent applications and 18 pending foreign patpplieations in Europe and ten other
jurisdictions. Certain of our patents and patemliaptions are directed to the composition of nradied/or use of eravacycline and applicati
are pending in the United States, Europe, Japamt#ued countries.

Tetraphase-Owned Intellectual Property RelatingEoavacycline and Other Compounds Under Development

We have patent applications directed to the contiposdf matter and/or use of eravacycline and oflwarocyclines, such as TP-271,
pending in the United States, Europe, Japan arat athuntries. Patents specific to the compositimi@a use of eravacycline have been gra
in the United States, Europe, Australia, China,o8ddia, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, Hong Kong, Taiaad Singapore. The granted pat
have an expiration date of August 7, 2029, andpatgnts that may issue from the pending applicatwifi also have an expiration date of
August 7, 2029, absent any term extensions or adgrgs that may be available. The term of one @Ut5S. patents has received 508 days of
patent term adjustment under the America Invents Ac

We have also filed patent applications directethéocomposition of matter and use of various dériea of tetracycline and pentacycline
(a tetracycline scaffold extended to five ringsjhie United States, Europe and other foreign c@sitAny patents that might issue from these
pending applications will have an expiration datesarlier than 2030, with some expiration datdlai@sas 2033.

Exclusively Licensed Intellectual Property Relatirig Our Proprietary Chemistry Technology

The patents and patent applications that we exa@lyslicense from Harvard provide patent protectionthe proprietary chemistry
technology used in our fully synthetic process ttkeeravacycline and other tetracycline derivatifé®g key intermediates that enable our
fully synthetic process are commonly referred temane intermediates. The licensed patents andtpgtelications are directed towards the
composition of matter of enone intermediates amdpmunds used to make the enone intermediatestadfer as key precursors, as well as
synthetic routes to those enone intermediatesppsers and our tetracycline derivatives under dguweknt.
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Composition of matter for the enone intermediates$ arecursors used in preparing the enone inteatesjias well as methods of mak
the precursors and enone intermediates are cobgrdee U.S. patents we license from Harvard, wiidhexpire no earlier than 2027, taking
into consideration patent term adjustment. Corredpm patent applications have been filed in fandigisdictions and any patents that have
issued and might issue from these applicationsrexgiwill expire no earlier than 2025.

Exclusively Licensed Intellectual Property Relatirig Pentacycline and Tetracycline Derivatives

Our license from Harvard also includes patent apfibns directed to the composition of matter asel of other novel tetracycline or
pentacycline derivatives. These applications arelipg in the United States, Europe and other c@sitAny patents that might issue from
these pending applications will have an expiratiate no earlier than 2027.

Trademark Applications Relating to the Company Naraed Logo

In December 2014 we filed four intent-to-use trademapplications at the United States Patent aad@mark Office relating to the
Company Name, the Company Logo and combinatiotisso€ompany Name and Logo.

The term of individual patents depends upon thellegrm for patents in the countries in which tlaeg obtained. In most countries,
including the United States, the patent term ig&drs from the earliest filing date of a nprevisional patent application. In the United S¢at
patent’s term may be lengthened by patent termstdgnt, which compensates a patentee for admitvgtrdelays by the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office in examining and granting a patenmay be shortened if a patent is terminallgldisned over an earlier filed patent. The
term of a patent that covers a drug, biologicablpa or medical device approved pursuant to a paeket approval, or PMA, may also be
eligible for patent term extension when FDA apptasa@ranted, provided statutory and regulatoryuresments are met. The length of the
patent term extension is related to the lengtlinoé the drug is under regulatory review while tla¢emt is in force. The Drug Price Competit
and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, or thehi&Vaxman Act, permits a patent term extensionpaoufive years beyond the expiration
date set for the patent. Patent extension cannehéxhe remaining term of a patent beyond a afta# years from the date of product
approval, only one patent applicable to each regulaeview period may be granted an extensionantg those claims reading on the
approved drug are extended. Similar provisionsasedlable in Europe and other foreign jurisdictiom®xtend the term of a patent that covers
an approved drug.

We rely, in some circumstances, on trade secrgisotect our unpatented technology. However, tsstgets can be difficult to protect.
We seek to protect our trade secrets and propyiezahnology and processes, in part, by confidétytiagreements with our employees,
consultants, scientific advisors and contractors.al¢o seek to preserve the integrity and confiditytof our data and trade secrets by
maintaining physical security of our premises ahygsical and electronic security of our informattechnology systems. While we have
confidence in these individuals, organizations sygtems, agreements or security measures may aehiece We may not have adequate
remedies for any breach and could lose our tradetsethrough such a breach. In addition, our tsmbeets may otherwise become known ¢
independently discovered by competitors. To themxthat our consultants, contractors or collaloosatise intellectual property owned by
others in their work for us, disputes may ariséoabe rights in related or resulting trade seciatsw-how and inventions.

License Agreement

On August 3, 2006, we entered into a license ageeémith The President and Fellows of Harvard Qmleunder which Harvard granted
us an exclusive worldwide license under specifiaavdrd patent rights to develop and commerciaématycline-based products such as
eravacycline. Under the license agreement, welalse
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the right to expand the patent rights subject ¢dlitense to include improvement patents that neagvned by Harvard in the future and that
meet specified criteria by paying to Harvard anitiaithl license issuance fee in an amount to beexjbetween Harvard and us. We also hav
a right of negotiation to expand the license tdude additional patents relating to tetracyclinerdlistry within a specified category that may
owned by Harvard in the future, including paterdgezing inventions made by Andrew Myers, Ph.D., stientific founder, under his
consulting agreement with us. Since entering intolicense agreement, we have entered into amernslteetihe license agreement pursuant to
which we expanded the patent rights subject tditkase in accordance with these rights. Undelitemse agreement, we are obligated to
satisfy diligence requirements, including using coencially reasonable efforts to develop and comiakze licensed compounds and to
implement a specified development plan, meetingifipd development milestones and providing an tgda progress on an annual basis.
Our license grant from Harvard is subject to acddeights retained by Harvard and United Statessgoment rights and obligations that are
customary in patent license agreements with unitiessn the United States.

In consideration for the rights granted to us byuyded under the license agreement, as of Decenilhed(3 4, we have paid Harvard an
aggregate of $3.8 million in upfront license fead development milestone payments, and issued 85f3res of our common stock to
Harvard. In addition, we have agreed to make paystenHarvard upon the achievement of specifiedreutievelopment and regulatory
milestones totaling up to $15.1 million for eaatelised product candidate ($3.1 million of which &lasady been paid with respect to
eravacycline), and to pay tiered royalties in tingle digits based on annual worldwide net safemy, of licensed products by us, our affilic
and sublicensees. We are also obligated to payar&er specified share of non-royalty sublicensexgnues that we receive from sublicensee
for the grant of sublicenses under the licensetamdimburse Harvard for specified patent prosecusind maintenance costs.

The license agreement expires on a licensed prdulitensed product and country-by-country bagisruthe expiration of the last-to-
expire patent covering the applicable product aapplicable country that is included in the licernidarvard may terminate the license
agreement based on our uncured material breactsoivency or bankruptcy. We have the right to teate the license agreement for any o
reason at any time on sixty (60) days prior writtetice to Harvard.

Government Contracts
Eravacycline

We received funding for eravacycline under an aviiamch BARDA. In January 2012, BARDA awarded a fiyear contract that provides
a total of up to $67 million in funding that BARDd&warded to CUBRC in January 2012. The contracteroptates that CUBRC will
collaborate with us on the development, manufagtuaind clinical evaluation of a novel brogpectrum tetracycline antibiotic with potential
an empiric countermeasure for respiratory diseeaased by biothreat and antibiotic-resistant puidialth pathogens, includigancisella
tularensis, which causes tularemi#grsinia pestis which causes plague, aBdcillus anthracis which causes anthrax disease, as well as
bacterial pathogens associated with moderate-tered@ABP and other serious hospital infections. flineling under the BARDA Contract is
also being used for certain activities in the depeient of eravacycline to treat certain infectioaased by life-threatening multidrug-resistant
bacteria. In connection with the BARDA ContractHabruary 2012, we entered into a five-year coss+iixed-fee subcontract with CUBRC
under which we may receive funding of up to appmately $39.8 million, reflecting the portion of tBARDA funding that may be paid to us
for our activities.

We collaborated with CUBRC in seeking governmenting of this development program because we didhage any expertise in
bidding for, or the administration and manageméngavernment-funded contracts. Because CUBRC haexpertise to manage and
administer awards issued by government funding @gsnwe agreed with CUBRC that CUBRC would sewvéha prime contractor under the
BARDA Contract, primarily carrying out a program magement and administrative role with additionapansibility for the management of
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certain preclinical studies. We serve as lead tieehexperts on all aspects of the BARDA Contraul aerve as a subcontractor of CUBRC
responsible for management of chemistry, manufaguand control activities and clinical studieseTtow of funds under this arrangement
follows the respective activities being conductgdib and by CUBRC, with funds being paid to us wrmde subcontract with CUBRC
reflecting payment for our activities.

We have agreed upon a research plan with CUBRGlidgtthe activities to be conducted by CUBRC arydis. In addition to our
obligations to conduct the activities provided ligrthe research plan, we are also obligated um#e€tJBRC subcontract to satisfy various
federal reporting requirements, extending to tecdinieporting with respect to our activities, rejpay with respect to intellectual property and
financial reporting.

Payments under our subcontract with CUBRC are nragfestallments as activities are conducted in edaoce with the research plan.
Payments are based on direct and indirect costisrgat plus fixed fees, where applicable.

Under the subcontract, CUBRC's use of our eravangdata is expressly limited to purposes of penfag CUBRC's obligations under
the BARDA Contract, and CUBRC and its other sub@gtbrs must assign to us, subject to governmghtsg; all intellectual property rights
relating to our compounds and related data thaeédrom the project. Under standard governmentraotihg terms, the government receives
only limited rights for government use of certafroar pre-existing data and certain data producitl mon-federal funding, to the extent such
data are required for delivery to BARDA under thejgct. The government receives unlimited rightage and disclose new data first prodt
under the project with BARDA funding, and the gavaent is entitled to at least a nonexclusive, weide, royalty-free license to practice or
have practiced any patent on an invention thabigeived or first reduced to practice under théguto

BARDA is entitled to terminate the project for cemience at any time, and is not obligated to prmwidntinued funding beyond current-
year amounts from Congressionally approved anmadogriations, and CUBRC has a right to termintgesuibcontract with us only to t
extent that BARDA first cancels the correspondiogipns of CUBRC'’s prime contract.

We retain a right to terminate CUBRC's rights t@ @savacycline. Permissible grounds for such teation of CUBRC's rights include
but are not limited to the sale of our assetsirgjab the project, an acquisition of us or oumgirsg an exclusive or partially exclusive license
to use eravacycline to a licensee that declinesmtinue CUBRC's license rights. In such an evidm,subcontract may be terminated upon
CUBRC's negotiation of a corresponding terminatdifCUBRC'’s obligations to BARDA.

TP-271

Our program to develop TP-271 is funded by NIAIDotihgh the NIAID Grant, a grant awarded in July 284t provides up to
approximately $2.8 million in funding over five ysaand the NIAID Contract, a separate a five-yeentract that provides up to $35.8 million
in funding that NIAID awarded to CUBRC in Octobd¥1A. The NIAID Contract contemplates that CUBRQ willlaborate with us on the
development, manufacturing and clinical evaluatba novel broadpectrum tetracycline antibiotic for respiratorgetises caused by biothi
and antibiotic-resistant public health pathogemsluidingFrancisella tularensis Yersinia pestisndBacillus anthracis as well as bacterial
pathogens associated with CABP.

In connection with the NIAID Contract, in Octobdd12, we entered into a five-year cost-plus-fixee-g$ebcontract with CUBRC under
which we may receive funding of up to approxima®l.3 million, reflecting the portion of the NIAIDontract funding that may be paid tc
for our activities. In connection with the NIAID &mt, in November 2011, CUBRC awarded us a 55-maratHiee subaward of approximately
$980,000 reflecting the portion of the NIAID Grdnhding that may be paid to us for our activities.
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We collaborated with CUBRC in seeking governmenting of this development program because we didhaee any expertise in
bidding for, or the administration and manageméngavernment-funded contracts. Because CUBRC haexpertise to manage and
administer awards issued by government funding égenwe agreed with CUBRC that CUBRC would sesréha prime contractor under the
NIAID Contract, primarily carrying out a program megement and administrative role with additionapamnsibility for the management
certain preclinical studies. We serve as lead teahexperts on all aspects of the NIAID Contrand @erve as a subcontractor of CUBRC
responsible for management of chemistry, manufangjuand control activities and clinical studieseTtow of funds under this arrangement
follows the respective activities being conductgdib and by CUBRC, with funds being paid to us wrode subcontract with, and subaward
from, CUBRC reflecting payment for our activities.

We have agreed upon a research plan with CUBRGlidgtthe activities to be conducted by CUBRC amduk. In addition to our
obligations to conduct the activities provided ligrthe research plan, we are also obligated um#e€tJBRC subcontract to satisfy various
federal reporting requirements, extending to techinieporting with respect to our activities, repay with respect to intellectual property and
financial reporting.

Payments under our subcontract with CUBRC are nrathstallments as activities are conducted in ed@oce with the research plan.
Payments are based on direct and indirect costisraat plus fixed fees, where applicable.

Under the subcontract, CUBRC's use and disclosfioaioproprietary data pertaining to the proje& expressly subject to a separate
confidentiality agreement between CUBRC and us. RORind its other subcontractors or subawardees asgign to us, subject to
government rights, all intellectual property rightéating to our compounds and related data tlise érom the project. Under standard
government contracting terms and grant conditidmesgovernment is entitled to at least a nonexelysivorldwide, royalty-free license to
practice or have practiced any patent on an ingaritiat is conceived or first reduced to practicdar the project.

NIAID is entitled to terminate the project for canience at any time, and is not obligated to p@wiantinued funding beyond May 31,
2016 in the case of the NIAID Grant, and Septen30e2016 in the case of the NIAID Contract, and ®@Bhas a right to terminate its
subcontract with, or subaward to, us only to thieixthat NIAID first cancels the correspondingtm s of CUBRCS prime contract or awal

We retain rights to terminate the subcontract iiBRC breaches the subcontract, subject in certaasceo CUBRC's failure to cure such
breach, or by written notice to CUBRC, effectiveongfCUBRC's negotiation of a corresponding termimraibf CUBRCS obligations to NIAID

Research and Development Expenses

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 ar®] @@&lincurred $61.9 million, $31.5 million, and7$3 million in expenses on
research and development activities.

Competition

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterizeéthisnse competition and rapid innovation. Our pt&ticompetitors include large
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, sggg@abrmaceutical companies and generic drug cormpallany of our potential
competitors have substantially greater financadhnical and human resources than we do, as wgtkeaser experience in the discovery and
development of product candidates, obtaining FDé @ther regulatory approvals of products and threroercialization of those products.
Accordingly, our potential competitors may be msuecessful than us in obtaining FDA approval fargdrand achieving widespread market
acceptance. Our potential competitors’ drugs masbee effective, or more effectively marketed aaftisthan any product candidate we may
commercialize and may render our
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product candidates obsolete or non-competitivereafiee can recover the expenses of their developare@htommercialization. We anticipate
that we will face intense and increasing competids new drugs enter the market and advanced tiecfie® become available. Finally, the
development of new treatment methods for the desea® are targeting could render our product canelidnon-competitive or obsolete.

We believe the key competitive factors that wifeat the development and commercial success ofnmst advanced product candidate,
eravacycline, if approved, will be efficacy, covgeaof drug-resistant strains of bacteria, safety/taterability profile, reliability, convenience
of dosing, including capability for IV-to-oral traition therapy, price, availability of reimbursen&om governmental and other third-party
payers and susceptibility to drug resistance.

We are developing eravacycline as a broad-spedivuamd oral antibiotic for use as a first-line empimonotherapy for the treatment of
multidrug-resistant infections, including multidrugsistant Gram-negative infections. If approvedyacycline would compete with a number
of currently marketed antibiotics, including meropen, which is marketed by AstraZeneca as Merreripgnem/cilastatin, which is marketed
by Merck & Co., or Merck, as Primaxin, tigecyclinmehich is marketed by Pfizer as Tygacil, levofloxaavhich is marketed by Ortho-McNeil
and Johnson & Johnson as Levaquin, piperacillioliaztam, which is marketed by Pfizer as Zosynptefane/tazobactam, which is marketec
by Merck/Cubist as Zerbaxa, and ceftazidime/aviractwhich is marketed by Allergan, Inc. and Astnagea as Avycaz, as well as antibiotics
currently under FDA review or in Phase 3 developtmiealuding meropenem/RPX7009, which is being deped by The Medicines Compa
as Carbavance, and plazomicin, which is being dgesl by Achaogen, Inc. We also expect that eraViaeydf approved, would compete with
future generic versions of currently marketed aatits.

If approved, we believe that eravacycline would pete effectively against these compounds on this bés
» broac-spectrum activity against a wide variety of multig-resistant Gra-negative, Grar-positive and anaerobic bacter
» lower probability of drug resistanc
» afavorable safety and tolerability profi
* aconvenient dosing regimen; a

* potentially, convenient I-to-oral transition therapy

Recent Changes in the Regulatory Landscape

The FDA's Anti-Infective Drugs Division has undergoevolution in recent years, primarily driven lmncerns that increasingly less
effective antibiotics may have been approved indke10 to 15 years and a desire to bring what pleeceive to be greater statistical rigor to
their analyses. The impact of this was a rethinkihgow antibiotic efficacy is measured in clini¢ahls, and a review of the statistical tools
used to analyze the data. In February 2015, the pilshed guidance entitled “Guidance for Indu€gmplicated Urinary Tract Infections:
Developing Drugs for Treatment” and guidance editiGuidance for Industry Complicated Intra-Abdoalimfections: Developing Drugs for
Treatment.” The purpose of these guidelines wasltiess any uncertainties regarding what the FOp&ebed from sponsors and clinical trials
for the indications of cUTI and clAl.

There are several additional legislative initiasivender consideration in the U.S. Congress, sutiea8DAPT Act which would provide
a pathway for approval of antibiotics in limitedgugations of patients with few or no suitable treant options, the DISARM Act which would
designate certain novel antibiotics used to tredbas bacterial infections to receive higher Madicreimbursement, and an amendment to th
GAIN Act
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which would allow successful QIDP sponsors to ti@ngp to one year of exclusivity to another praduecluding products marketed by other
companies. These three initiatives have been rgaenintroduced as part of the #Tentury Cures discussion document and have not been
approved.

Government Regulation and Product Approval

Government authorities in the United States, afederal, state and local level, and in other coestextensively regulate, among other
things, the research, development, testing, matwadncluding any manufacturing changes, paclkggtorage, recordkeeping, labeling,
advertising, promotion, distribution, marketing part and export of pharmaceutical products sudha@se we are developing. The processes
for obtaining regulatory approvals in the Unitedt8$ and in foreign countries, along with subsegc@mpliance with applicable statutes and
regulations, require the expenditure of substatitiz¢ and financial resources.

U.S. Government Regulation

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs utiteFederal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FD&#d implementing regulations.
The process of obtaining regulatory approvals aedstibsequent compliance with appropriate fedstate, local and foreign statutes and
regulations requires the expenditure of substatitied and financial resources. Failure to complihwie applicable U.S. requirements at any
time during the product development process, agqonocess or after approval, may subject an agpiito a variety of administrative or
judicial sanctions, such as the F's refusal to approve pending NDAs, withdrawal ofapproval, imposition of a clinical hold, issuamte
warning letters, product recalls, product seizut@s| or partial suspension of production or digttion, injunctions, fines, refusals of
government contracts, restitution, disgorgemeriat or criminal penalties.

The process required by the FDA before a drug neamarketed in the United States generally invotiiesollowing:

» completion of preclinical laboratory tests,raal studies and formulation studies in compliandé ¥he FDA'’s good laboratory
practice, or GLP, regulation

» submission to the FDA of an IND which must becorfieative before human clinical trials may beg
« approval by an independent institutional reviewrboar IRB, at each clinical site before each tmely be initiated

« performance of adequate and walhtrolled human clinical trials in accordance wgthod clinical practices, or GCP, to establist
safety and efficacy of the proposed drug produce&zh indication

* submission to the FDA of an ND;
» satisfactory completion of an FDA advisory comndtteview, if applicable

» satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortteé manufacturing facility or facilities at whithe product is produced to assess
compliance with current good manufacturing practiae cGMP, and to assure that the facilities, im#$hand controls are adequate
to preserve the dri's identity, strength, quality and purity; a

» FDA review and approval of the ND;

Preclinical Studies

Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluatidpmduct chemistry, toxicity and formulation, aslivas animal studies to assess
potential safety and efficacy. An IND sponsor maigimit the results of the preclinical tests, togethith manufacturing information,
analytical data and any available clinical datéiterature, among other things, to the FDA as p&aen IND. Some preclinical testing may
continue even after the IND is
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submitted. An IND automatically becomes effectivedays after receipt by the FDA, unless before tila the FDA raises concerns or
guestions related to one or more proposed clini@ds and places the clinical trial on a clinibald. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the
FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns befaelinical trial can begin. As a result, submissiéan IND may not result in the FDA
allowing clinical trials to commence.

Clinical Trials

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational new drug to human subjects undestipervision of qualified investigators
in accordance with GCP requirements, which inclilgerequirement that all research subjects praide informed consent in writing for
their participation in any clinical trial. Clinicadials are conducted under protocols detailingpagnother things, the objectives of the trial, the
parameters to be used in monitoring safety, aneftfieetiveness criteria to be evaluated. A protdopkach clinical trial and any subsequent
protocol amendments must be submitted to the FDgaatsof the IND. In addition, an IRB at each itgion participating in the clinical trial
must review and approve the plan for any clinidal before it commences at that institution. Imh@ation about certain clinical trials must be
submitted within specific timeframes to the Natibimstitutes of Health, or NIH, for public dissenation on their www.clinicaltrials.gov
website.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted imeth sequential phases, which may overlap or be ica@ub

Phase 1: The drug is initially introduced into hieahuman subjects or patients with the targetadiseor condition and tested for safety,
dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distdbuexcretion and, if possible, to gain an eanlyi¢cation of its effectiveness. During Phase 1
clinical trials, sufficient information about theviestigational drug’s or biological product’s phacokinetics and pharmacological effects may
be obtained to permit the design of well-controled scientifically valid Phase 2 clinical trials.

Phase 2: The drug is administered to a limitedepapopulation to identify possible adverse effeetd safety risks, to preliminarily
evaluate the efficacy of the product for specifigeted diseases and to determine dosage tolemadagptimal dosage. Phase 2 clinical trials
are typically well-controlled, closely monitoredychconducted in a limited patient population.

Phase 3: The drug is administered to an expandezhppopulation, generally at geographically disgé clinical trial sites, in well-
controlled clinical trials to generate enough datatatistically evaluate the efficacy and safdtthe product for approval, to establish the
overall risk-benefit profile of the product, andpmvide adequate information for the labelingh® product. Phase 3 clinical trials usually
involve a larger number of participants than a Blaslinical trial.

Progress reports detailing the results of the @inirials must be submitted at least annualllhe®RDA and more frequently if serious
adverse events occur. Phase 1, Phase 2 and Pblasied trials may not be completed successfulithim any specified period, or at all.
Furthermore, the FDA or the sponsor may suspeierarinate a clinical trial at any time on variousunds, including a finding that the
research subjects are being exposed to an unabteptalth risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspendesminate approval of a clinical trial at its
institution if the clinical trial is not being condted in accordance with the IRB’s requirements tire drug has been associated with
unexpected serious harm to patients.

Special Protocol Assessment

The special protocol assessment, or SPA, procelesigned to facilitate the FDA'’s review and appiaf drugs by allowing the FDA to
evaluate the proposed design and size of PhaseiGatltrials that are intended to form the primagasis for determining a drug product’s
efficacy. Upon specific request by a clinical tgplonsor, the FDA will evaluate the protocol angbrnd to a sponsor’s questions regarding,
among other things, primary efficacy endpointslttonduct and data analysis, within 45 days ofifof the request.
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The FDA ultimately assesses whether the protocsigdeand planned analysis of the trial are accéptatsupport regulatory approval of
the product candidate with respect to effectiveméske indication studied. All agreements and gisaments between the FDA and the
sponsor regarding an SPA must be clearly documentad SPA letter or the minutes of a meeting betwihie sponsor and the FDA.

Even if the FDA agrees to the design, executionaralyses proposed in protocols reviewed undeBE¥ process, the FDA may revoke
or alter its agreement under the following circuanses:

e public health concerns emerge that were unmazed at the time of the protocol assessment,editector of the review division
determines that a substantial scientific issuerdgd¢o determining safety or efficacy has beeamtified after testing has begt

* asponsor fails to follow a protocol that was adrapon with the FDA; o

» the relevant data, assumptions, or informapiavided by the sponsor in a request for SPA chaaigefound to be false statements
or misstatements, or are found to omit relevarisfi

A documented SPA may be modified, and such modifinawill be deemed binding on the FDA review digig, except under the
circumstances described above, if FDA and the spagree in writing to modify the protocol and suwtdification is intended to improve the
study.

Marketing Approval

Assuming successful completion of the requiredicdintesting, the results of the preclinical anidichl studies, together with detailed
information relating to the product’s chemistry,méacture, controls and proposed labeling, amohgrahings, are submitted to the FDA as
part of an NDA requesting approval to market thedpict for one or more indications. In most cades submission of an NDA is subject to a
substantial application user fee. Under the Prpori Drug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, guidelines thd currently in effect, the FDA has a g
of ten months from the date of “filing” of a stamda&DA for a new molecular entity to review and antthe submission. This review typically
takes twelve months from the date the NDA is sutadito FDA because the FDA has approximately twothto make a “filing” decision.

In addition, under the Pediatric Research Equity #2003, or PREA, as amended and reauthorizethiodNDASs or supplements to an
NDA must contain data that are adequate to asBessafety and effectiveness of the drug for thingd indications in all relevant pediat
subpopulations, and to support dosing and admatistr for each pediatric subpopulation for which groduct is safe and effective. The FDA
may, on its own initiative or at the request of @&pplicant, grant deferrals for submission of samall pediatric data until after approval of the
product for use in adults, or full or partial waisdrom the pediatric data requirements.

Unless otherwise required by regulation, the pédidata requirements do not apply to products wifthan designation. Our product
candidates are not designated as orphan drugs.

The FDA also may require submission of a risk extiun and mitigation strategy, or REMS, plan toigaite any identified or suspected
serious risks. The REMS plan could include medicaguides, physician communication plans, assedsptams, and elements to assure safe
use, such as restricted distribution methods, pategistries, or other risk minimization tools.

The FDA conducts a preliminary review of all NDAglin the first 60 days after submission, beforeegting them for filing, to
determine whether they are sufficiently completpeomit substantive review. The FDA may requesitamthl information rather than accept
an NDA for filing. In this event, the applicationust be resubmitted with the additional informatidhe resubmitted application is also subject
to review before the FDA accepts it for filing. @nihie submission is accepted for filing, the FDAibe an in-depth substantive
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review. The FDA reviews an NDA to determine, amotiger things, whether the drug is safe and effeddivd whether the facility in which it
manufactured, processed, packaged or held meetasts designed to assure the product’s continafedys quality and purity.

The FDA is required to refer an application foravel drug to an advisory committee or explain whghsreferral was not made. An
advisory committee is a panel of independent egpartiuding clinicians and other scientific exgethat reviews, evaluates and provides a
recommendation as to whether the application shioaldpproved and under what conditions. The FD#otsound by the recommendation:
an advisory committee, but it considers such recenuations carefully when making decisions.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA typically will ipsct the facility or facilities where the produstinanufactured. The FDA will not
approve an application unless it determines trehtanufacturing processes and facilities are inptiamce with cGMP requirements and
adequate to assure consistent production of thduptavithin required specifications. Additionallyefore approving an NDA, the FDA will
typically inspect one or more clinical trial sitteessassure compliance with GCP.

The FDA generally accepts data from foreign clihtdals in support of an NDA if the trials werermtucted under an IND. If a foreign
clinical trial is not conducted under an IND, tHeA-nevertheless may accept the data in suppom &¥RA if the study was conducted in
accordance with GCPs and the FDA is able to vaitla data through an on-site inspection, if deensegssary. Although the FDA generally
requests that marketing applications be supporgesbine data from domestic clinical studies, the Fbdy accept foreign data as the sole t
for marketing approval if (1) the foreign data applicable to the U.S. population and U.S. medicattice, (2) the studies were performed by
clinical investigators with recognized competerarg] (3) the data may be considered valid withoaitided for an on-site inspection or, if the
FDA considers the inspection to be necessary, bi¥e i able to validate the data through an onisispection or other appropriate means.

The testing and approval process for an NDA reguidhstantial time, effort and financial resourees] each may take several years to
complete. Data obtained from preclinical and chhitesting are not always conclusive and may beeqiible to varying interpretations, which
could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approvithe FDA may not grant approval on a timely basisatall.

After evaluating the NDA and all related informatjoncluding the advisory committee recommendatibany, and inspection reports
regarding the manufacturing facilities and clinit@l sites, the FDA may issue an approval letberjn some cases, a complete response lette
A complete response letter generally containstarst@nt of specific conditions that must be metriheo to secure final approval of the NDA
and may require additional clinical or preclinitas$ting in order for FDA to reconsider the applimat Even with submission of this additional
information, the FDA ultimately may decide that #ygplication does not satisfy the regulatory cidtéor approval. If and when those
conditions have been met to the FDA's satisfactiba,FDA will typically issue an approval lettern&pproval letter authorizes commercial
marketing of the drug with specific prescribingdmhation for specific indications.

Even if the FDA approves a product, it may limi tpproved indications for use of the product, iregihhat contraindications, warnings
or precautions be included in the product labelieguire that post-approval studies, including Bhaslinical trials, be conducted to further
assess a drug’s safety after approval, requirsnteand surveillance programs to monitor the prodfier commercialization, or impose other
conditions, including distribution and use restans or other risk management mechanisms undeMdREhich can materially affect the
potential market and profitability of the produthe FDA may prevent or limit further marketing opeoduct based on the results of post-
marketing studies or surveillance programs. Affgraval, some types of changes to the approveduptpguch as adding new indications,
manufacturing changes, and additional labelinghtdaiare subject to further testing requirementsrD@ review and approval.
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Special FDA Expedited Review and Approval Programs

The FDA has various programs, including fast trde&ignation, accelerated approval and priorityawyithat are intended to expedite or
simplify the process for the development and FDBaw of drugs that are intended for the treatmérseoious or life threatening diseases or
conditions and demonstrate the potential to addresset medical needs. The purpose of these progeatmaprovide important new drugs to
patients earlier than under standard FDA revieveg@dares.

To be eligible for a fast track designation, theAHRust determine, based on the request of a spothedra product is intended to treat a
serious or life threatening disease or conditioth d@monstrates the potential to address an unndital@eed, or if the drug qualifies as a
qualified infectious disease product under themtigenacted Generating Antibiotic Incentives N@wGAIN Act. The FDA will determine
that a product will fill an unmet medical needtifill provide a therapy where none exists or pdeva therapy that may be potentially superiol
to existing therapy based on efficacy or safetydiac We have requested fast track designatiorrracycline and are awaiting a response
from the FDA.

The FDA may give a priority review designation taigs that offer major advances in treatment, ovigdma treatment where no adeqt
therapy exists. A priority review means that thaldgor the FDA to review an application is six miasitrather than the standard review of ten
months under current PDUFA guidelines. Under the BOUFA agreement, these six and ten month revieno@s are measured from the
“filing” date rather than the receipt date for NDAs for meslecular entities, which typically adds approxietatwo months to the timeline f
review and decision from the date of submissionstwoducts that are eligible for fast track deatgm are also likely to be considered
appropriate to receive a priority review.

In addition, products studied for their safety afi@ctiveness in treating serious or life-threatgrillnesses and that provide meaningful
therapeutic benefit over existing treatments magike accelerated approval and may be approvedeobdsis of adequate and well-controlled
clinical trials establishing that the drug prodbas an effect on a surrogate endpoint that is nedp likely to predict clinical benefit, or on a
clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier thanersible morbidity or mortality, that is reamdly likely to predict an effect on irreversil
morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefigking into account the severity, rarity or prevakef the condition and the availability or lack
of alternative treatments. As a condition of appipthe FDA may require a sponsor of a drug reogiccelerated approval to perform post-
marketing studies to verify and describe the predieffect on irreversible morbidity or mortality ather clinical endpoint, and the drug may
be subject to accelerated withdrawal procedures.

Moreover, under the provisions of the new Food @ney Administration Safety and Innovation Act, ddA&SIA, enacted in 2012, a
sponsor can request designation of a product catedab a “breakthrough therapy’breakthrough therapy is defined as a drug thatténhded
alone or in combination with one or more other diug treat a serious or litereatening disease or condition, and prelimindiniaal evidenct
indicates that the drug may demonstrate substamtabvement over existing therapies on one or netinécally significant endpoints, such as
substantial treatment effects observed early madi development. Drugs designated as breakthrtheglapies are also eligible for acceleratec
approval. The FDA must take certain actions, sischadding timely meetings and providing adviceeinted to expedite the development and
review of an application for approval of a breaktigh therapy.

Even if a product qualifies for one or more of ta@sograms, the FDA may later decide that the prbda longer meets the conditions
gualification or decide that the time period forA&Beview or approval will not be shortened.

Post-Approval Requirements

Drugs manufactured or distributed pursuant to FIpfravals are subject to pervasive and continuigglegion by the FDA, including,
among other things, requirements relating to rdoeegding, periodic reporting,
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product sampling and distribution, advertising angimotion and reporting of adverse experiences thighproduct. After approval, most
changes to the approved product, such as addingmieations or other labeling claims are subjegbior FDA review and approval. There
also are continuing, annual user fee requirememntarfy marketed products and the establishmenmthiah such products are manufactured, a
well as new application fees for supplemental ajgibns with clinical data.

The FDA may impose a number of post-approval reguénts as a condition of approval of an NDA. Famegle, the FDA may require
post-marketing testing, including Phase 4 clintdals, and surveillance to further assess and tapthie product’s safety and effectiveness
after commercialization.

In addition, drug manufacturers and other entitieslved in the manufacture and distribution of epy@d drugs are required to register
their establishments with the FDA and state ageneird are subject to periodic unannounced ingpechy the FDA and these state agencies
for compliance with cGMP requirements. Changesi¢omanufacturing process are strictly regulatedadiah require prior FDA approval
before being implemented. FDA regulations also ireguvestigation and correction of any deviatiéresn cGMP and impose reporting and
documentation requirements upon the sponsor anthamgyparty manufacturers that the sponsor may decideaoAccordingly, manufacture
must continue to expend time, money, and effoth@area of production and quality control to mamcGMP compliance.

Once an approval is granted, the FDA may withdiaevapproval if compliance with regulatory requirenseand standards is not
maintained or if problems occur after the prodeetches the market.

Later discovery of previously unknown problems vatproduct, including adverse events of unantieigpaeverity or frequency, or with
manufacturing processes, or failure to comply wéthulatory requirements, may result in mandatovisiens to the approved labeling to add
new safety information; imposition of post-marketdies or clinical trials to assess new safetystisik imposition of distribution or other
restrictions under a REMS program. Other potetialsequences include, among other things:

» restrictions on the marketing or manufacturinghef product, complete withdrawal of the product fribra market or product reca
» fines, warning letters or holds on g-approval clinical trials

» refusal of the FDA to approve pending NDAs gpplements to approved NDAs, or suspension or @iart of product license
approvals

e product seizure or detention, or refusal to peth@timport or export of products;

» injunctions or the imposition of civil ccriminal penalties

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, adising and promotion of products that are plamedhe market. Drugs may be
promoted only for the approved indications anddecadance with the provisions of the approved labe¢é FDA and other agencies actively
enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting thenpotion of off-label uses, and a company that isitbto have improperly promoted off-label
uses may be subject to significant liability.

In addition, the distribution of prescription phaxoeutical products is subject to the PrescriptiomgiMarketing Act, or PDMA, which
regulates the distribution of drugs and drug samatdhe federal level, and sets minimum standardbe registration and regulation of drug
distributors by the states. Both the PDMA and dtates limit the distribution of prescription pharogautical product samples and impose
requirements to ensure accountability in distritoti
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Exclusivity and Approval of Competing Products
Hatch-Waxman Exclusivity

Market and data exclusivity provisions under thedA>can delay the submission or the approval ofatepplications for competing
products. The FDCA provides a five-year period @fi4patent data exclusivity within the United Stateshe first applicant to gain approval of
an NDA for a new chemical entity. A drug is a nevemical entity if the FDA has not previously appdwany other new drug containing the
same active moiety, which is the molecule or i@pomsible for the activity of the drug substance. Mglieve that eravacycline and our other
product candidates are new chemical entities. [Quhe exclusivity period, the FDA may not acceptriview an abbreviated new drug
application, or ANDA, or a 505(b)(2) NDA submittegl another company that references the previoygyowed drug. However, an ANDA
505(b)(2) NDA may be submitted after four yearis dontains a certification of patent invalidity mon-infringement. The FDCA also provides
three years of marketing exclusivity for an NDABHE)(2) NDA, or supplement to an existing NDA o1588)(2) NDA if new clinical
investigations, other than bioavailability studigmt were conducted or sponsored by the applieaatdeemed by the FDA to be essential t
approval of the application or supplement. Threar yxclusivity may be awarded for changes to aiptesly approved drug product, such as
new indications, dosages, strengths or dosage fofias existing drug. This three-year exclusivitywers only the conditions of use associatec
with the new clinical investigations and, as a gahmatter, does not prohibit the FDA from apprayviNDAs or 505(b)(2) NDAs for generic
versions of the original, unmodified drug produsitze-year and three-year exclusivity will not dethg submission or approval of a full NDA;
however, an applicant submitting a full NDA would tequired to conduct or obtain a right of refeeetacall of the preclinical studies and
adequate and well-controlled clinical trials neeggdo demonstrate safety and effectiveness. Ray groducts that contain an “antibiotic”
ingredient approved prior to 1997, such as tetrawgcthe statute imposes certain limitations andlvard of non-patent exclusivity. However,
we do not believe these limitations would applgtavacycline or any of our other investigationdit#atics.

Qualified Infectious Disease Product Exclusivity

Under the GAIN provisions of FDASIA, which was saghinto law in July 2012, the FDA may designateapct as a “qualified
infectious disease product,” or QIDP. In orderdoaive this designation, a drug must qualify aaratibacterial or antifungal drug for human
use intended to treat serious or life-threatenirigations, including those caused by either (1qmatibacterial or antifungal resistant pathogen,
including novel or emerging infectious pathogeng2) a so-called “qualifying pathogen” found ofist of potentially dangerous, drug-
resistant organisms to be established and maimtdinehe FDA under the new law. A sponsor must estjguch designation before submitting
a marketing application. We obtained a QIDP degigndor the 1V formulation of eravacycline for cU@nd clAl in July 2013 and expect to
request QIDP designations for our other productiickaies prior to submitting a marketing applicationsuch product candidates, as
appropriate.

Upon approving an application for a qualified irtfeas disease product, the FDA will extend by aditahal five years any non-patent
marketing exclusivity period awarded, such as e-fiear exclusivity period awarded for a new molacehtity. This extension is in addition to
any pediatric exclusivity extension awarded, aredgktension will be awarded only to a drug firgbrawed on or after the date of enactment.

The GAIN provisions prohibit the grant of an exdlity extension where the application is a suppletrie an application for which an
extension is in effect or has expired, is a subsegapplication for a specified change to an apgiigaroduct, or is an application for a product
that does not meet the definition of qualified otfeus disease product based on the uses for vithiehltimately approved.

Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States,witbe subject to a variety of foreign regulatsogoverning clinical trials and
commercial sales and distribution of our produdtsether or not we obtain FDA
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approval for a product, we must obtain approvaii®comparable regulatory authorities of foreignntdes or economic areas, such as the
European Union, before we may commence clinicalsror market products in those countries or arBas.approval process and requirement
governing the conduct of clinical trials, producehsing, pricing and reimbursement vary greatyfiplace to place, and the time may be
longer or shorter than that required for FDA appitov

Under European Union regulatory systems, a compaay submit marketing authorization applicationb@itunder a centralized or
decentralized procedure. The centralized procedhieh is compulsory for medicinal products prodilibg biotechnology or those medicinal
products containing new active substances for fpégdications such as the treatment of AIDS, @noeurodegenerative disorders, diabetes
viral diseases and designated orphan medicinesptiehal for other medicines which are highly imative. Under the centralized procedut
marketing application is submitted to the Europktenlicines Agency where it will be evaluated by @@mmittee for Medicinal Products for
Human Use and a favorable opinion typically resumitthe grant by the European Commission of a singirketing authorization that is valid
for all European Union member states within 67 dafy®ceipt of the opinion. The initial marketingthorization is valid for five years, but
once renewed is usually valid for an unlimited périThe decentralized procedure provides for aggroy one or more “concerned” member
states based on an assessment of an applicatiommed by one member state, known as the “refefemember state. Under the decentral
approval procedure, an applicant submits an agpitaor dossier, and related materials to theresfee member state and concerned membe
states. The reference member state prepares adsafisment and drafts of the related materiafsnwi®0 days after receipt of a valid
application. Within 90 days of receiving the refeze member state’s assessment report, each codeaember state must decide whether to
approve the assessment report and related matéfialmember state does not recognize the maketinhorization, the disputed points are
eventually referred to the European Commission,sghdecision is binding on all member states.

Coverage and Reimbursement

Sales of our products will depend, in part, ongktent to which our products will be covered arichimirsed by third-party payors, such
as government health programs, including MedicaceMedicaid, commercial insurance and managedhezalt organizations. These third-
party payors are increasingly reducing coverageraimbursement amounts for medical products andcesr. Additionally, the containment
healthcare costs has become a priority of fedemhlséate governments, and the prices of drugs hese a focus in this effort. The U.S.
government, state legislatures and foreign goventsnigave shown significant interest in implementiogt-containment programs, including
price controls, restrictions on coverage and reirsdment and requirements for substitution of genaoeducts. Adoption of price controls and
cost-containment measures, and adoption of moteataése policies in jurisdictions with existing otrols and measures, could further limit our
net revenue and results. Decreases in third-pamyursement for our product candidates or a dmtisy a third-party payor to not cover our
product candidates could reduce physician usagfeegfroduct candidate and have a material advéfieset en our sales, results of operations
and financial condition.

In the United States, a number of recent legigtatéform measures have been passed to contaihdealreimbursement for
pharmaceuticals, including drugs such as our priocunndidates. For example, the Patient Protectioh/dfordable Care Act, as amended by
the Health Care and Education Reconciliation AQ@t0, known collectively as ACA, among other tlingstablishes annual fees to be paid
by manufacturers for certain branded prescriptiamgs, requires manufacturers to participate irsaaiint program for certain outpatient drugs
under Medicare Part D, increases manufacturereaieaponsibilities under the Medicaid Drug Rebatggfam for outpatient drugs dispensed
to Medicaid recipients, addresses a new methodddygyhich rebates owed by manufacturers under tadidhid Drug Rebate Program are
calculated for drugs that are inhaled, infusedjlied, implanted or injected and expands oversaid support for the federal government’s
comparative effectiveness research of servicepeodlicts. In addition, other legislative changegehaeen proposed and adopted since the
ACA was enacted. We cannot predict the full impEACA or future reform measures on our operations.
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In addition, in some foreign countries, the prombgecing for a drug must be approved before it thayawfully marketed. The
requirements governing drug pricing vary widelynfrgountry to country. For example, the Europearobpirovides options for its member
states to restrict the range of medicinal prodfartsvhich their national health insurance systemmige reimbursement and to control the
prices of medicinal products for human use. A manskete may approve a specific price for the medigbroduct or it may instead adopt a
system of direct or indirect controls on the patfitity of the company placing the medicinal prodo the market. There can be no assuranc
that any country that has price controls or reirsborent limitations for pharmaceutical products alibw favorable reimbursement and
pricing arrangements for any of our products. Histdly, products launched in the European Uniomdbfollow price structures of the United
States and generally tend to be significantly lower

Other Healthcare Laws

Although we currently do not have any productstenrmarket, if our drug candidates are approvedantegin commercialization, we
may be subject to additional healthcare regulatioth enforcement by the federal government and thoadities in the states and foreign
jurisdictions in which we conduct our business.I8lagvs include, without limitation, state and fealeant-kickback, fraud and abuse, false
claims, privacy and security and physician sunskine and regulations. If our operations are fotmbe in violation of any of such laws or
any other governmental regulations that apply touesmay be subject to penalties, including, witheuitation, civil and criminal penalties,
damages, fines, the curtailment or restructuringusfoperations, exclusion from participation iddeal and state healthcare programs and
imprisonment, any of which could adversely affeat ability to operate our business and our findrresults.

Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any material lggakeedings.

Employees

As of February 28, 2015, we had 55 full-time empleg, 38 of whom were primarily engaged in reseanthdevelopment activities. A
total of 23 employees have an M.D. or Ph.D. dedgeme of our employees is represented by a labionwand we consider our employee
relations to be good.

Executive Officers

The following table lists the positions, names agds of our executive officers as of February B852

Executive Officers

Guy Macdonalc 56  President and Chief Executive Officer,dotor
David C. Lubnel 50 Senior Vice President and Chief Finan©Oificer
Patrick T. Horn, M.D., Ph.C 60 Chief Medical Office

J. Craig Thompso 48  Chief Operating Office

Maria Stahl* 44 Senior Vice President and General Cot

* Ms. Stahl commenced employment with us on Marck045.

Guy Macdonaldhas served as our President and Chief Executivieddfind a member of our board of directors sireridry 2008. Fro
August 2003 until January 2008, Mr. Macdonald sérag Executive Vice President, Operations, of id&fiarmaceuticals, Inc., a
biopharmaceutical company. Prior to joining Idetig,served in various positions at Merck & Co., lacpharmaceutical company, from 1981
to 2003, most recently serving as the Vice PresifterAnti-Infective and Hospital Products. Mr. M#anald currently serves as
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Chairman of the board of directors of Spring Bahltffaceuticals, Inc., a privately held company, and member of the Board of Directors
for Synexis, Inc., a publicly-traded company. Mraddlonald received an Honours Degree in biochemiising Dundee University in Dundee,
Scotland.

David C. Lubnerhas served as our Senior Vice President and ChiahEial Officer since October 2010 and from oweijption in 2006
until October 2010 he served on a part-time bas@ua Senior Vice President and Chief Operatingc®ff Mr. Lubner also served as Chief
Financial Officer of Mediphase Venture Partnergeature capital firm, from 2006 until October 20E@om 1999 to 2005, he served as Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer at PharMsitrlac., a pharmacy and medical claims data inftiae@&ompany, until its acquisition by
IMS Health in 2005. Prior to joining PharMetricsy.Mlubner served as Vice President and Chief Fiiah@fficer of ProScript, Inc., a
biotechnology company, from 1996 to 1999. Mr. Lubisea member of the American Institute of CPAs &nd certified public accountant in
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Mr. Lubner vecka B.S. in business administration from NorttexrasUniversity and an M.S. in
Taxation from Bentley University.

Patrick T. Horn, M.D., Ph.D.has served as our Chief Medical Officer since Jgn2@11. From September 2007 until December 20&
served as Vice President, Clinical & Medical Affaat Dyax Corporation, a biopharmaceutical compBmnipr to joining Dyax, Dr. Horn servi
in various positions at Abbott Laboratories, a phaceutical company, from 2001 to 2006, most regesgiving as Medical Director, Head of
Clinical Pharmacology. Dr. Horn received a B.SCimemistry from the University of lllinois, doctoesin the Pharmacological and
Physiological Sciences from the University of Clgieand an M.D. from the University of Chicago, Ekér School of Medicine.

J. Craig Thompsorhas served as our Chief Operating Officer sinceusly 2014. From January 2011 to December 2013 Thsmpsol
served as Chief Commercial Officer with Trius Theeatics, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company. Fro08206 December 2010, Mr. Thompson
served in various global and U.S. commercial raligk Pfizer Inc., a pharmaceutical and consumettheare company, most recently as Vice
President of Marketing for Pfizer's Specialty CBrgsiness Unit. From 1992 to 2003, Mr. Thompson egiin positions of increasing
responsibility at Merck & Co., Inc., where he mostably worked on the commercial planning and miamgeactivities for the company’s anti-
infectives as well as on major cardiovascular bsait. Thompson received a Bachelor’'s degree in @ere from McMaster University and
an MBA from the University of Notre Dame.

Maria Stahl has served as our Senior Vice President and Gebeuasel since March 2015. From October 2010 tgusti 2014,
Ms. Stahl served in several capacities at Idenarflaceuticals, Inc., a biotechnology company, mexstntly as Senior Vice President, Gen
Counsel. Prior to rejoining Idenix in October 20M3. Stahl served as General Counsel of Zipcar, &ncar sharing company, from Novembel
2009 to October 2010. From February 2005 to Fepr2@07, Ms. Stahl served as Vice President, Cotpd@aunsel of Capital Crossing Bank.
Prior to that, Ms. Stahl was at Wilmer Cutler Pitkg Hale and Dorr LLP. Ms. Stahl received a B.Anh Providence College and a J.D. from
Yale Law School.

Available Information

We file reports and other information with the Sétes and Exchange Commission as required by doei®ties Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, which we refer to as the ExchangeYAci.can find, copy and inspect information we fitethe SEC’s Public Reference Room,
which is located at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1%88shington, DC 20549, on official business daysrduthe hours of 10:00 a.m. to 3:00 p
Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for moremnmdtion about the operation of the SEC’s PubliceReice Room. You can review our
electronically filed reports and other informatitnat we file with the SEC on the SEC’s web sitatit://www.sec.gov.
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We were incorporated under the laws of the Stafeetéware on July 7, 2006 as Tetraphase Pharmaattinc. Our principal executive
offices are located at 480 Arsenal Street, Suits Watertown, Massachusetts, 02472, and our tetephamber is (617) 715-3600. Our
Internet website is http://www.tphase.com. We makailable free of charge through our website oundal Report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form &K amendments to those reports filed or furnishedyant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of
the Exchange Act. We make these reports availabbeih our website as soon as reasonably practicdtar we electronically file such
reports with, or furnish such reports to, the SECaddition, we regularly use our website to pasbimation regarding our business, product
development programs and governance, and we emggbiumaestors to use our website, particularly tiermation in the section entitled
“Investor Relations,” as a source of informatiomatus.

The foregoing references to our website are neniiéd to, nor shall they be deemed to, incorpanédemation on our website into this
annual report on Form 10-K by reference.
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ltem 1A. Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous risks. We @aybu that the following important factors, amanbers, could cause our actual results to
differ materially from those expressed in forwapdiing statements made by us or on our behalfisnathnual report on Form 10-K and other
filings with the SEC, press releases, communicatigith investors and oral statements. Actual futeseilts may differ materially from those
anticipated in our forward-looking statements. Widertake no obligation to update any forward-logkstatements, whether as a result of nev
information, future events or otherwise.

Risks Relating to Our Financial Position and Needdr Additional Capital

We have incurred significant losses since incepti@xpect to incur losses for at least the next sal/gears and may never achieve or
sustain profitability.

We have incurred annual net operating losses iryagsgar since our inception. Our net loss was $@fillion for the year ended
December 31, 2014, $29.6 million for the year endedember 31, 2013 and $15.1 million for the yewteel December 31, 2012. As of
December 31, 2014, we had an accumulated defigit86.5 million. We have not generated any prodextnues and have financed our
operations primarily through the public offeringdaprivate placements of our equity securities, di@aincings and revenue from U.S.
government awards. We have not completed developafi@my product candidate and have devoted sutisigrall of our financial resources
and efforts to research and development, inclugheglinical and clinical development. We expectdntinue to incur significant expenses anc
increasing operating losses for at least the nasral years. The net losses we incur may fluctsigtaficantly from quarter to quarter. Net
losses and negative cash flows have had, and avitirtue to have, an adverse effect on our stoclénslequity and working capital.

We expect that our expenses will increase subsatnéis we continue our ongoing Phase 3 clinidal of our lead product candidate,
eravacycline, for the treatment of patients witmpticated urinary tract infections, or cUTI, seeliriketing approval for eravacycline, pursue
development of eravacycline for additional indioas, including hospital-acquired bacterial pneurasrind other serious and life-threatening
infections, conduct pre-commercialization and launelated activities for eravacycline, advance ater product candidates and satisfy our
obligations under our license agreement with Hahdmiversity. If we obtain marketing approval ofeacycline, we also expect to incur
significant sales, marketing, distribution and outged manufacturing expenses, as well as ongesgarch and development expenses. Our
expenses also will increase if and as we:

e maintain, expand and protect our intellectual propgortfolio;
* in-license or acquire other products and technolo
» hire additional clinical, quality control and sciiic personnel; an

» add operational, financial and management médion systems and personnel, including personglpport our product
development and planned future commercializatidorsf

Our ability to become and remain profitable depemsur ability to generate revenue. We do not efmegenerate significant revenue
unless and until we obtain marketing approval &g commercialize, eravacycline, which will requigeto be successful in a range of
challenging activities, including:

» conducting and successfully completing our Phadan®al trial of eravacycline for the treatmentafTl;
» applying for and obtaining marketing approval foaecycline;

* protecting and maintaining our rights to our irgetual property portfolio related to eravacycli

« contracting for the manufacture of commercial qiteest of eravacycline; an

» establishing sales, marketing and distribution bijpi@s to effectively market and sell eravacyeli
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Because of the numerous risks and uncertaintiesiassd with pharmaceutical product developmentareeunable to accurately predict
the timing or amount of increased expenses or wieif, we will be able to achieve profitability.uDexpenses could increase if we are
required by the United States Food and Drug Adrtration, or FDA, or the European Medicines AgermyEMA, to perform studies in
addition to those currently expected, or if thee any delays in completing our clinical trialstibe development of any of our product
candidates.

We may be unable to develop and commercialize eyaliae or any other product candidate and, eveveitlo, may never achieve
profitability. Even if we do achieve profitabilityye may not be able to sustain or increase prdlittabn a quarterly or annual basis. Our fail
to become and remain profitable would decreaseahee of our company and could impair our abildyraise capital, expand our business or
continue our operations. A decline in the valuewf company could cause our stockholders to Ids& glart of their investment in us.

We expect that we will need substantial additiofahding. If we are unable to raise capital when rn#ed, we could be forced to delay,
reduce or eliminate our product development progrsusr commercialization efforts.

Developing pharmaceutical products, including canitig preclinical studies and clinical trials, isime-consuming, expensive and
uncertain process that takes years to completeexffect that our expenses will increase substantaliwve continue our ongoing Phase 3
clinical trial of eravacycline for the treatmentafTI, seek marketing approval for eravacyclinespe development of eravacycline for
additional indications, including hospital-acquiteatterial pneumonias and other serious and lifeatiening infections, conduct pre-
commercialization and launch-related activitiesdavacycline, advance our other product candidatdssatisfy our obligations under our
license agreement with Harvard University. We expleat the total external costs of our Phase 3adlrtrials of eravacycline for the treatment
of clAl and cUTI will be approximately $65.0 millioto $75.0 million. If we obtain marketing approvat eravacycline or any other product
candidate that we develop, we expect to incur Sggnit commercialization expenses related to prodales, marketing, distribution and
manufacturing.

We believe that our available funds will enableaifund our current operating plan and capital exjiteire requirements into at least the
third quarter of 2016. We believe that our avagafoinds will be sufficient to enable us to obtaip-tine data from our ongoing Phase 3 clinica
trial of eravacycline for the treatment of cUTIbsuit a new drug application, or NDA, to the FDA fmavacycline and to perform pre-
commercialization activities for eravacycline. Wect that these funds will not, however, be sidfitto enable us to commercially launch
eravacycline. As a result, we will be required bdain further funding through public or private @gwfferings, debt financings, collaborations
and licensing arrangements or other sources.

These estimates are based on assumptions thatrmag/tp be wrong, and we could use our availabpgt@eresources sooner than we
currently expect. Changing circumstances couldeasso consume capital significantly faster thancwrrently anticipate, and we may need
to spend more money than currently expected beaziugeumstances beyond our control. It is alsesilale that we will not achieve the
progress that we expect with respect to eravaaytletause the actual costs and timing of clinieabtbpment activities are difficult to predict
and are subject to substantial risks and delays.

Adequate additional financing may not be availdblas on acceptable terms, or at all. Our failoreaise capital as and when needed
would have a negative impact on our financial chadiand our ability to pursue our business strnateg

Our future funding requirements, both short-terrd Eomg-term, will depend on many factors, including
» the timing and costs of our ongoing Phase 3 clinita of eravacycline for the treatment of cU’

» manufacturing costs related to regulatory filingsl anticipated commercial launc
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» the initiation, progress, timing, costs and resoftpreclinical studies and clinical trials for oather product candidates and potet
product candidate:

* the amount of funding that we receive undersuircontracts awarded to us by our collaborator ROBInc., or CUBRC, under its
government contracts with the Biomedical Advanceddarch and Development Authority, or BARDA, anthvie National
Institutes of Health’s, or NIH’s, National Institubf Allergy and Infectious Diseases, or NIAID, amtter our subaward from
CUBRC under its grant from NIAID, and the activtitunded under these contrac

* the number and characteristics of product candsdizt we pursue

» the timing and costs of developing eravacycforeadditional indications, including hospital-aiged bacterial pneumonias and
other serious and li-threatening infection:

» the outcome, timing and costs of seeking regulaapprovals

» the costs of commercialization activities foavacycline and other product candidates if weivecmarketing approval, including
the timing and costs of establishing product satesketing, distribution and manufacturing capies;;

» revenue received from commercial sales of eravaw/cbubject to receipt of marketing appro
« the terms and timing of any future collaboratidit®nsing, consulting or other arrangements thatmag establish

» the amount and timing of any payments we may beired to make, or that we may receive, in connactith the licensing, filing
prosecution, defense and enforcement of any paterather intellectual property rights, includingl@stone and royalty payments
and patent prosecution fees that we are obligatpay to Harvard pursuant to our license agreen

* the costs of preparing, filing and prosecutiagent applications, maintaining and protectingiotellectual property rights and
defending against intellectual property relatedneta and

» the extent to which we -license or acquire other products and technolo

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to patockholders, restrict our operations or requits to relinquish rights to our
technologies or product candidates.

Currently, our only external source of funds isdimy under subcontracts and a subaward awardesiltg CUBRC pursuant to
government contracts from BARDA and NIAID and argricom NIAID. Although the BARDA contract, and osubcontract with CUBRC
under the BARDA contract, have fiwear terms, BARDA is entitled to terminate the pabjfor convenience at any time, and is not obdidat
provide continued funding beyond current-year an®fnom Congressionally approved annual approjmagti To the extent that BARDA
ceases to provide funding of the program to CUBRGBRC has the right to cease providing fundinggo@ommitted funding from CUBRC
under our BARDA subcontract is $31.0 million frohetinitial contract date through September 9, 2016hich $16.4 million had been
received through December 31, 2014.

Similarly, although the NIAID contract and our sobtract with CUBRC under the NIAID contract haveefiyear terms, NIAID is
entitled to terminate the project for convenientcargy time, and is not obligated to provide contididunding beyond September 30, 2016. To
the extent NIAID ceases to provide funding of thegrams to CUBRC, CUBRC has the right to ceaseiginy funding to us. Committed
funding from CUBRC under our subcontract with redpe the NIAID contract is $8.3 million, of whicv.1 million had been received throt
December 31, 2014. In addition, although the NIAiant has a term of five years and our subawamd fE&JBRC has a term of 55 months,
NIAID is entitled to terminate the project for camience at any time, and is not obligated to pmwiontinued funding beyond May 30, 20
To the extent NIAID ceases to provide funding & gfrograms to CUBRC, CUBRC has the right to ceageiging funding to us. Committed
funding from CUBRC under our subaward with resged¢he NIAID grant is $0.8 million from the initigirant date through May 30, 2016, of
which $0.7 million had been received through Decendi, 2014.
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As a result, unless and until we can generate stantial amount of revenue from our product caneislave expect to finance our future
cash needs through public or private equity offggirdebt financings or collaborations and licensirgngements. In addition, we may seek
additional capital due to favorable market condisi@r strategic considerations, even if we belibet we have sufficient funds for our current
or future operating plans.

To the extent that we raise additional capital tigfothe sale of common stock, convertible secusritieother equity securities, the
ownership interest of our stockholders may be nedtgdiluted, and the terms of these securitiesl@¢dnclude liquidation or other preferences
and anti-dilution protections that could adversaffgct their rights. In addition, debt financinfavailable, would result in increased fixed
payment obligations and may involve agreementsitichide restrictive covenants that limit our alyilio take specific actions, such as
incurring additional debt, making capital expendisior declaring dividends, that could adverselydat our ability to conduct our business.
For example, our debt facility with Silicon Vall8ank and Oxford Finance contains restrictive comén¢hat, subject to certain exceptions,
prohibit us from transferring all or any part ofrdausiness or property, changing our businessidajing or dissolving, merging with or
acquiring another entity, entering into a trangacthat will result in a change of control, incagiadditional indebtedness, creating any lien ol
our property, paying dividends, entering into mialdransactions with affiliates, changing key mg&ment or adding new offices or business
locations. Future debt securities or other finag@rmrangements could contain similar or more retstg negative covenants. In addition,
securing additional financing would require a sabhsal amount of time and attention from our mamaget and may divert a disproportionate
amount of their attention away from day-to-day\atigs, which may adversely affect our managemeaititity to oversee the development of
our product candidates.

If we raise additional funds through collaboratiosisategic alliances or marketing, distributioricensing arrangements with third
parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rightsur technologies, future revenue streams orymchndidates or to grant licenses on term
that may not be favorable to us.

We have a limited operating history and no histayfycommercializing pharmaceutical products, whichay make it difficult to
evaluate the prospects for our future viability.

We began operations in the third quarter of 200&. @perations to date have been limited to finageind staffing our company,
developing our technology and developing eravangddind other product candidates. We have not yabdstrated an ability to obtain
marketing approval, manufacture a commercial sgadduct, or arrange for a third party to do so anleehalf, or conduct sales and marketing
activities necessary for successful product comiakzation. Consequently, predictions about ouufatsuccess or viability may not be as
accurate as they could be if we had a longer operatstory or a history of successfully developargl commercializing pharmaceutical
products.

Risks Related to Product Development and Commerciaiation

We are dependent on the success of our lead prodaadidate, eravacycline, and our ability to devel@btain marketing approval for
and successfully commercialize eravacycline. If are unable to develop, obtain marketing approvat fnd successfully commercialize
eravacycline or experience significant delays inig so, our business could be materially harmed.

We currently have no products approved for saleteawe invested a significant portion of our eff@itsl financial resources in the
development of eravacycline for use as a first-ingiric monotherapy for the treatment of multidregistant infections. Our prospects are
substantially dependent on our ability to devetdgain marketing approval for and successfully caruialize eravacycline. The success of
eravacycline will depend on several factors, intigdhe following:

» successful completion of clinical trial

» successful manufacturing of registration batcheseqgulatory filings for eravacyclin
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» timely filing for and receipt of marketing approsdtom applicable regulatory authoritit

» establishment of arrangements with t-party manufacturers to obtain manufacturing sug

« obtainment and maintenance of patent and tradetsamtection and regulatory exclusivi

» protection of our rights in our intellectual propeportfolio;

« commercial launch of eravacycline, if and when appd, whether alone or in collaboration with oth

» acceptance of eravacycline, if and when approvegaltients, the medical community and t-party payors
e competition with other therapies; a

e acontinued acceptable safety profile of eravangdollowing approval

Successful development of eravacycline for additiamdications, including hospital-acquired backgneumonias and other serious anc
life-threatening infections, will be subject to igesame risks.

If we are unable to develop, receive marketing eygirfor, or successfully commercialize eravacyelior experience delays as a resu
any of these matters or otherwise, our busineskl ctmaterially harmed.

If clinical trials of eravacycline or of any otheproduct candidate that we advance to clinical tsdiil to demonstrate safety and
efficacy to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparatforeign regulatory authorities or do not otherge produce favorable results, we may
incur additional costs or experience delays in caeting, or ultimately be unable to complete, theveéopment and commercialization of
eravacycline or any other product candidate.

We are not permitted to commercialize, market, pr@nor sell any product candidate in the Uniteateét without obtaining marketing
approval from the FDA or in other countries withobitaining approvals from comparable foreign remuaauthorities, such as the EMA, and
we may never receive such approvals. We must camplgensive preclinical development and clinicial$ to demonstrate the safety and
efficacy of our product candidates in humans befezenill be able to obtain these approvals. Clihieating is expensive, difficult to design
and implement, can take many years to completésaintierently uncertain as to outcome. We havepr@tiously submitted an NDA to the
FDA or similar drug approval filings to comparalideeign regulatory authorities for any of our pretinandidates.

The clinical development of eravacycline and ofireduct candidates is susceptible to the risk iif@inherent at any stage of drug
development, including failure to achieve efficatya trial or across a broad population of patigetiits occurrence of severe adverse events,
failure to comply with protocols or applicable régfory requirements, and determination by the FDAmy comparable foreign regulatory
authority that a drug product is not approvables ©htcome of preclinical studies and early clinicialls may not be predictive of the succes
later clinical trials, and interim results of arttial trial do not necessarily predict final resuFor example, although eravacycline achieved
favorable results in the lead-in part of our Ph&sénical trial in cUTI, we may nonetheless faildchieve success in our Phase 3 clinical trial
for eravacycline for the treatment of cUTI.

In addition, preclinical and clinical data are oftusceptible to varying interpretations and aredyMany companies that believed their
product candidates performed satisfactorily in finézal studies and clinical trials have nonethsl&sled to obtain marketing approval for the
product candidates. Even if we believe that thaltesf our clinical trials warrant marketing appad the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities may disagree and may nattgrearketing approval of our product candidates.

In some instances, there can be significant vditiaim safety and/or efficacy results between gliént trials of the same product candi
due to numerous factors, including changes in priatedures set forth in
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protocols, differences in the size and type ofgthtent populations, adherence to the dosing reagiamel other trial protocols and the rate of
dropout among clinical trial participants. In trese of our clinical trials, results may differ dretbasis of the type of bacteria with which
patients are infected. We cannot be certain thaPdrase 2, Phase 3 or other clinical trials thamag conduct will demonstrate consistent or
adequate efficacy and safety to obtain regulatppr@val to market our product candidates.

We may experience numerous unforeseen events dorig a result of, clinical trials that couldaebr prevent us from obtaining
regulatory approval for eravacycline or any of otlrer product candidates, including:
« clinical trials of our product candidates may proeluinfavorable or inconclusive resu
* we may decide, or regulators may require us, taleonadditional clinical trials or abandon proddevelopment program

» the number of patients required for clinicéls of our product candidates may be larger tharamticipate, enroliment in these
clinical trials may be slower than we anticipatgarticipants may drop out of these clinical trialsa higher rate than we anticipe

» our third-party contractors, including thosematacturing our product candidates or conductimgjedl trials on our behalf, may fail
to comply with regulatory requirements or meetititentractual obligations to us in a timely manmerat all;

» regulators or institutional review boards may authorize us or our investigators to commenckn&al trial or conduct a clinical
trial at a prospective trial sit

* we may have delays in reaching or fail to reagreement on acceptable clinical trial contractslinical trial protocols with
prospective trial sites

e we may have to suspend or terminate clini¢alstiof our product candidates for various reasomdding a finding that the
participants are being exposed to unacceptabl¢hhesits, undesirable side effects or other unetqubcharacteristics of the prodi
candidate

» regulators or institutional review boards maguire that we or our investigators suspend oriteata clinical research for various
reasons, including noncompliance with regulatoguieements or a finding that the participants aiaf exposed to unacceptable
health risks, undesirable side effects or othexpeeted characteristics of the product candic

» the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory auities may fail to approve the manufacturing proesss facilities of third-party
manufacturers with which we enter into agreementlinical and commercial supplie

» the supply or quality of our product candidatesther materials necessary to conduct clinigalst of our product candidates may
be insufficient or inadequate; a

» the approval policies or regulations of the FBrAcomparable foreign regulatory authorities migpi§icantly change in a manner
rendering our clinical data insufficient for appai

If we are required to conduct additional cliniaddls or other testing of eravacycline, either imistravenous or oral dosage form, or any
other product candidate that we develop beyondrihls and testing that we contemplate, if we arahle to successfully complete clinical
trials of our product candidates or other testifhthe results of these trials or tests are unfakta or are only modestly favorable or if there are
safety concerns associated with eravacycline oother product candidates, we may:

* be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for product candidate:
e not obtain marketing approval at ¢

» obtain approval for indications or patient popwas that are not as broad as intended or de:
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» obtain approval with labeling that includesnsiigant use or distribution restrictions or sigo#nt safety warnings, including boxed
warnings;

* be subject to additional p-marketing testing or other requirements

« remove the product from the market after obtaimragketing approva

Our product development costs will also increaseeifexperience delays in testing or marketing apdsoand we may be required to
obtain additional funds to complete clinical tridlge cannot be certain that our clinical trialsl\wigin as planned or be completed on sche
if at all, or that we will not need to restructurer trials after they have begun. Significant dalitrial delays also could shorten any periods
during which we may have the exclusive right to avencialize our product candidates or allow our cetitprs to bring products to market
before we do and impair our ability to successfatlynmercialize our product candidates, which maynhaur business and results of
operations. In addition, many of the factors thatse, or lead to, clinical trial delays may ultistpiead to the denial of regulatory approval of
eravacycline or any other product candidate.

If we experience delays or difficulties in the endlment of patients in clinical trials, our receipdf necessary regulatory approvals cot
be delayed or prevented.

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinitélls for eravacycline or any other product caladé that we develop if we are unabl
locate and enroll a sufficient number of eligibkgipnts to participate in clinical trials for erayaline or such other product candidate as
required by the FDA or comparable foreign regubasthorities, such as the EMA. Patient enrollnigmt significant factor in the timing of
clinical trials, and is affected by many factorg;luding:

» the size and nature of the patient populat

» the severity of the disease under investigal

» the proximity of patients to clinical site

» the eligibility criteria for the trial

» the design of the clinical trial; ar

» competing clinical trials and clinicians’ andtients’ perceptions as to the potential advantagesisks of the drug being studied in

relation to other available therapies, including aew drugs that may be approved for the indicatioe are investigatin

The inclusion and exclusion criteria for our ongpPhase 3 clinical trial of eravacycline for theattment of cUTI may adversely affect
our enrolliment rates for patients in this trial.digbnally, if we enroll an insufficient number aficro-ITT patients in the trial, we will need to
enroll more patients than planned. In addition, ynainour competitors also have ongoing clinicalsifor product candidates that treat the
same indications as eravacycline, and patientswhdd otherwise be eligible for our clinical triaisay instead enroll in clinical trials of our
competitors’ product candidates.

Our inability to enroll a sufficient number of patits for our clinical trials would result in sigicéint delays or may require us to abandon
one or more clinical trials altogether. Enrollmedetays in our clinical trials may result in incredsievelopment costs for our product
candidates, slow down or halt our product develagraad approval process and jeopardize our albdigommence product sales and generat
revenues, which would cause the value of our compadecline and limit our ability to obtain additial financing if needed.
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Serious adverse events or undesirable side effectsther unexpected properties of eravacycline olyaother product candidate may |
identified during development or after approval,dbtained, that could delay, prevent or cause ththdrawal of the product candidates’
regulatory approval, limit the commercial profilef@n approved label, or result in significant negaé consequences following marketing
approval, if obtained.

Serious adverse events or undesirable side effaatsed by, or other unexpected properties of, mdyzt candidates could cause us, an
institutional review board, or regulatory auth@ito interrupt, delay or halt our clinical triaisd could result in a more restrictive label, the
imposition of distribution or use restrictions betdelay or denial of regulatory approval by theAF® comparable foreign regulatory
authorities. If eravacycline or any of our otheoguict candidates are associated with serious agle@ents or undesirable side effects or have
properties that are unexpected, we may need tadabaheir development or limit development to derteses or subpopulations in which the
undesirable side effects or other characteristiedess prevalent, less severe or more acceptalred risk-benefit perspective. Many
compounds that initially showed promise in clinioalarlier stage testing have later been fourthtse undesirable or unexpected side effec
that prevented further development of the compound.

In our clinical trials of eravacycline, some treatmirelated adverse events have been reportedndbecommon treatment-related
adverse events observed in clinical trials of ecggbne have been nausea and emesis. Addition&rae\events, undesirable side effects or
other unexpected properties of eravacycline orarur other product candidates could arise or tvecknown either during clinical
development or, if approved, after the approvedipcd has been marketed. If such an event occuisgddevelopment, our trials could be
suspended or terminated and the FDA or comparabdégh regulatory authorities could order us tosegfarther development of, or deny
approval of, eravacycline or our other product édaies. If such an event occurs after eravacydimgich other product candidates are
approved, a number of potentially significant negatonsequences may result, including:

» regulatory authorities may withdraw the approvasoéh product
» regulatory authorities may require additional wags on the label or impose distribution or useriegins;
e regulatory authorities may require one or morepasket studies
e we may be required to create a medication guidinmg the risks of such side effects for distriloutto patients
» we could be sued and held liable for harm causgatients; an
* our reputation may suffe
Any of these events could prevent us from achiewinmaintaining market acceptance of the affectedyct candidate, if approved, or

could substantially increase commercialization £astd expenses, which could delay or prevent us ff@nerating revenues from the sale of
our products and harm our business and resultparftions.

Even if eravacycline or any other product candidateat we develop receives marketing approval, itynfail to achieve the degree of
market acceptance by physicians, patients, thirakty payors and others in the medical communityceesary for commercial success and
market opportunity for eravacycline or other producandidates may be smaller than we estimate.

We have never commercialized a product candidatarfp indication. Even if eravacycline or any othevduct candidates that we
develop are approved by the appropriate regulatotiyorities for marketing and sale, they may nogless fail to gain sufficient market
acceptance by physicians, patients, third-partymagnd others in the medical community. Effortedacate the medical community and third
party payors on the benefits of our product cartd&lanay require significant resources and may adugecessful. If physicians, rightly or
wrongly, associate our product candidates withbéstic resistance issues of other products of the
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same class, physicians might not prescribe ourymtothndidates for treating a broad range of indest If eravacycline or any other product
candidate that we develop does not achieve an ateetpvel of market acceptance, we may not gensigiéficant product revenues and,
therefore, we may not become profitable. The degfeearket acceptance of eravacycline, if approeeny other product candidate that is
approved for commercial sale, will depend on a nemndb factors, including:

» the efficacy and safety of the produ

* the potential advantages of the product comparadtéonative treatment
» the prevalence and severity of any side effe

« the clinical indications for which the product jgpeioved,;

« limitations or warnings, including distributiam use restrictions, contained in the productisraped labeling or an approved risk
evaluation and mitigation stratec

* our ability to offer the product for sale at conipet prices;

* the product’s convenience and ease of admétiistr compared to alternative treatments, includimghe case of eravacycline, the
availability of the oral formulation that we arevééoping for use in intraveno-to-oral transition therapy

» the willingness of the target patient populatiotryo and of physicians to prescribe, the prod

» whether the product is designated under phasitieatment guidelines as a first-line therapga second- or third-line therapy for
particular infections

» the strength of marketing and distribution supg

« the approval of other new products for the sameaiohns;

» the timing of market introduction of our approvadgucts as well as competitive produt
» the cost of treatment in relation to alternativeatments

» availability and level of coverage and amourteimbursement from government payors, managesl gans and other third party
payors;

» the effectiveness of our sales and marketing eff
» adverse publicity about the product or favorablblisity about competitive products; a

» the development of resistance by bacterial striainke product

In addition, the potential market opportunity foaeacycline is difficult to estimate. Our estimatéshe potential market opportunity are
predicated on several key assumptions such astigdaswledge, third-party research reports an@&iogurveys. While we believe that our
internal assumptions are reasonable, these assumgjitivolve the exercise of significant judgmentiom part of our management, are
inherently uncertain and the reasonableness o thesumptions has not been assessed by an indepsadece. If any of the assumptions
proves to be inaccurate, then the actual markegrforacycline could be smaller than our estimatdiseopotential market opportunity. If the
actual market for eravacycline is smaller than wgeet, or if the product fails to achieve an adeglevel of acceptance by physicians, health
care payors and patients, our product revenue maynited and it may be more difficult for us tohéeve or maintain profitability.

If we are unable to establish sales, marketing adidtribution capabilities or enter into sales, marking and distribution agreements
with third parties, we may not be successful in amercializing eravacycline or such other product adidates that we develop if and when
eravacycline or any other product candidates arepeqved.

We do not have a sales, marketing or distributidrastructure and have no experience in the saeketing or distribution of
pharmaceutical products. To achieve commercialesscfor any approved product,
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we must either develop a sales and marketing azgdon or outsource these functions to third parti#e intend to develop and build a
commercial organization in the United States awduieexperienced sales, marketing and distribugimfessionals, which will require
substantial resources, will be tinmensuming and could delay any product launch.dfdbmmercial launch of a product candidate for Whie
recruit a sales force and establish marketing #stdlgltion capabilities is delayed or does notwdor any reason, we would have prematu
or unnecessarily incurred these commercializatasisc This may be costly, and our investment wbeldbst if we cannot retain or reposition
our sales and marketing personnel. In additionmag not be able to hire a sales force in the Urfitiedies that is sufficient in size or has
adequate expertise in the medical markets thahtead to target. If we are unable to establisHessarce and marketing and distribution
capabilities, our operating results may be advemsécted.

Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commerdalbur products on our own include:
» our inability to recruit and retain adequate nurshreffective sales and marketing person
« the ability of sales personnel to obtain access fwersuade adequate numbers of physicians torfiresny future product:

» the lack of complementary products to be offdrg sales personnel, which may put us at a cothgetlisadvantage relative to
companies with more extensive product lines;

» unforeseen costs and expenses associated witingraatindependent sales and marketing organiz:

We plan to commercialize eravacycline outside thédd States with the assistance of collaborasssa result of entering into
arrangements with third parties to perform salemrketing and distribution services, our produceraes or the profitability of these product
revenues to us may be lower than if we were tactlirenarket and sell products in those marketstieumore, we may be unsuccessful in
entering into the necessary arrangements with gharties or may be unable to do so on terms tleataaorable to us. In addition, we likely w
have little control over such third parties, angt ahthem may fail to devote the necessary resauacel attention to sell and market our
products effectively.

If we do not establish sales and marketing capasilsuccessfully, either on our own or in collaimn with third parties, we will not be
successful in commercializing our product candislate

We face substantial competition from other pharmaitieal and biotechnology companies and our operatiresults may suffer if we
fail to compete effectively

The development and commercialization of new dmagipcts is highly competitive. We face competitfoom major pharmaceutical
companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies emednnology companies worldwide with respect tavacycline and our other product
candidates that we may seek to develop or comniigecia the future. There are a number of largerplzeeutical and biotechnology
companies that currently market and sell products® pursuing the development of product candidfatiethe treatment of multidrug-resistant
infections. Potential competitors also include acait institutions, government agencies and othblipand private research organizations.
Our competitors may succeed in developing, acqyioinlicensing technologies and drug products @éinatmore effective or less costly than
eravacycline or any other product candidates tleatike currently developing or that we may develdgch could render our product
candidates obsolete or noncompetitive.

There are a variety of available therapies markf&tethe treatment of multidrug-resistant infecgahat we would expect would compete
with eravacycline, including meropenem, which igketed by AstraZzeneca as Merrem, imipenem/cilastathich is marketed by Merck as
Primaxin, tigecycline, which is marketed by PfiasrTygacil, levofloxacin, which is marketed by @rkcNeil and Johnson & Johnson as
Levaquin, piperacillin/tazobactam, which is markelby Pfizer as Zosyn and ceftolozane/tazobactarnghal marketed by Merck/
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Cubist as Zerbaxa. Many of the available therapiesvell established and widely accepted by phgsgipatients and third-party payors.
Insurers and other third-party payors may also erage the use of generic products. If eravacydtirspproved, it may be priced at a
significant premium over other competitive produdisis may make it difficult for eravacycline torapete with these products.

There are also a number of products either cugremitier FDA review or in Phase 3 development bydtharties to treat multidrug-
resistant infections, including ceftazidime/avilzawt which is being developed by Allergan Inc. arsirdZeneca plc, meropenem/RPX7009,
which is being developed by The Medicines Compang€arbavance, and plazomicin, which is being dgegldy Achaogen, Inc. If our
competitors obtain marketing approval from the F@¥Acomparable foreign regulatory authorities faithproduct candidates more rapidly tl
we do, it could result in our competitors estahbifigha strong market position before we are abknter the market.

Many of our competitors have significantly gredteancial resources and expertise in research amdldpment, manufacturing,
preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials,taming regulatory approvals and marketing apprguediucts than we do. Mergers and
acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnpladustries may result in even more resourcesgheimcentrated among a smaller number
of our competitors. Smaller and other early stagraganies may also prove to be significant compstifearticularly through collaborative
arrangements with large and established compahiese third parties compete with us in recruiting eetaining qualified scientific and
management personnel, establishing clinical titabsand patient registration for clinical triads, well as in acquiring technologies
complementary to, or necessary for, our programs.

In July 2012, the Food and Drug Administration 8and Innovation Act was passed, which included@gnerating Antibiotics
Incentives Now Act, or the GAIN Act. The GAIN At intended to provide incentives for the developnoémew, qualified infectious disease
products. These incentives may result in more coitigrein the market for new antibiotics, and mause pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies with more resources than we have totblgiit efforts towards the development of prodtietd could be competitive with
eravacycline and our other product candidates.

Even if we are able to commercialize eravacyclimeaay other product candidate that we develop, greduct may become subject to
unfavorable pricing regulations, third-party payaroverage and reimbursement policies or healthcagéorm initiatives that could harm our
business.

Marketing approvals, pricing, coverage and reimeomsnt for new drug products vary widely from coyritr country. Some countries
require approval of the sale price of a drug befiocan be marketed. In many countries, the pricexgew period begins after marketing or
product licensing approval is granted. In someiprenarkets, prescription pharmaceutical pricinmpa@s subject to continuing governmental
control even after initial approval is granted. aAgesult, we might obtain marketing approval f@raduct in a particular country, but then be
subject to price regulations that delay our commétaunch of the product, possibly for lengthy éiperiods, which may negatively impact the
revenues we are able to generate from the saleqdrbduct in that country. Adverse pricing limibats may hinder our ability to recoup our
investment in one or more product candidates, éwaur product candidates obtain marketing approval

Our ability to commercialize eravacycline or ankiertproduct candidate will depend in part on themixto which coverage and
reimbursement for these products and related tevaswill be available from government authoritiggyate health insurers, health
maintenance organizations and other tipiadty payors. The healthcare industry is acutetyi$ed on cost containment, both in the United §
and elsewhere. As a result, government authoatielsthirdparty payors have attempted to control costs bitiimcoverage and the amount
reimbursement for particular medications, whichldaffect our ability to sell our product candidaf@ofitably.

There may also be delays in obtaining coveragea@ntbursement for newly approved drugs, and cowenagy be more limited than the
indications for which the drug is approved by tti@Aor comparable foreign
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regulatory authorities. Increasingly, third-pargyprs are requiring higher levels of evidence eflirnefits and clinical outcomes of new
technologies and are challenging the prices chaidedeover, obtaining coverage does not imply #rat drug will be paid for in all cases ol

a rate that covers our costs, including resea¥eldpment, manufacture, sale and distributionorf®Rersement rates may vary, by way of
example, according to the use of the drug andlthigal setting in which it is used. Reimbursemeates may also be based in part on existing
reimbursement amounts for lower cost drugs or neagundled into the payments for other services.

We cannot be sure that coverage will be availalm@&favacycline or any other product candidate weatommercialize and, if available,
that the reimbursement rates will be adequatehEurthe net reimbursement for drug products masubgect to additional reductions if there
are changes to laws that presently restrict impafrtrugs from countries where they may be soldwer prices than in the United States. An
inability to promptly obtain coverage and adequmtgment rates from both government-funded and f&rigayors for any approved products
that we develop could have a material adverse teffeour operating results, our ability to raispital needed to commercialize products and
our overall financial condition.

Product liability lawsuits against us could divesur resources, cause us to incur substantial liatids and limit commercialization of
any products that we may develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liability clams a result of the clinical testing of our pradtandidates despite obtaining appropr
informed consents from our clinical trial participps. We will face an even greater risk if we comeradly sell eravacycline or any other proc
candidate that we develop. For example, we mayibd g any product we develop allegedly causesynju is found to be otherwise
unsuitable during clinical testing, manufacturintgrketing or sale. Any such product liability claimay include allegations of defects in
manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to wafrdangers inherent in the product, negligencetdiability or a breach of warranties. Clai
could also be asserted under state consumer postectts. If we cannot successfully defend ourseagainst product liability claims, we may
incur substantial liabilities or be required to iimommercialization of our product candidates. &etpss of the merits or eventual outcome,
liability claims may result in:

* reduced resources of our management to pursueusurdss strateg’

» decreased demand for our product candidates oupt®that we may develo

* injury to our reputation and significant negativedia attention

« withdrawal of clinical trial participant:

» initiation of investigations by regulatol

» product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketargpromotional restriction:

» significant costs to defend resulting litigatic

» substantial monetary awards to trial participamtpatients

* loss of revenue; ar

« the inability to commercialize any products thatiway develop

Although we maintain general liability insurance$@ million in the aggregate and clinical trialdiéty insurance of $6 million in the

aggregate for eravacycline, this insurance mayuilytcover potential liabilities that we may incurhe cost of any product liability litigation
or other proceeding, even if resolved in our fazoyld be substantial. We will need to increaseinsurance coverage if and when we begin
selling eravacycline or any other product candidladé receives marketing approval. In additionumasice coverage is becoming increasingly
expensive. If we are unable to obtain or maintafficent insurance coverage at an acceptableauist otherwise protect against potential

product liability claims, it could prevent or infiibthe development and commercial production amel sbour product candidates, which could
adversely affect our business, financial conditi@sults of operations and prospects.
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If we fail to comply with environmental, health ansafety laws and regulations, we could become scibje fines or penalties or incur
costs that could have a material adverse effectoom business.

We are subject to numerous environmental, healihsafety laws and regulations, including those guwng laboratory procedures and
the handling, use, storage, treatment and dispdselzardous materials and wastes. From time te &nd in the future, our operations may
involve the use of hazardous and flammable matgiiiatiuding chemicals and biological materials] amy also produce hazardous waste
products. Even if we contract with third parties tive disposal of these materials and wastes, weota&ompletely eliminate the risk of
contamination or injury resulting from these matksi In the event of contamination or injury resgtfrom our use of hazardous materials, we
could be held liable for any resulting damages, amgliability could exceed our resources. We alsald incur significant costs associated
with civil or criminal fines and penalties for faik to comply with such laws and regulations.

We maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cagdor costs and expenses we may incur due woiésjto our employees resulting
from the use of hazardous materials, but this mste may not provide adequate coverage againsitiadtéabilities. However, we do not
maintain insurance for environmental liability oxic tort claims that may be asserted against us.

In addition, we may incur substantial costs in otdecomply with current or future environmentatalth and safety laws and regulations
Current or future environmental laws and regulatioray impair our research, development or prodadaféorts, which could adversely affect
our business, financial condition, results of ofiers or prospects. In addition, failure to compligh these laws and regulations may result in
substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We expect to depend on collaborations with thirdies for the development and commercializationsaime of our product candidate
Our prospects with respect to those product cantédawill depend in part on the success of thosdatmirations.

Although we expect to commercialize eravacyclineselves in the United States, we intend to seaotomercialize eravacycline outs
the United States through collaboration arrangeméntaddition, we may seek thighrty collaborators for development and commerzadilon
of other product candidates. Our likely collaboratfmr any marketing, distribution, developmentehising or broader collaboration
arrangements include large and mid-size pharmaagutbmpanies, regional and national pharmaceutmalpanies and biotechnology
companies. We are not currently party to any sucdngements.

We may derive revenue from research and developfeest license fees, milestone payments and regaltider any collaborative
arrangement into which we enter. Our ability tograte revenues from these arrangements will depermdir collaborators’ abilities to
successfully perform the functions assigned to tirethese arrangements. In addition, our collalmssatay have the right to abandon researc
or development projects and terminate applicabteeagents, including funding obligations, prior toupon the expiration of the agreed upon
terms. As a result, we can expect to relinquishesomall of the control over the future succesa pfoduct candidate that we license to a third

party.
Collaborations involving our product candidates rpage a number of risks, including the following:
» collaborators have significant discretion in detiging the efforts and resources that they will ggplthese collaboration
» collaborators may not perform their obligationseapected or in compliance with applicable regulatequirements

» collaborators may not pursue development ameheercialization of our product candidates or macehot to continue or renew
development or commercialization programs basedlinital trial
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results, changes in the collaborators’ strategici$oor available funding, or external factors, saskan acquisition, that divert
resources or create competing priorit

collaborators may delay clinical trials, proishsufficient funding for a clinical trial prograrstop a clinical trial or abandon a
product candidate, repeat or conduct new clinigallst or require a new formulation of a productdidate for clinical testinc

product candidates discovered in collaboratith us may be viewed by our collaborators as cditipe with their own product
candidates or products, which may cause collabr#bocease to devote resources to the commeatializof our product
candidates

a collaborator with marketing and distributidghts to one or more products may not commit sidfit resources to the marketing
and distribution of such product or produr

disagreements with collaborators, includingadieements over proprietary rights, contract imegggion or the preferred course of
development, might cause delays or terminatiomefresearch, development or commercialization edyet candidates, might le
to additional responsibilities for us with resperproduct candidates, or might result in litigatiar arbitration, any of which would
be time-consuming and expensiv

collaborators may not properly maintain or defeur intellectual property rights or may use praprietary information in such a
way as to invite litigation that could jeopardizeimvalidate our intellectual property or proprigténformation or expose us to
potential litigation;

collaborators may infringe the intellectual peoty rights of third parties, which may exposeaibtigation and potential liability;
and

collaborations may be terminated and, if teateéd, may result in a need for additional capdgiursue further development or
commercialization of the applicable product cantfid:

Collaboration agreements may not lead to developerecommercialization of product candidates inrest efficient manner or at all.
a collaborator of ours is involved in a businessibmation, it could decide to delay, diminish amténate the development or
commercialization of any product candidate licenseid by us.

We may have to alter our development and commeizéion plans if we are not able to establish cdit@ations.

We will require additional funds to complete therélepment and potential commercialization of ergetine and our other product
candidates. For some of our product candidatesnaedecide to collaborate with pharmaceutical antebhnology companies for the
development and potential commercialization of ¢hpoduct candidates. For example, we intend tizeith variety of types of collaboration
arrangements for commercialization outside the édh§tates.

We face significant competition in seeking appraricollaborators. Whether we reach a definitiveagent for a collaboration will
depend, among other things, upon our assessm#éme obllaborator’s resources and expertise, tegemnd conditions of the proposed
collaboration and the proposed collaborator’s eatédun of a number of factors. Those factors majuihe:

the design or results of clinical tria

the likelihood of approval by the FDA or comparafueeign regulatory authoritie

the potential market for the subject product caaiir

the costs and complexities of manufacturing antveehg such product candidate to patiel

the potential for competing produc
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* our patent position protecting the product dédaie, including any uncertainty with respect to ownership of our technology or
our licensor’s ownership of technology we licenserf them, which can exist if there is a challergsuch ownership without
regard to the merits of the challen

» the need to seek licenses or-licenses to thir-party intellectual property; ar

» industry and market conditions genera

The collaborator may also consider alternative pecbdandidates or technologies for similar indimasi that may be available for
collaboration and whether such collaboration cdiidnore attractive than the one with us for oudpob candidate. We may also be restricted
under future license agreements from enteringagr@ements on certain terms with potential collatwos. In addition, there have been a
significant number of recent business combinatemeng large pharmaceutical companies that havétedsn a reduced number of potential
future collaborators.

If we are unable to reach agreements with suiteblleborators on a timely basis, on acceptablegsganat all, we may have to curtail 1
development of a product candidate, reduce or dedajevelopment program or one or more of our dleelopment programs, delay its
potential commercialization or reduce the scopamyfsales or marketing activities, or increaseesypenditures and undertake development o
commercialization activities at our own expensavédfelect to fund and undertake development or ceroiaization activities on our own, we
may need to obtain additional expertise and aduiticapital, which may not be available to us oreatable terms or at all. If we fail to enter
into collaborations and do not have sufficient faiod expertise to undertake the necessary develupaned commercialization activities, we
may not be able to further develop our product @atds or bring them to market and our businesslmeayaterially and adversely affected.

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinicalitds. If they do not perform satisfactorily, our lminess may be materially harmed.

We do not independently conduct clinical trialseodivacycline. We rely on third parties, such adreat research organizations, clinical
data management organizations, medical institutiamsclinical investigators, to conduct our clinig@ls for eravacycline and expect to rely
on these third parties to conduct clinical trigisoy other product candidate that we develop. ginhese third parties may terminate their
engagements with us at any time. If we need tor émtie alternative arrangements, it would delay praduct development activities.

Our reliance on these third parties for clinical@lepment activities limits our control over thessivities but we remain responsible for
ensuring that each of our studies is conducteddéoraance with the applicable protocol, legal, tatpuy and scientific standards. For example
notwithstanding the obligations of a contract rese@rganization for a trial of one of our prodaahdidates, we remain responsible for
ensuring that each of our clinical trials is congddcin accordance with the general investigatigieah and protocols for the trial. Moreover, the
FDA requires us to comply with standards, commaaferred to as current Good Clinical Practices;@®€Ps, for conducting, recording and
reporting the results of clinical trials to assthrat data and reported results are credible angraiecand that the rights, integrity and
confidentiality of trial participants are protect@the FDA enforces these cGCPs through periodjgeicisons of trial sponsors, principal
investigators, clinical trial sites and institutadmeview boards. If we or our third party contastfail to comply with applicable cGCPs, the
clinical data generated in our clinical trials ntesydeemed unreliable and the FDA may require petform additional clinical trials before
approving our product candidates, which would défesyregulatory approval process. We cannot baicetttat, upon inspection, the FDA will
determine that any of our clinical trials complyttveGCPs. We are also required to register clinitals and post the results of completed
clinical trials on a government-sponsored datab@BmicalTrials.gov, within certain timeframes. kae to do so can result in fines, adverse
publicity and civil and criminal sanctions.

Furthermore, the third parties conducting clinicills on our behalf are not our employees, an@jeixfor remedies available to us under
our agreements with such contractors, we canndtaomhether or not they devote sufficient time aadources to our ongoing development
programs. These contractors may also have
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relationships with other commercial entities, irthg our competitors, for whom they may also bedumting clinical trials or other drug
development activities, which could impede theitighto devote appropriate time to our clinicabgrams. If these third parties do not
successfully carry out their contractual dutiesehexpected deadlines or conduct our clinicaldrialaccordance with regulatory requirements
or our stated protocols, we may not be able toioptet may be delayed in obtaining, marketing appl®for our product candidates. If that
occurs, we will not be able to, or may be delayedur efforts to, successfully commercialize owdurct candidates. In such an event, our
financial results and the commercial prospect®favacycline or any other product candidates tleaseek to develop could be harmed, our
costs could increase and our ability to generatemees could be delayed, impaired or foreclosed.

We also rely on other third parties to store arsdritiute drug supplies for our clinical trials. Apgrformance failure on the part of our
distributors could delay clinical development orrk&ting approval of our product candidates or comuiaézation of any resulting products,
producing additional losses and depriving us oéptél product revenue.

We contract with third parties for the manufacturef eravacycline for clinical trials and expect t@ntinue to do so in connection with
the commercialization of eravacycline and for claal trials and commercialization of any other prodticandidates that we develop. This
reliance on third parties increases the risk thaewvill not have sufficient quantities of our prodticandidates or such quantities at an
acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or innpair development or commercialization efforts.

We do not currently have nor do we plan to builg ititernal infrastructure or capability to manutaeteravacycline or our other product
candidates for use in the conduct of our clinidalg or for commercial supply. We currently rely and expect to continue to rely on third-
party contract manufacturers to manufacture clirsgogplies of eravacycline and our other producdidates, and we expect to rely on third
party contract manufacturers to manufacture regjistn batches and commercial quantities of anyyebdandidate that we commercialize
following approval for marketing by applicable réapory authorities. Reliance on third-party mantifiaers entails risks, including:

* delays in the manufacture of our registratiatches and commercial supply if our third-party ofanturers give greater priority to
the supply of other products over our product caaigis or otherwise do not satisfactorily performoading to the terms of the
agreement between t

» the possible termination or nonrenewal of the agese by the third party at a time that is costlyrmonvenient for us
» the possible breach of the manufacturing agreemmettte third party
» the failure of the thir-party manufacturer to comply with applicable re¢ua requirements; an

» the possible misappropriation of our proprietafpimation, including our trade secrets iknow-how.

We currently rely on a small number of third-pactntract manufacturers for all of our required raaterials, drug substance and
finished product for our preclinical research atidical trials. We do not have long-term agreemamith any of these third parties. We also do
not have any current contractual relationshipgsdermanufacture of commercial supplies of any efather product candidates. If any of our
existing manufacturers should become unavailabiestfor any reason, we may incur some delay intify@mg or qualifying replacements.

If any of our product candidates are approved lyyragulatory agency, we intend to enter into age@siwith third-party contract
manufacturers for the commercial production of ¢hpsoducts. This process is difficult and time eaonigg and we may face competition for
access to manufacturing facilities as there ammiéeld number of contract manufacturers operatindes cGMPs that are capable of
manufacturing our product candidates. Consequentymay not be able to reach agreement with thartlypmanufacturers on satisfactory
terms, which could delay our commercialization.
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Third-party manufacturers are required to complihwiGMPs and similar regulatory requirements oetsice United States. Facilities
used by our third-party manufacturers must be ictgueby the FDA after we submit an NDA and befaseeptial approval of the product
candidate. Similar regulations apply to manufacticé our product candidates for use or sale igifpr countries. We do not control the
manufacturing process and are completely depermteatir third-party manufacturers for compliancewiite applicable regulatory
requirements for the manufacture of our producti@ates. If our manufacturers cannot successfullpufacture material that conforms to the
strict regulatory requirements of the FDA and apgle&able foreign regulatory authority, they withtnbe able to secure the applicable approve
for their manufacturing facilities. If these fatidis are not approved for commercial manufactueemway need to find alternative manufactu
facilities, which could result in delays in obtaigiapproval for the applicable product candidateaddition, our manufacturers are subject to
ongoing periodic unannounced inspections by the D& corresponding state and foreign agenciesofmptiance with cGMPs and similar
regulatory requirements. Failure by any of our nfacturers to comply with applicable cGMPs or otteggulatory requirements could result in
sanctions being imposed on us or the contract naatwer, including fines, injunctions, civil pena#, delays, suspensions or withdrawals of
approvals, operating restrictions, interruptionsupply and criminal prosecutions, any of whichldaignificantly and adversely affect
supplies of our product candidates and have a rmbégtverse impact on our business, financial dovland results of operations.

Our current and anticipated future dependence oftuers for the manufacture of eravacycline andahgr product candidate that we
develop may adversely affect our future profit niesgand our ability to commercialize any produbtst receive marketing approval on a
timely and competitive basis.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agements under which we in-license or acquire d®grhent or commercialization
rights to products or technology from third partiesre could lose commercial rights that are importao our business.

We are a party to a license agreement with Hartreatlimposes, and we may enter into additionalegsnts, including license
agreements, with other parties in the future thitase, diligence, development and commercializdtioalines, milestone payment, royalty,
insurance and other obligations on us. For instamoger our license agreement with Harvard, weohhgated to satisfy diligence
requirements, including using commercially reas¢malfforts to develop and commercialize licensethpounds and to implement a specified
development plan, meeting specified developmergstohes and providing an update on progress onrarahbasis. If we fail to comply with
these obligations, our counterparties may haveitfi to terminate these agreements, in which ewentight not be able to develop,
manufacture or market any product that is covesethbse agreements, which could materially adveaibct the value of the product
candidate being developed under any such agreefamtination of these agreements or reductioniorieation of our rights under these
agreements may result in our having to negotiate arereinstated agreements with less favorablegeamcause us to lose our rights under
these agreements, including our rights to impoiitaetiectual property or technology.

Our reliance on government funding for certain ofun programs adds uncertainty to our research andhtmercialization efforts with
respect to those programs and may impose requiretmiéimat increase the costs of commercialization grdduction of product candidates
developed under those government-funded programs.

Our development of eravacycline for the treatmémtisease caused by bacterial biothreat pathogahsertain life-threatening
multidrug-resistant bacteria is currently beingdad through a subcontract with funding from BARD#addition, our development of TP~1
is being funded through a subcontract and grarawald with funding from the NI’ NIAID division. Contracts and grants funded bg thS.
government and its agencies, including our agre&rfanded by BARDA and NIAID, include provisionsatireflect the government’s
substantial rights and remedies, many of whichateypically found in commercial contracts, indiugl powers of the government to:

» terminate agreements, in whole or in part, for @ason or no reaso
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* reduce or modify the governmr's obligations under such agreements without theermrof the other part
» claim rights, including intellectual property righin products and data developed under such agrésj
« audit contrac-related costs and fees, including allocated inticests;

» suspend the contractor or grantee from recgimigw contracts pending resolution of alleged vioktes of procurement laws or
regulations

» impose U.S. manufacturing requirements for potsl that embody inventions conceived or first oedito practice under such
agreements

» suspend or debar the contractor or grantee fromgduoiture business with the governme
» control and potentially prohibit the export of prmds;

» pursue criminal or civil remedies under theseaClaims Act, False Statements Act and similaenprovisions specific to
government agreements; &

« limit the government’s financial liability tan@ounts appropriated by the U.S. Congress on ajga basis, thereby leaving some
uncertainty about the future availability of fundifor a program even after it has been fundedridngial period.

We may not have the right to prohibit the U.S. gawgent from using certain technologies developeddyand we may not be able to
prohibit third party companies, including our cortifpes, from using those technologies in providprgducts and services to the U.S.
government. The U.S. government generally takepdiséion that it has the right to royalty-free uddechnologies that are developed under
U.S. government contracts.

In addition, government contracts and grants, amd@ntracts and subawards awarded in the perfomnafritiose contracts and grants,
normally contain additional requirements that magréase our costs of doing business, reduce ofitspi@nd expose us to liability for failure
to comply with these terms and conditions. Thegairements include, for example:

» specialized accounting systems unique to governgmntacts and grant

* mandatory financial audits and potential lispifor price adjustments or recoupment of governtriands after such funds have
been spent

* public disclosures of certain contract and gmaformation, which may enable competitors to gasights into our research
program; anc

* mandatory socioeconomic compliance requiremémttuding labor standards, non-discrimination affiimative action programs
and environmental compliance requireme

As an organization, we are relatively new to gowsent contracting and new to the regulatory compkambligations that such
contracting entails. If we fail to maintain compice with those obligations, we may be subject temtal liability and to termination of our
contracts.

As a U.S. government contractor, we are subjefithémcial audits and other reviews by the U.S. goreent of our costs and performa
on their contracts, as well as our accounting aetal business practices related to these costiBased on the results of its audits, the
government may adjust our contract-related cosisees, including allocated indirect costs. Althbwagljustments arising from government
audits and reviews have not had a material adeffset on our financial condition or results of og#ns in the past, we cannot be certain tha
future audits and reviews will not have those d@ffec
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficiematent protection for our technology or our productndidates, or if the scope of the
patent protection is not sufficiently broad, our opetitors could develop and commercialtechnology and products similar or identical to
ours, and our ability to successfully commercialiaar technology and product candidates may be adedy affected.

Our success depends in large part on our abiligbtain and maintain patent protection in the WhiB¢ates and other countries with
respect to our proprietary chemistry technology pradiuct candidates. If we do not adequately ptaiecintellectual property, competitors
may be able to use our technologies and erodegat@@ny competitive advantage we may have, whaakdcharm our business and ability to
achieve profitability. To protect our proprietarggition, we file patent applications in the Unitethtes and abroad related to our novel
technologies and product candidates that are impbtd our business. The patent application andoappprocess is expensive and time
consuming. We may not be able to file and proseglliteecessary or desirable patent applicatiosraasonable cost or in a timely manner
may also fail to identify patentable aspects of msearch and development before it is too latétain patent protection.

Under our license agreement with Harvard, Harvatdins the right to prosecute and maintain spetHiarvard patents and patent
applications in the field of tetracycline chemistighich are exclusively licensed to us under theagent. Moreover, if we license technology
or product candidates from third parties in thaifaf those licensors may retain the right to proseaenaintain and enforce the patent rights
they license to us with or without our involvemeBécause control of prosecution and maintenands wath Harvard, and prosecution,
maintenance and enforcement could rest with futoeasors, we cannot be certain that these in-$iedrpatents and applications will be
prosecuted, maintained and enforced in a manneistent with the best interests of our businesdalfvard fails to prosecute or maintain, or
future licensors fail to prosecute, maintain oroecé, those patents necessary for any of our ptadundidates, our ability to develop and
commercialize those product candidates may be adiyeaffected and we may not be able to prevenpetitors from making and selling
competing products.

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmacalutompanies generally is highly uncertain. Nasistent policy regarding the
breadth of claims allowed in biotechnology and phereutical patents has emerged to date in the dUSii@tes or in many foreign jurisdictiol
In addition, the determination of patent rightshai¢spect to pharmaceutical compounds and techieslagmmonly involves complex legal
and factual questions, which has in recent yeags bi®e subject of much litigation. As a result, ife®iance, scope, validity, enforceability and
commercial value of our patent rights are highlgentain. Furthermore, recent changes in patentilawse United States, including the
America Invents Act of 2011, may affect the scagirength and enforceability of our patent rightsher nature of proceedings which may be
brought by us related to our patent rights.

Our pending and future patent applications mayresilt in patents being issued that protect ourrtelogy or product candidates, in
whole or in part, or that effectively prevent othénom commercializing competitive technologies anaducts. Changes in either the patent
laws or interpretation of the patent laws in thateih States and other countries may diminish tteevaf our patents or narrow the scope of
patent protection.

As a result of the America Invents Act of 2011, thaited States transitioned to a first-inventorfite-system in March 2013, under
which, assuming the other requirements for patdlitiabre met, the first inventor to file a patepplication is entitled to the patent. However,
as a result of the lag in the publication of pagglications following filing in the United Statese are not be able to be certain upon filing
we are the first to file for patent protection &ory invention. Moreover, we may be subject to edtparty preissuance submission of prior art t
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or becomelwad in opposition, derivation, reexaminatiamer partesreview or interference
proceedings, in the United States or elsewherdlectging our patent rights or the patent rightetbfers. An adverse determination in any suct
submission, proceeding or litigation could reduee scope of or invalidate our patent rights, althird parties to commercialize our
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technology or product candidates and compete tliredth us, without payment to us, or result in auability to manufacture or commerciali
products without infringing third-party patent righ

Even if our patent applications issue as patehéy, may not issue in a form that will provide ushaany meaningful protection, prevent
competitors from competing with us or otherwisevie us with any competitive advantage. Our contgestimay be able to circumvent our
owned or licensed patents by developing similaltrnative technologies or products in a muininging manner. Our competitors may see
market generic versions of any approved productsuinynitting Abbreviated New Drug Applications t@tRDA in which they claim that
patents owned or licensed by us are invalid, urreefitble and/or not infringed. Alternatively, ounggetitors may seek approval to market t
own products similar to or otherwise competitivéhaour products. In these circumstances, we mag teedefend and/or assert our patents,
including by filing lawsuits alleging patent infgement. In any of these types of proceedings, & cowther agency with jurisdiction may find
our patents invalid and/or unenforceable. Evendfhave valid and enforceable patents, these pagtlhitmay not provide protection against
competing products or processes sufficient to aehéeir business objectives.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive astovientorship, scope, validity or enforceabiléyd our owned and licensed patents may
be challenged in the courts or patent offices eimited States and abroad. Such challenges maly ire$oss of exclusivity or freedom to
operate or in patent claims being narrowed, in@adid or held unenforceable, in whole or in particiwitould limit our ability to stop others
from using or commercializing similar or identicathnology and products, or limit the durationtod patent protection of our technology and
products. In addition, given the amount of timeuieed for the development, testing and regulatemaw of new product candidates, patents
protecting such candidates might expire beforehorty after such candidates are commercialized.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect ofoece our patents or other intellectual propertyhiech could be expensive, time
consuming and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents, trademar&pydghts or other intellectual property, or thageur licensors. To counter
infringement or unauthorized use, we may be reduifile infringement claims, which can be expeasind time consuming and divert the
time and attention of our management and sciergéisonnel. Any claims we assert against percaifedgers could provoke these parties to
assert counterclaims against us alleging that Wwimge their patents. In addition, in a patentimfiement proceeding, there is a risk that a cou
will decide that a patent of ours is invalid or ofegceable, in whole or in part, and that we dohote the right to stop the other party from
using the invention at issue. There is also attigk, even if the validity of such patents is uphéhe court will construe the patent’s claims
narrowly or decide that we do not have the rigtgtap the other party from using the inventiorsatie on the grounds that our patents do not
cover the invention. An adverse outcome in a ltt@yaor proceeding involving our patents could limir ability to assert our patents against
those parties or other competitors, and may custgireclude our ability to exclude third partiesrth making and selling similar or competitive
products. Any of these occurrences could adversfédgt our competitive business position, businmEsspects and financial condition.
Similarly, if we assert trademark infringement oiaj a court may determine that the marks we heasert@sl are invalid or unenforceable, or
that the party against whom we have asserted tradeimfringement has superior rights to the markguestion. In this case, we could
ultimately be forced to cease use of such tradesnark

In any infringement litigation, any award of mongtdamages we receive may not be commercially \ddudurthermore, because of-
substantial amount of discovery required in corninactith intellectual property litigation, thereasrisk that some of our confidential
information could be compromised by disclosure mytitigation. Moreover, there can be no assurdahaewe will have sufficient financial or
other resources to file and pursue such infringérolams, which typically last for years beforerare concluded. Even if we ultimately
prevail in such claims, the monetary cost of sitigpeltion and the diversion of the attention of sueinagement and scientific personnel could
outweigh any benefit we receive as a result ofptloeeedings.
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If we are sued for infringing intellectual propertyights of third parties, such litigation could beostly and time consuming and could
prevent or delay us from developing or commerciadiz our product candidates

Our commercial success depends, in part, on olityaoi develop, manufacture, market and sell cnadpict candidates and use our
proprietary chemistry technology without infringitite intellectual property and other proprietaghts of third parties. Numerous third-party
U.S. and non-U.S. issued patents and pending apiplis exist in the area of antibacterial treatmieictuding compounds, formulations,
treatment methods and synthetic processes thabmapplied towards the synthesis of antibioticanly of their patents or patent applications
cover our product candidates or technologies, wg ma& be free to manufacture or market our prodaadidates as planned.

There is a substantial amount of intellectual propitigation in the biotechnology and pharmaceatiindustries, and we may become
party to, or threatened with, litigation or othelvarsarial proceedings regarding intellectual priypeghts with respect to our technology or
products candidates, including interference proicemscbefore the U.S. Patent and Trademark OffibérdTparties may assert infringement
claims against us based on existing or futurelgd®lal property rights. The outcome of intelle¢im@perty litigation is subject to uncertaint
that cannot be adequately quantified in advance.pfarmaceutical and biotechnology industries Ipawduced a significant number of
patents, and it may not always be clear to indysaryicipants, including us, which patents covaiows types of products or methods of use.
The coverage of patents is subject to interprataiiothe courts, and the interpretation is not gbuaniform. If we are sued for patent
infringement, we would need to demonstrate thatppaduct candidates, products or methods eitherodinfringe the patent claims of the
relevant patent or that the patent claims are idyahd we may not be able to do this. Proving lidit is difficult. For example, in the United
States, proving invalidity requires a showing @&asland convincing evidence to overcome the preBampf validity enjoyed by issued
patents. Even if we are successful in these pracgedwe may incur substantial costs and the tintkadtention of our management and
scientific personnel could be diverted in pursuimgse proceedings, which could have a materialragwaffect on us. In addition, we may not
have sufficient resources to bring these actiorsssoccessful conclusion.

If we are found to infringe a third party’s intadteal property rights, we could be forced, inclgdby court order, to cease developing,
manufacturing or commercializing the infringing guzt candidate or product. Alternatively, we mayréguired to obtain a license from such
third party in order to use the infringing techrmptaand continue developing, manufacturing or mankethe infringing product candidate.
However, we may not be able to obtain any requiceshse on commercially reasonable terms or aE&kn if we were able to obtain a licer
it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our cotitpes access to the same technologies licensed.tm addition, we could be found liable
for monetary damages, including treble damagesattndheys’ fees if we are found to have willfullyfiinged a patent. A finding of
infringement could prevent us from commercializong product candidates or force us to cease soroardjusiness operations, which could
materially harm our business. Claims that we haisappropriated the confidential information or &agkcrets of third parties could have a
similar negative impact on our business.

We may be subject to claims that we or our emplaylegve misappropriated the intellectual propertyathird party, or claiming
ownership of what we regard as our own intellectyabperty.

Many of our employees were previously employednatersities or other biotechnology or pharmaceulitoampanies, including our
competitors or potential competitors. Although wetb ensure that our employees do not use thédateal property and other proprietary
information or know-how of others in their work fas, we may be subject to claims that we or thega@yees have used or disclosed such
intellectual property or other proprietary inforrioat Litigation may be necessary to defend agahese claims.

In addition, while we typically require our empl@g consultants and contractors who may be invdlvéite development of intellectual
property to execute agreements assigning sucheiatieal property to us, we may be unsuccessfuk@teting such an agreement with each
party who in fact develops intellectual propertgtth
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we regard as our own. Moreover, because we hasedad intellectual property from Harvard, we mest on Harvard's practices with regard
to the assignment of intellectual property to . the extent we or Harvard have failed to obtaithsassignments or such assignments are
breached, we may be forced to bring claims agdhirst parties, or defend claims they may bring aghiis, to determine the ownership of w
we regard as our intellectual property. If we faiprosecuting or defending any such claims, intamtto paying monetary damages, we may
lose valuable intellectual property rights or parsal. Even if we are successful in prosecutingedfending against such claims, litigation could
result in substantial costs and be a distractiavutananagement and scientific personnel.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality olur trade secrets, the value of our technology abble materially adversely affected
and our business would be harmed.

In addition to seeking patents for some of our tedbgy and products, we also rely on trade sedmtkjding unpatented know-how,
technology and other proprietary information, ieldag to develop and maintain a competitive posite seek to protect these trade secrets
in part, by entering into non-disclosure and coatfiiiblity agreements with parties who have acae#isem, such as our consultants,
independent contractors, advisors, corporate amiégbrs, outside scientific collaborators, contraenufacturers, suppliers and other third
parties. We, as well as our licensors, also entergonfidentiality and invention or patent assigminagreements with employees and certain
consultants. Any party with whom we or Harvard haxecuted such an agreement may breach that agreantedisclose our proprietary
information, including our trade secrets, and we mat be able to obtain adequate remedies for bredches. Enforcing a claim that a party
illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade seis difficult, expensive and time-consuming, éimel outcome is unpredictable. In addition, if
any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully otgdior independently developed by a competitor, waldvhave no right to prevent such third
party, or those to whom they communicate such telolgy or information, from using that technologyinformation to compete with us. If a
of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to agaddently developed by a competitor, our busiaadscompetitive position could be harmed.

We have not yet registered our trademarks. Failtioesecure those registrations could adversely affear business.

We have not yet registered our trademarks in thigedrstates or other countries. If we do not secegéstrations for our trademarks, we
may encounter more difficulty in enforcing them imgathird parties than we otherwise would, whiclild adversely affect our business. We
have also not yet registered trademarks for amuoproduct candidates in any jurisdiction. Whenfileetrademark applications for our
product candidates those applications may notlbevadl for registration, and registered trademarky mot be obtained, maintained or
enforced. During trademark registration proceedinghe United States and foreign jurisdictions,ma&y receive rejections. We are given an
opportunity to respond to those rejections, butwves not be able to overcome such rejections. litiaddin the United States Patent and
Trademark Office and in comparable agencies in nfiargign jurisdictions, third parties are given@pportunity to oppose pending trademark
applications and to seek to cancel registered tnades. Opposition or cancellation proceedings nafilbd against our trademarks, and our
trademarks may not survive such proceedings.

In addition, any proprietary name we propose towisie eravacycline or any other product candidatthe United States must be
approved by the FDA, regardless of whether we hegistered it, or applied to register it, as adradrk. The FDA typically conducts a review
of proposed product names, including an evaluaifgrotential for confusion with other product namiéshe FDA objects to any of our
proposed proprietary product names, we may be nredjth expend significant additional resourcesnirefort to identify a suitable proprietary
product name that would qualify under applicabdelémark laws, not infringe the existing rightstafd parties and be acceptable to the FDA.
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Risks Related to Regulatory Approval and Other LeghCompliance Matters

If we are not able to obtain, or if there are dekin obtaining, required regulatory approvals, wellnot be able to commercialize
eravacycline or any other product candidate that develop, and our ability to generate revenue Wil materially impaired.

Our product candidates, including eravacycline, #nedactivities associated with their developmert @mmercialization, including th
design, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacypmdiceeping, labeling, storage, approval, advegisgnomotion, sale and distribution, are
subject to comprehensive regulation by the FDA @th@r regulatory agencies in the United Statestgntbmparable foreign regulatory
authorities, with regulations differing from counto country. Failure to obtain marketing apprdiaala product candidate will prevent us from
commercializing the product candidate. We curreddynot have any products approved for sale injangdiction. We have only limited
experience in filing and supporting the applicasiorecessary to gain marketing approvals and expeety on third-party contract research
organizations to assist us in this process.

We are not permitted to market our product candslat the United States until we receive approfalnoNDA from the FDA. We have
not submitted an NDA for any of our product cantkdaAn NDA must include extensive preclinical atidical data and supporting
information to establish the product candidatefetyaand efficacy for each desired indication. N2A must also include significant
information regarding the chemistry, manufacturdmgl controls for the product candidate. Obtainipgraval of an NDA is a lengthy,
expensive and uncertain process. The FDA reviewga®typically takes years to complete. The FDAsdstantial discretion in the approval
process and may refuse to accept for filing anyiegion or may decide that our data are insuffiti®r approval and require additional
preclinical, clinical or other studies. Foreign ukgory authorities have differing requirementsdpproval of drug candidates with which we
must comply prior to marketing. Obtaining marketaggproval for marketing of a product candidaterie country does not ensure that we will
be able to obtain marketing approval in other coest but the failure to obtain marketing appramabne jurisdiction could negatively impact
our ability to obtain marketing approval in otherigdictions. Delays in approvals or rejectionsrarketing applications in the United States ol
foreign countries may be based upon many factecqjding regulatory requests for additional anadyseports, data and studies, regulatory
guestions regarding, or different interpretatiofsdata and results, changes in regulatory polioynd) the period of product development and
the emergence of new information regarding prodaatlidates or related products. The FDA or othgulegory authorities may determine that
eravacycline or any other product candidate thatlexeslop is not effective, or is only moderatelfeefive, or has undesirable or unintended
side effects, toxicities, safety profile or othéacacteristics that preclude marketing approvarewvent or limit commercial use. In addition,
any marketing approval we ultimately obtain mayifvéted or subject to restrictions or post-approzainmitments that render the approved
product not commercially viable. If we experienaays in obtaining approval or if we fail to obtaipproval of eravacycline or any other
product candidate that we develop, the commerca@dpects for eravacycline or such other productlickate may be harmed and our ability to
generate revenues will be materially impaired.

A fast track designation by the FDA does not guataa approval and may not actually lead to a fastievelopment, regulatory review
or approval process.

If a product is intended for the treatment of amex or life-threatening condition and the proddemonstrates the potential to address
unmet medical needs for that condition, the treatrasponsor may apply for FDA fast track designatlampril 2014, the FDA notified us that
we received fast track designation for both thel @Ad cUTI indications and the intravenous and fisahulations of eravacycline. Fast track
designation does not ensure approval or a fastelojement, regulatory review or approval procesagared to conventional FDA procedures
Additionally, the FDA may withdraw fast track desaion if it believes that the designation is neger supported by data from our clinical
development program.
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If we are unable to obtain marketing approval intiernational jurisdictions, we will not be able toarket our product candidates
abroad.

In order to market and sell eravacycline and ahgwoproduct candidate that we develop in the Ewanpénion and many other
jurisdictions, we must obtain separate marketingreyals and comply with numerous and varying retgujarequirements. Approval by tl
FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory autiesrin other countries or jurisdictions, and appitdw one regulatory authority outside the
United States does not ensure approval by regylatahorities in other countries or jurisdictionsby the FDA. The approval procedure varies
among countries and can involve additional testingddition, clinical trials conducted in one ctyrmay not be accepted by regulatory
authorities in other countries. The time requireadlvtain approval may differ substantially fromtthequired to obtain FDA approval. The
regulatory approval process outside the UnitedeStgénerally includes all of the risks associat#d @btaining FDA approval. In addition, in
many countries outside the United States, it isiired that the product be approved for reimbursdrbefore the product can be approved for
sale in that country. We may not obtain approvamfregulatory authorities outside the United State a timely basis or at all.

If we receive regulatory approval for any producardidates, including eravacycline, we will be sutfj¢o ongoing obligations and
continuing regulatory review, which may result ingnificant additional expense. Our product candidzt, including eravacycline, if
approved, could be subject to restrictions or withdial from the market, and we may be subject to akies, if we fail to comply with
regulatory requirements or if we experience unanpated problems with our product candidates, wherdaf approved.

Any product candidate, including eravacycline,dnich we obtain marketing approval, will also béjsat to ongoing regulatory
requirements for labeling, packaging, storageribistion, advertising, promotion, record-keepingl aubmission of safety and other post-
market information. For example, approved produn@nufacturers and manufacturers’ facilities aguired to comply with extensive FDA
requirements, including ensuring that quality cohéind manufacturing procedures conform to cGMRssuch, we and our contract
manufacturers will be subject to continual reviavd @eriodic inspections to assess compliance v@tkes. Accordingly, we and others with
whom we work must continue to expend time, monayeffort in all areas of regulatory compliance linting manufacturing, production and
quality control. We will also be required to repoetrtain adverse reactions and production problérasy, to the FDA and to comply with
requirements concerning advertising and promotiorotir products.

In addition, even if marketing approval of a prode@ndidate is granted, the approval may be sutjpdonitations on the indicated uses
for which the product may be marketed, may be slbgesignificant conditions of approval or may ioge requirements for costly post-
marketing testing and surveillance to monitor thiety or efficacy of the product. The FDA closedgulates the post-approval marketing and
promotion of drugs to ensure drugs are marketey fonlthe approved indications and in accordandé thie provisions of the approved
labeling and regulatory requirements. The FDA aisposes stringent restrictions on manufacturersimainications regarding off-label use
and if we do not restrict the marketing of our pros only to their approved indications, we maysbhbject to enforcement action for off-label
marketing.

If a regulatory agency discovers previously unkng@swblems with a product, such as adverse evenisanfticipated severity or
frequency, or problems with the facility where fireduct is manufactured, or disagrees with the pta@n, marketing or labeling of a product,
it may impose restrictions on that product or nsadidition, if any product fails to comply with digable regulatory requirements, a regulatory
agency may:

» issue warning or untitled letter
 mandate modifications to promotional materialsemuire provision of corrective information to healire practitioners
e impose restrictions on the product or its manuf@stior manufacturing process

» impose restrictions on the labeling or marketinghef product
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impose restrictions on product distribution or t

require pos-marketing clinical trials

require withdrawal of the product from the marl

refuse to approve pending applications or supplésnerapproved applications that we subi
require recall of the produc

require entry into a consent decree, whichinalude imposition of various fines (including riéstion or disgorgement of profits or
revenue), reimbursements for inspection costs,iredjaue dates for specific actions and penaltesdncompliance

suspend or withdraw marketing approvi
refuse to permit the import or export of the pragl
seize or detain supplies of the product

issue injunctions or impose civil or criminal petresd.

Our relationships with customers and third-party pars will be subject to applicable anti-kickbackatid and abuse and other
healthcare laws and regulations, which could expaseto criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contra@l damages, reputational harm and
diminished profits and future earnings.

Our future arrangements with third-party payorsltheare professionals and customers who purchesanmend or prescribe our
product candidates will be subject to broadly aggille fraud and abuse and other healthcare lawsegnithtions that may constrain the
business or financial arrangements and relatiosshimugh which we market, sell and distribute products for which we obtain marketing
approval. These laws and regulations include, fan®le, the false claims and anti-kickback statatesregulations. At such time as we
market, sell and distribute any products for whighobtain marketing approval, it is possible that lousiness activities could be subject to
challenge under one or more of these laws andatgns. Restrictions under applicable federal datkshealthcare laws and regulations
include the following:

the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, among ottiéngs, prohibits persons from knowingly and willjusoliciting, offering, receiving
or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly,cash or in kind, to induce or reward either téferral of an individual for, or the
purchase, order or recommendation of, any gooémwice, for which payment may be made under fefjefahded healthcare
programs such as Medicare and Medic

the federal False Claims Act imposes crimimal aivil penalties, which can be enforced by p#veaitizens through civil
whistleblower and qui tam actions, against indialdwor entities for knowingly presenting, or cagsia be presented, to the federal
government, claims for payment that are falseaundulent or making a false statement to avoid,edesz or conceal an obligatior
pay money to the federal governme

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Acdahbility Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal @wivil liability for executing
a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit prografrcreates federal criminal laws that prohibitwimgly and willfully
falsifying, concealing or covering up a materiadtfar making any materially false statement in aartion with the delivery of or
payment for healthcare benefits, items or servi

the federal false statements statute prohitoicsvingly and willfully falsifying, concealing oravering up a material fact or making
any materially false statement in connection wlith delivery of or payment for healthcare benefiigsns or services

the federal transparency requirements undeP#tient Protection and Affordable Care Act, asrashed by the Health Care and
Education Reconciliation Act, or collectively, tA€A, requires
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manufacturers of covered drugs, devices, biologicsmedical supplies to report to the Departmemteslth and Human Services
information related to payments and other transféksalue to physicians and teaching hospitalsganician ownership and
investment interests; a1

» analogous state laws and regulations, sucta#s anti-kickback and false claims laws that magiyato sales or marketing
arrangements and claims involving healthcare itenservices reimbursed by non-governmental thindyp@ayors, including
private insurers; state laws that require pharmtazaicompanies to implement compliance prograrmsyay with the
pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance gliites and the relevant compliance guidance proatedgby the federal
government or track and report gifts, compensadiush other remuneration provided to physicians ahdrdhealth care providers;
and state and foreign laws that govern the priaay security of health information in specifieccaimstances, many of which
differ from each other in significant ways and oftae not preempted by HIPAA, which complicates pliamce efforts

We will be required to spend substantial time arhey to ensure that our business arrangementdhiithparties comply with
applicable healthcare laws and regulations. Even,tgovernmental authorities may conclude thabosiness practices do not comply with
current or future statutes, regulations or caseitewlving applicable fraud and abuse or other thealre laws and regulations. Recent
healthcare reform legislation has strengthenecktfederal and state healthcare laws. For exanfeA€CA amends the intent requirement of
the federal anti-kickback and criminal healthcaeaifl statutes. A person or entity no longer needsve actual knowledge of these statutes ¢
a specific intent to violate them. In addition, th€ A provides that the government may assert teddian that includes items or services
resulting from a violation of the federal anti-kidck statute constitutes a false or fraudulentrcfar purposes of the False Claims Act. If
governmental authorities find that our operatioindate any of these laws or any other governmeaegllations that may apply to us, we may
be subject to significant civil, criminal and adistnative penalties, damages, fines, exclusion fgmvernment funded healthcare programs,
such as Medicare and Medicaid, and we may be rdjtir curtail or restructure our operations. Moesrowe expect that there will continue to
be federal and state laws and regulations, propasédmplemented, that could impact our operatamd business. The extent to which future
legislation or regulations, if any, relating to lbeare fraud and abuse laws or enforcement, magnbeted or what effect such legislation or
regulation would have on our business remains t#icer

Recently enacted and future legislation may increabe difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketirapproval of and commercialize
our product candidates and affect the prices we nudpgain.

Among policy makers and payors in the United Stataselsewhere, there is significant interest anpting changes in healthcare
systems with the stated goals of containing heaithcosts, improving quality and expanding acoe$®althcare. In the United States, the
pharmaceutical industry has been a particular foftisese efforts and has been significantly affédty major legislative initiatives. We exp
to experience pricing pressures in connection thighsale of any products that we develop, dueddrénd toward managed healthcare, the
increasing influence of health maintenance orgaioiza and additional legislative proposals.

In March 2010, the ACA became law in the United&tavith the goals of broadening access to headtirance, reducing or constrain
the growth of healthcare spending, enhancing reeseatjainst fraud and abuse, adding new transparegayrements for health care and he
insurance industries and imposing additional hgadiicy reforms. Further, the new law includes aalrfaes to be paid by manufacturers for
certain branded prescription drugs, requires mantuifars to participate in a discount program fataia outpatient drugs under Medicare Part
D, increases manufacturer rebate responsibilitieteuthe Medicaid Drug Rebate Program for outpatengs dispensed to Medicaid
recipients, addresses a new methodology by whichtes owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Belgate Program are calculated for
line extensions and for drugs that are inhaledised, instilled, implanted or injected and expamgkssight and support for the federal
government’s comparative effectiveness researdeivices and products.
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In addition, other legislative changes have beep@sed and adopted in the United States since @#ewas enacted. On August 2, 20
the Budget Control Act of 2011 created measuresgending reductions by Congress. A Joint Seleati@ittee on Deficit Reduction, tasked
with recommending a targeted deficit reductiontdeast $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 througl220was unable to reach required goals,
thereby triggering the legislation’s automatic retilin to several government programs. This incluatggegate reductions of Medicare
payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal yedmich went into effect on April 1, 2013. On Janu@r2013, President Obama signed into
the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 which reeld Medicare payments to several providers, innytiiospitals, imaging centers and
cancer treatment centers, and increased the stdtliteitations period for the government to recoegerpayments to providers from three to
five years. We expect that additional state anéradchealthcare reform measures will be adoptéddrfuture, any of which could limit the
amounts that federal and state governments willfpaiiealthcare products and services, which coesdlt in reduced demand for our product
candidates or additional pricing pressures.

Legislative and regulatory proposals have been n@adgpand posapproval requirements and restrict sales and priomadtactivities fol
pharmaceutical products. We cannot be sure whattditional legislative changes will be enactedybether the FDA regulations, guidance
interpretations will be changed, or what the imgEcuch changes on the marketing approvals opmauct candidates, if any, may be. In
addition, increased scrutiny by the United Statesdtess of the FDA approval process may significantly delay or pnévearketing approve
as well as subject us to more stringent produclia@y and post-marketing testing and other requinis

Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Grotin

Our future success depends on our ability to retaiar chief executive officer and other key execw@ssand to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel.

Our industry has experienced a high rate of turno¥enanagement personnel in recent years. Weighdytdependent on the
development, regulatory, commercialization and hess development expertise of Guy Macdonald, cesi@ent and Chief Executive Officer,
Patrick T. Horn, our Chief Medical Officer, David Cubner, our Senior Vice President and Chief FamarOfficer, and J. Craig Thompson,
our Chief Operating Officer, as well as the othéngipal members of our management, scientific elidcal team. Although we have formal
employment agreements with our executive officérsse agreements do not prevent them from termmétieir employment with us at any
time.

We do not have formal employment agreements wiyhadiour other employees. If we lose one or morewfexecutive officers or key
employees, our ability to implement our businesstsgy successfully could be seriously harmed.ifeunore, replacing executive officers and
key employees may be difficult and may take anredee period of time because of the limited numiiéndividuals in our industry with the
breadth of skills and experience required to dgyaiain regulatory approval of and commercializedpicts successfully. Competition to hire
from this limited pool is intense, and we may bahle to hire, train, retain or motivate these addél key personnel on acceptable terms g
the competition among numerous pharmaceutical atddhnology companies for similar personnel. e @xperience competition for the
hiring of scientific and clinical personnel fromiuversities and research institutions. In additi®, rely on consultants and advisors, including
scientific and clinical advisors, to assist usamfiulating our research and development and coniatieation strategy. Our consultants and
advisors may be employed by employers other thaandanay have commitments under consulting or adyisontracts with other entities tl
may limit their availability to us. If we are unahtio continue to attract and retain high qualityspanel, our ability to develop and
commercialize drug candidates will be limited.

We expect to grow our organization, and as a resule may encounter difficulties in managing our gath, which could disrupt our
operations.

We expect to experience significant growth in thenber of our employees and the scope of our opastparticularly in the areas of
drug development, regulatory affairs and salesketarg and distribution. Our
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management may need to divert a disproportionataiatrof its attention away from our day-to-day tigs to devote time to managing these
growth activities. To manage these growth actigjtige must continue to implement and improve ounagarial, operational and financial
systems, expand our facilities and continue touieand train additional qualified personnel. Daeur limited financial resources and the
limited experience of our management team in mangagicompany with such anticipated growth, we nttybe able to effectively manage 1
expansion of our operations or recruit and traiditawhal qualified personnel. Our inability to eftevely manage the expansion of our
operations may result in weaknesses in our infragire, give rise to operational mistakes, lossusfiness opportunities, loss of employees an
reduced productivity among remaining employees. &mpected growth could require significant capitgbenditures and may divert financial
resources from other projects, such as the deveaopof additional product candidates. If our mamaget is unable to effectively manage our
expected growth, our expenses may increase manesttected, our ability to generate revenues cbeleduced and we may not be able to
implement our business strategy.

The business that we conduct outside the Unitedt&anay be adversely affected by international résid uncertainties.

Although our operations are based in the UniteteStave conduct business outside the United Séag®xpect to continue to do so in
the future. For instance, many of the sites at Wwioigr clinical trial is being conducted are outdide United States. In addition, we plan to see
approvals to sell our products in foreign countritasy business that we conduct outside the UnitatieS will be subject to additional risks that
may materially adversely affect our ability to carstibusiness in international markets, including:

» potentially reduced protection for intellectual peoty rights;

» the potential for so-called parallel importinghich is what happens when a local seller, faciekl igh or higher local prices, opts
to import goods from a foreign market (with lowlower prices) rather than buying them loca

* unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers agdlatory requirement
» economic weakness, including inflation, or politicestability in particular foreign economies andrkets;
» workforce uncertainty in countries where labor whie more common than in the United Sta

« production shortages resulting from any evaffiscting a product candidate and/or finished gytapuct supply or manufacturing
capabilities abroac

» business interruptions resulting from geo-jeditactions, including war and terrorism, or natutisasters, including earthquakes,
hurricanes, typhoons, floods and fires; i

» failure to comply with Office of Foreign Asset Couoltrules and regulations and the Foreign Corrupttces Act

As an example, some of the sites in our ongoing®Baclinical trial of eravacycline are locatedUikraine and Russia and we expect a
considerable portion of the patients enrolled m ¢hnical trial to be from Ukraine and Russiathié dispute between Ukraine and Russia were
to further destabilize the region, our ability ttnduct and complete our Phase 3 clinical trial simely basis could be impacted, and our
business, financial condition and results of openstcould be materially adversely affected.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock

The price of our common stock may be volatile ahactuate substantially, which could result in sulasttial losses for purchasers of
our common stock.

Our stock price may be volatile. The stock markegéneral and the market for smaller pharmaceudicdlbiotechnology companies in
particular have experienced extreme volatility thas often been unrelated to the operating perfocmaf particular companies. For example,
our stock traded within a range of a high pric&#4.55 per share and a low price of $6.62 per doarthe period beginning March 20, 2013,
our first day of trading on the NASDAQ Global Selstarket, through February 28, 2015. As a resuthef volatility, investors may not be
able to sell their common stock at or above thegsrihey paid for it. The market price for our coomnstock may be influenced by many
factors, including:

* the success of existing or new competitive prodactechnologies
» the timing of clinical trials of eravacycline andyaother product candidat
» results of clinical trials of eravacycline and atiier product candidat

» regulatory actions by the FDA or equivalentauities in foreign jurisdictions with respect taeacycline and any other product
candidate

» failure or discontinuation of any of our developmprograms

» results of clinical trials of product candidatesoof competitors

e regulatory or legal developments in the United é&tand other countrie

» developments or disputes concerning patent apmitatissued patents or other proprietary rig
» the recruitment or departure of key person

» the level of expenses related to any of our prodantlidates or clinical development progra

» the results of our efforts to develop-license or acquire additional product candidatgsroducts
« actual or anticipated changes in estimates asiémdial results, development timelines or recomratiods by securities analys
e announcement or expectation of additional finan&ffgrts;

» sales of our common stock by us, our insiders loerogtockholder

» variations in our financial results or those of gamies that are perceived to be similar tc

» changes in estimates or recommendations by sexuatialysts, if any, that cover our stc

« changes in the structure of healthcare paymentsys

* market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biatetdigy sectors

* general economic, industry and market conditions;

» the other factors described in tRisk Factor” section.

An active trading market for our common stock magtrbe sustained.

Although we have listed our common stock on The RA® Global Select Market, an active trading marfeetour common stock may
not be sustained. In the absence of an activengatdarket for our common stock, investors may moable to sell their common stock at or
above the price at which they acquired the comnbacksor at the times that they would like to sAlh inactive trading market may also impair
our ability to raise capital to continue to funceogtions by selling shares and may impair our gttt acquire other companies or technologie:
by using our shares as consideration.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch or publish inaccurate or unfavorable resehrabout our business, our share
price and trading volume could declin

The trading market for our common stock will depemdhe research and reports that securities aisinglanalysts publish about us or
our business. We do not have any control over taragysts. There can be no assurance that analjist®ver us, or provide favorable
coverage. If one or more analysts downgrade ogkgiochange their opinion of our stock, our shatee would likely decline. In addition, if
one or more analysts cease coverage of our congpday to regularly publish reports on us, we abldse visibility in the financial markets,
which could cause our share price or trading voltongecline.

We have broad discretion in the use of our cashae®s and may not use them effectively.

Our management has broad discretion to use ourreashves and could spend these reserves in watyddmot improve our results of
operations or enhance the value of our common siidok failure by our management to apply thesedieftectively could result in financial
losses that could have a material adverse effeouoibusiness, cause the price of our common stodkcline and delay the development of
our product candidates. Pending their use, we magst our cash reserves in a manner that doegoahtige income or that loses value.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and the reddceisclosure requirements applicable to emerging@gth companies may make
our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definetthnJumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 201#he@dOBS Act, and may remain
an emerging growth company for up to five year®feing our initial public offering in March 20130 so long as we remain an emerging
growth company, we are permitted and intend to eelgxemptions from certain disclosure requirem#rasare applicable to other public
companies that are not emerging growth compantessd exemptions include not being required to cpmyjth the auditor attestation
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-OxlgyoA2002, not being required to comply with aeguirement that may be adopted by the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regardimandatory audit firm rotation or a supplementht® auditor’s report providing
additional information about the audit and the ficial statements, reduced disclosure obligatiogarding executive compensation and
exemptions from the requirements of holding a niedinig advisory vote on executive compensation &adeholder approval of any golden
parachute payments not previously approved. Weatgmedict whether investors will find our commdock less attractive if we rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common slesk attractive as a result, there may be a tssedrading market for our common stock
and our stock price may be more volatile.

In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an emergjrgyvth company can take advantage of an extendadition period for complying
with new or revised accounting standards. Thissalan emerging growth company to delay the adotfarertain accounting standards until
those standards would otherwise apply to privatepgamies. We have irrevocably elected not to avaseves of this exemption from new or
revised accounting standards and, therefore, &jectuto the same new or revised accounting staisdes other public companies that are not
emerging growth companies.

Failure to maintain effective internal controls imccordance with Section 404 of the Sarbar@sley Act could have a material adver
effect on our ability to produce accurate financiatatements and on our stock price.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 meguis, on an annual basis beginning in 2014 vieweand evaluate our internal
controls. However, while we remain an emerging ghoeompany, we will not be required to include #iestation report on internal control
over financial reporting issued by our independegtstered public accounting firm. To achieve cdampie with Section 404 within the
prescribed period, we have been engaged in a réce®cument and evaluate our internal controt éimancial reporting, which has been
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both costly and challenging. In this regard, wd méled to continue to dedicate internal resouro@stinue to engage outside consultants and
adopt a detailed work plan to continue to assedslanument the adequacy of internal control ov@arftial reporting, continue to improve
control processes as appropriate, validate throesfing that controls are functioning as documeatatlimplement a continuous reporting and
improvement process for internal control over ficiahreporting. There is a risk that neither we aor independent registered public
accounting firm will be able to conclude within theescribed timeframe that our internal controlrdirgancial reporting is effective as requit
by Section 404. If we identify one or more matewalaknesses, it could result in an adverse reautitire financial markets due to a loss of
confidence in the reliability of our financial statents.

We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends am oapital stock in the foreseeable future, accamdly, stockholders must rely on
capital appreciation, if any, for any return on theinvestment.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends onanital stock. We currently intend to retainalbur future earnings, if any, to
finance the operation, development and growth ofbasiness. The terms of our debt facility with&ih Valley Bank and Oxford Finance
preclude us from paying dividends, and any futwetdgreements may also preclude us from payirigatids. As a result, capital
appreciation, if any, of our common stock will Ibe tsole source of gain for our stockholders forftinieseeable future.

Provisions in our corporate charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of wghich may be beneficial to
our stockholders, more difficult and may preventetnpts by our stockholders to replace or remove ourrent management.

Provisions in our corporate charter and our by-lavey discourage, delay or prevent a merger, atgurisir other change in control of us
that stockholders may consider favorable, includiagsactions in which our stockholders might otlige receive a premium for their shares.
These provisions could also limit the price thatkistors might be willing to pay in the future fdtvases of our common stock, thereby
depressing the market price of our common stockdulition, because our board of directors is resitafor appointing the members of our
management team, these provisions may frustrgteeoent any attempts by our stockholders to reptagemove our current management by
making it more difficult for stockholders to reptamembers of our board of directors. Among othigrgth these provisions:

» establish a classified board of directors suchallahembers of the board are not elected at one;
» allow the authorized number of our directors tachanged only by resolution of our board of direst
* limit the manner in which stockholders can remowedlors from the boart

» establish advance notice requirements for nominatior election to the board of directors or faogwsing matters that can be ac
on at stockholder meeting

e require that stockholder actions must be effééett a duly called stockholder meeting and prokitions by our stockholders by
written consent

e limit who may call a special meeting of stockholdezetings

» authorize our board of directors to issue preféstock without stockholder approval, which cbiok used to institute a “poison pill”
that would work to dilute the stock ownership gdatential hostile acquirer, effectively preventagquisitions that have not been
approved by our board of directors; ¢

» require the approval of the holders of at |&&8t of the votes that all our stockholders wowdcehtitled to cast to amend or repeal
certain provisions of our charter or-laws.

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaweagegre governed by the provisions of Section 20B@Delaware General
Corporation Law, which prohibits a person who ownexcess of 15% of our outstanding voting stockfrmerging or combining with us fol
period of three years after the date of the traimam
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which the person acquired in excess of 15% of otstanding voting stock, unless the merger or coatinn is approved in a prescribed
manner. This could discourage, delay or preventesom from acquiring us or merging with us, whettremot it is desired by, or beneficial to,
our stockholders.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None

ITEM 2. Properties

We lease our principal facilities, which consistapproximately 38,902 square feet of office, redeand laboratory space located at 48C
Arsenal Street, Watertown, Massachusetts. The deaseering this space expire on November 30, 20&6believe that our existing facilities
are sufficient for our current needs for the foesd®e future.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any material lggakeedings.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
Market Price Information

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Gl@&@méct Market on March 20, 2013 under the symbdPH". Prior to that date,
there was no established public trading markebfmrcommon stock. The following table sets forth,the periods indicated, the high and low
intraday sales prices of our common stock as regdsy the NASDAQ Global Select Market:

High Low
2014
First Quarte! $17.7¢ $ 9.8
Second Quarte $14.0¢ $ 8.01
Third Quartel $20.6: $10.0:
Fourth Quarte $41.8: $19.5¢
High Low
2013
First Quarter from and after March 20, 2( $ 7.5( $6.62
Second Quarte $ 9.6¢€ $7.0C
Third Quartel $11.77 $7.04
Fourth Quarte $13.8¢ $9.8¢

Holders

At February 28, 2015, there were approximately ddérs of record of our common stock. We beliexat the number of beneficial
owners of our common stock at that date was sutisligrgreater.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock and our ability to pay cashd#inds is currently prohibited by
the terms of our debt financing arrangements. Weeatly intend to retain earnings, if any, for as®ur business and do not anticipate paying
cash dividends on our common stock in the forededature. Payment of future dividends, if any,@mr common stock will be at the
discretion of our board of directors after takingpiaccount various factors, including our finahciandition, operating results, anticipated cast
needs, and plans for expansion.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

On December 19, 2014, we issued to an affiliat®xfbrd Finance (“Oxford Finance20,488 shares of our common stock pursuant t
cashless exercise feature of warrants we had gréamt®xford Finance on May 16, 2011. Warrants tchase 6,336 shares of common stock
were cancelled as payment for the aggregate erqudise of the warrants. We received no cash pdscrem the issuance of these shares
exercise of the warrants.

On December 19, 2014, we issued to Oxford Fina@¢g0B shares of our common stock pursuant to thieless exercise feature of
warrants we had granted to Oxford Finance on Deeer2®, 2012. Warrants to purchase 3,928 sharesnofon stock were cancelled as
payment for the aggregate exercise price of theamts. We received no cash proceeds from the issugfithese shares upon exercise of the
warrants.
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On December 19, 2014, we issued to Oxford Finarb&66shares of our common stock pursuant to thaessexercise feature of
warrants we had granted to Oxford Finance on Fep2@, 2013. Warrants to purchase 1,901 sharesrofron stock were cancelled as
payment for the aggregate exercise price of theamts. We received no cash proceeds from the issuagfithese shares upon exercise of the
warrants.

These warrants were granted, and the shares of oaratack were issued upon exercise of these warranteliance upon the exemption
from the registration requirements of the Secigifiet provided by Sections 3(a)(9) and 4(a)(2)hef Securities Act. No underwriters were
involved in such issuances, and no commissions packin connection with such issuances.

Use Of Proceeds

We effected the initial public offering, or IPO, @fir common stock through a Registration Stateraeritorm S-1 (File No. 333-186574)
that was declared effective by the Securities axchBnge Commission on March 19, 2013. As of Decer@beg2014, we had used all of the
proceeds from the IPO to fund the clinical develeptrof eravacycline and for working capital, capégpenditures and other general corpo
purposes. There was no material change in our pthose of proceeds from the IPO from that desciiibéioe final prospectus filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to &24¢b) on March 20, 2013.

Comparative Stock Performance Graph

The information included under the heading “CompegaStock Performance Graph” in this Item 5 oftRbof this annual report on
Form 10-K shall not be deemed to be “soliciting eni@i” or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C, shalt be deemed “filed” for purposes of
Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise suligethe liabilities of that section, nor shalb# deemed incorporated by reference in any
filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amendedhe Exchange Act.
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Set forth below is a graph comparing the total ciative returns of Tetraphase, the NASDAQ Compadsitkex and the NASDAQ
Biotechnology Index. The graph assumes $100 wassted on March 20, 2013 in our common stock anh efthe indices and that all

dividends, if any, are reinvested.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Date

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with our Consolidaftathncial Statements and the N¢
thereto and ManagemestDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operations included elsewhere inahisual report @
Form 10K. The selected consolidated financial data in $eistion are not intended to replace our finarsteements and the related notes.
historical results are not necessarily indicatif/éhe results that may be expected in the future.

The consolidated statement of operations datadch ef the three years in the period ended DeceBhe2014 and the consolidated
balance sheet data at December 31, 2014 and 20&3kan derived from our audited consolidated fir@rstatements for such years, inclu
elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K. Ttatesnent of operations data for the year endedbeee31, 2011 and the consolidated
balance sheet data at December 31, 2012 and Dec8thk#011 have been derived from the audited dmfeged financial statements for such

years not included in this annual report on Forr-K.

Our historical results for any prior period are netessarily indicative of results to be expecteany future period.

Statement of Operations data
Contract and grant reven
Operating expense
Research and developm
General and administrati\
Total operating expens
Loss from operation
Other income (expense
Interest incomi
Interest expens
Other income (expens
Total other income (expens
Net loss

Net loss per sha-basic and dilute:

Weighted-average number of common shares used Insseper share-basic and

diluted

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalel
Working capital

Total asset

Current liabilities

Long-term obligations
Convertible preferred stoc
Accumulated defici

Total stockholder equity (deficit)

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011
(in thousands, except per share dat¢

$ 9,09¢ $ 10,48¢ $ 7,60( $ 18t

61,93: 31,50¢ 17,29: 17,73
12,93: 7,16¢ 4,30¢ 3,87¢
74,86+ 38,67¢ 21,60: 21,61

(65,766 (28,190 (14,009 (21,42

17 10 — 1
(1,017 (1,719 (1,021) (161)
24 26¢ (63) 22
(976) (1,446) (1,084) (13¢)

$(66,74)  $(29,630  $(15,08)  $(21,569
$ (249 $ (179 $(475) $ (73.3)

26,80% 16,66¢ 317 294

As of December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

$ 121,04: $ 102,71: $ 9,07¢ $ 22,45
109,32: 92,22¢ 3,72 16,40(
127,20« 105,88t 14,07: 24,06¢
17,27¢ 13,19: 8,661 6,97
1,36% 4,887 8,61¢ 5,851
— — 79,84 79,84
(186,46)) (119,72) (90,08 (74,999
$ 108,56¢ $ 87,80¢ $(83,049) (68,609
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ITEM 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

You should read the following discussion and anglgsour financial condition and results of opeosis together with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes appearintimannual report on Form 10-KSome of the information contained in this dismrsand
analysis or set forth elsewhere in thisnual report on Form 10-Kincluding information with respect to our plansdastrategy for our busine
and related financing, includes forward-lookingtstaents that involve risks and uncertainties. Assalt of many factors, including those
factors set forth in th“Risk Factors” section of thignnual report on Form 10-Kour actual results could differ materially frommet results
described in or implied by the forward-looking staents contained in the following discussion arelyesis.

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical compasityguour proprietary chemistry technology to creaieel antibiotics for serious and
life-threatening multidrug-resistant infections. \AWte developing our lead product candidate, eraliaey a fully synthetic tetracycline
derivative, as a broad-spectrum intravenous, oaid oral antibiotic for use as a first-line empimonotherapy for the treatment of multidrug-
resistant infections, including multidrug-resist@ram-negative infections. We are conducting a@l&hase 3 clinical program for
eravacycline called IGNITEI(nvestigatings ram-N egativel nfectionsT reated withE ravacycline), consisting of two Phase 3 clinicall$.
IGNITE 1 is a Phase 3 clinical trial evaluating 8afety and efficacy of eravacycline with 1V adnsination for the treatment of complicated
intra-abdominal infections, or clAl, for which warmounced top-line data in December 2014. IGNITR cond Phase 3 clinical trial of
eravacycline for the treatment of complicated unirtaact infections, or cUTI, with 1V-to-oral traiti®&n therapy, is ongoing.

Consistent with guidance issued by the United Stated and Drug Administration, or FDA, with respiecthe development of
antibiotics for clAl and our discussions with thBA, we expect that positive results from these Riase 3 clinical trials will be sufficient to
support submission of a new drug application, orA\for eravacycline in the treatment of clAl anddUIn December 2014, we announced
positive top-line data from IGNITE 1. In SeptemB6d4, we announced positive data from the leaditign of IGNITE 2, and in October
2014 announced the selection of the oral doséhtoi\{-to-oral transition therapy (1.5 mg/kg IV folted by 200 mg oral dose) to be evaluatec
in the pivotal portion of IGNITE 2 and the initiati of patient enroliment. We expect to have top-timta from the pivotal portion of IGNITE 2
in mid-2015. If we complete the pivotal portionlI&NITE 2 when we anticipate, and it is successfid,expect to submit an NDA to the FDA
by the end of 2015 and a marketing authorizatiguiegtion, or MAA, to the European Medicines Agenoy EMA, in the first half of 2016.

Subject to obtaining additional financing, we irdéo pursue development of eravacycline for thattrent of additional indications,
including hospital-acquired bacterial pneumonias atiher serious and lifdweatening infections following our developmeneodvacycline fo
the treatment of clAl and cUTI. We are also purguime discovery and development of TP-271, a bsgatrum preclinical compound that
are developing for respiratory diseases causedbtebal biothreat pathogens, and additional agtiits, including TP-6076, our lead candidate
from our second-generation Gram-negative program.

We commenced business operations in July 2006o@enations to date have been limited to organiaimg staffing our company,
business planning, raising capital, acquiring agndetbping our proprietary chemistry technology niifging potential product candidates and
undertaking preclinical studies and clinical triafsour product candidates. To date, we have no¢igged any product revenue and have
primarily financed our operations through publieohgs and private placements of our equity séiesridebt financings and funding from the
United States government. As of December 31, 2@&4dhad received an aggregate of $298.2 millioreinpmoceeds from the issuance of ec
securities and borrowings under debt facilities andiggregate of $24.2 million from government tgamd contracts. As of December 31,
2014, our principal source of liquidity was casld @ash equivalents, which totaled $121.0 million.
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As of December 31, 2014, we had an accumulateditlefi$186.5 million. Our net losses were $66.Hion, $29.6 million and $15.1
million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2182012, respectively. We expect that our expewileincrease substantially as we
continue our ongoing Phase 3 clinical trial of @@ycline for the treatment of cUTI, seek marketipgroval for eravacycline, conduct pre-
commercialization and launch-related activitiesdmavacycline, pursue development of eravacychmnadditional indications, including
hospital-acquired bacterial pneumonias and othéwiseand life-threatening infections, advanceather product candidates and satisfy our
obligations under our license agreement with Hahdmiversity. If we obtain marketing approval ofeacycline, we also expect to incur
significant sales, marketing, distribution and nfacturing expenses. Furthermore, we expect to inogping research and development
expenses relating to our product candidates oktaer éravacycline and that our general and adntigtr costs will increase as we grow and
continue to operate as a public company. We wildh® generate significant revenue to achieve fatafity, and we may never do so.

We believe that our available funds will be suffiti to enable us to obtain top-line data from mgaing Phase 3 clinical trial of
eravacycline for the treatment of cUTI, to submitNDA to the FDA for eravacycline and to perforneqmommercialization activities for
eravacycline. We expect that these funds will hotyever, be sufficient to enable us to commerciallynch eravacycline. It is also possible
that we will not achieve the progress that we ekpéth respect to eravacycline because the actustb@nd timing of clinical development
activities are difficult to predict and are subjezsubstantial risks and delays. We will be reeglito obtain further funding through public or
private equity offerings, debt financings, colladtions and licensing arrangements or other soufaexquate additional financing may not be
available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.f@ilure to raise capital as and when needed wbale a negative impact on our financial
condition and our ability to pursue our businesatsgy.

Financial overview
Contract and Grant Revenue

We have derived all of our revenue to date fromdfng provided under three U.S. government awardthf®development of our
compounds as potential counter measures for thenient of disease caused by bacterial biothreabganhs through our collaborator CUBRC
Inc., or CUBRC, an independent, not-for-profit,@asch corporation that specializes in U.S. goventrbased contracts:

* We have received funding for our lead product cdatgi, eravacycline, under an award from the Bionsddvanced Research ¢
Development Authority, or BARDA, an agency of theSUDepartment of Health and Human Services. Indign2012, BARDA
awarded CUBRC a five-year contract that providesfoto a total of $67.0 million in funding for tldevelopment, manufacturing
and clinical evaluation of eravacycline for theatraent of disease caused by bacterial biothreabgans. The funding under the
BARDA Contract is also being used for the developinmanufacturing and clinical evaluation of eraxdine to treat certain
infections caused by li-threatening multidru-resistant bacteria. We refer to this contract aBBARDA Contract

*  We have received funding for our preclinicaimpound TP-271 under two awards from the Nationsiitute of Allergy and
Infectious Diseases, or NIAID, a division of Natadhnstitutes of Health, for the development, mactidiring and clinical evaluatit
of TP-271 for respiratory diseases caused by teatheind antibiotic-resistant public health pathsges well as bacterial pathogens
associated with commun-acquired bacterial pneumon

+ agrant awarded to CUBRC in July 2011 that proviges$o a total of approximately $2.8 million oveéref years, whicl
we refer to as the NIAID Grant; al

e acontract awarded to CUBRC in September 2Baflgrovides up to a total of approximately $35iBion in funding
over five years, which we refer to as the NIAID @awt.
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We are collaborating with CUBRC, because when Wally decided to seek government funding, we ggired that we did not have
any expertise in bidding for, administrating or ragimg government-funded contracts. CUBRC servelkeaprime contractor under the
BARDA Contract, the NIAID Grant and the NIAID Coatt, primarily carrying out a program managemeut aministrative role with
additional responsibility for the management ofgfirécal studies. We serve as lead technical expedll aspects of these awards and also
serve as a subcontractor responsible for manageshehemistry, manufacturing and control activitéesl clinical studies. We derive all of our
revenue under these collaborations through subecistwith, and a subaward from, CUBRC, with thevftf funds following the respective
activities being conducted by us and by CUBRC.

* In connection with the BARDA Contract, in Fehry 2012, we entered into a five-year cost-plusdifee subcontract with CUBR

under which we may receive funding of up to apprately $39.8 million, reflecting the portion of tBARDA Contract funding
that may be paid to us for our activiti

* In connection with the NIAID Contract, in Oc&b2011, we entered into a five-year cost-plusdifee subcontract with CUBRC

under which we may receive funding of up to apprately $13.3 million, reflecting the portion of thNéAID Contract funding that
may be paid to us for our activitie

e In connection with the NIAID Grant, in Novemk#011, CUBRC awarded us a 55-month, no-fee subaefaagproximately
$980,000, reflecting the portion of the NIAID Grdahding that may be paid to us for our activiti

Although the BARDA Contract, and our subcontradiv@UBRC under the BARDA Contract, have five-yeamts, BARDA is entitled
to terminate the project for convenience at antiand is not obligated to provide continued fugdiryond current-year amounts from
Congressionally approved annual appropriationgh€aextent that BARDA ceases to provide fundinthefprogram to CUBRC, CUBRC has
the right to cease providing funding to us. Comeittunding from CUBRC under our BARDA subcontrac$81.0 million from the initial
contract date through September 9, 2016, of whigh4pmillion had been received through Decembef814.

Similarly, although the NIAID Contract and our sobtract with CUBRC under the NIAID Contract haveefiyear terms, NIAID is
entitled to terminate the project for conveniencargy time, and is not obligated to provide contididunding beyond September 30, 2016. To
the extent NIAID ceases to provide funding of thegrams to CUBRC, CUBRC has the right to ceaseiginy funding to us. Committed
funding from CUBRC under our subcontract with refpe the NIAID Contract is $8.3 million, from theitial contract date through
September 30, 2016, of which $7.1 million had beseived through December 31, 2014. In additiathoaigh the NIAID Grant has a term of
five years and our subaward from CUBRC has a tdribanonths, NIAID is entitled to terminate the jet for convenience at any time, and
is not obligated to provide continued funding beydmay 30, 2016. To the extent NIAID ceases to pteviunding of the programs to CUBR
CUBRC has the right to cease providing fundinggo@ommitted funding from CUBRC under our subawaitth respect to the NIAID Grant
is $0.8 million from the initial grant date throutykay 30, 2016, of which $0.7 million had been reeeithrough December 31, 2014.

We have no products approved for sale. Other thaigdvernment funding described above, we do nmtexto receive any revenue fr
any product candidates that we develop, includmagacycline, until we obtain regulatory approvall @ommercialize such products, which
do not expect will occur before 2016, or until wagntially enter into collaborative agreements \tlitind parties for the development and
commercialization of such product candidates. Winae to pursue government funding for other pnézl and clinical programs. If our
development efforts for any of our product candidaesult in clinical success and regulatory apgrar collaboration agreements with third
parties, we may generate revenue from those pragdunctidates.

82



Table of Contents

We expect that our revenue will be less than opeages for the foreseeable future and that weewiérience increasing losses as we
continue our development of, and seek regulatopyaals for, our product candidates, and begirotaroercialize any approved products.
Even if we are able to generate revenue from tleeafaone or more products, we may not become taitalé.

Research and Development Expen:

Research and development expenses consist prinoaclysts incurred for the research and developmieotr preclinical and clinical
candidates, and include:

e personnerelated expenses, including salaries, benefitsstoal-based compensation exper

» expenses incurred under agreements with cantraearch organizations, or CROs, contract matwiag organizations, or CMOs,
and consultants that provide preclinical, clinicajulatory and manufacturing servic

* payments made under our license agreement withartyniversity;
» the cost of acquiring, developing and manufactucdingjcal trial materials and lab supplie

» facility, depreciation and other expenses, Whinclude direct and allocated expenses for reatntanance of our facility, insurance
and other supplies; ar

» costs associated with preclinical and regulatotiviies.

We expense research and development costs to igpsras incurred. We recognize costs for certaueldgment activities, such as
clinical trials, based on an evaluation of the pesg to completion of specific tasks using dat# siscpatient enroliment, clinical site
activations or information provided to us by oungers.

We track external development expenses and persexpense on a program-by-program basis and alam@hmon expenses, such as
scientific consultants and laboratory suppliesdoh program based on the personnel resourceatelibo such program. Expenses related to
facilities, consulting, travel, conferences, stdased compensation and depreciation are not adid¢ata program and are separately classifie
as other research and development expenses. Towifa table identifies research and developmeptesges on a program-specific basis for
our product candidates for the years ended Decegihet014, 2013 and 2012:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Eravacycline $46,59¢ $17,67: $ 6,932
BARDA Contract 6,78 7,341 4,27¢
NIAID Contract and NIAID Gran 2,14¢ 2,62¢ 2,53
Other development prograr 1,21¢ 1,041 1,071
Other research and developm 5,18 2,83( 2,47¢
Total research and developm: $61,93: $31,50¢ $17,29-

Research and development activities are centi@litdousiness model. Product candidates in latgestaf clinical development generally
have higher development costs than those in eatlges of clinical development, primarily duehe increased size and duration of later-stag
clinical trials.

As of December 31, 2014, we had incurred an agtgerfé$95.0 million in research and developmenteases related to the developn
of eravacycline, excluding $18.4 million of expesnsieat were funded under the BARDA Contract. Weeekthat our research and
development expenses will increase substantiallyeasontinue our ongoing Phase 3 clinical tria¢itvacycline for the treatment of cUTI,
pursue development of eravacycline for additiondldations, including hospital-acquired bacteriaépmonias and other serious and
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life-threatening infections, advance our other piiccandidates and satisfy our obligations undetfioense agreement with Harvard
University. We expect that the total external cadtthe Phase 3 clinical trials of eravacyclinettoe treatment of clAl and cUTI will be
approximately $65.0 million to $75.0 million, of weh $44.3 million had been incurred through Decen#ie 2014.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertaintiexiassd with product development, however, we cadetermine with certainty the
duration and completion costs of these or othereaior future clinical trials of eravacycline arrather product candidates. We may never
succeed in achieving regulatory approval for ergetge or any of our other product candidates. @iheation, costs and timing of clinical trials
and development of our product candidates will dépen a variety of factors, including the uncertia of future clinical and preclinical
studies, uncertainties in clinical trial enrollmeate and significant and changing government aguni. In addition, the probability of success
for each product candidate will depend on numefacrs, including competition, manufacturing capigband commercial viability.

We have licensed our proprietary chemistry techgyfoom Harvard University on an exclusive worldeibasis under a license
agreement that we entered into in August 2006. Uadelicense agreement, we have paid Harvard greggte of $3.8 million in upfront
license fees and development milestone paymemisidimg a $2.0 million milestone fee that we paidictober 2013 in connection with the
dosing of the first patient in our Phase 3 clinital of eravacycline for the treatment of clAl.eMave also issued 31,379 shares of our
common stock to Harvard under the license agreerfireatidition, we have agreed to make paymentsaiwatd upon the achievement of
specified future development and regulatory milestototaling up to $15.1 million for each licengedduct candidate ($3.1 million of which
has already been paid with respect to eravacyclare) to pay tiered royalties in the single dig@ésed on annual worldwide net sales, if any, c
licensed products, our affiliates and our sublieess We are also obligated to pay Harvard a spdcsthare of non-royalty sublicensing
revenues that we receive from sublicensees fogituet of sublicenses under the license and to n@isgbHarvard for specified patent
prosecution and maintenance costs. The next milegtayment due under the license agreement witleceto eravacycline would be a $3.0
million payment upon acceptance of an NDA filinghe FDA.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist patigipf personnel-related costs, including salaaed related costs such as benefits an
stock-based compensation for personnel in exegutnance, operational, business development, catp@ommunications and human
resource functions. Other significant general ahdiaistrative expenses include professional feetefpal, patent, auditing and tax services,
consulting, and facility costs not otherwise in@ddn research and development expenses.

We anticipate that our general and administratieases will increase for a number of reasonsydicd:

» support of the anticipated expansion of oueaesh and development activities as we continueléivelopment of our product
candidates

* increases in personnel-related costs, expamdiorirastructure and higher consulting, legat@mting and investor relations costs,
and directors and officers insurance premiums;

« ifand when we believe a regulatory approvabwrf first product candidate appears likely, apatéd increases in our personnel-
related and consulting costs as a result of oysgyegion for commercial operations, especiallyt aslates to the sales and
marketing of our product candidat

Interest Income

Interest income consists of interest earned orcasih and cash equivalents. The primary objecti®ipfnvestment policy is capital
preservation.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense consists primarily of interestwsd on our outstanding indebtedness and non-ogstest related to the amortization of
debt discount costs associated with our term laatlitfy with Silicon Valley Bank and Oxford Financ@/e expect that our interest expense wil
decrease in future periods as we pay down principadur indebtedness to Silicon Valley Bank andd@xfinance over the term of the loan
facility.

Other Income

Other income consists primarily of fair value adijnents on warrants for the purchase of our prefiesteck. We do not anticipate that we
will recognize any further amounts with respecthese fair value adjustments as a result of theersion of all outstanding warrants to
purchase our preferred stock into warrants to pagetour common stock in connection with the coriglatf our initial public offering, or
IPO.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmats and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of oanéiial condition and results of operations are thaseour consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordegititaccounting principles generally accepted i thnited States. The preparation of thes
financial statements requires us to make estinatdgudgments that affect the reported amountss#ts, liabilities, revenues and expenses
and the disclosure of contingent assets and ligsilin our financial statements. On an ongoingshage evaluate our estimates and judgments
including those related to revenue recognitionr@ed clinical expenses, and stock-based compensaie base our estimates on historical
experience, known trends and events and variows &dbtors that we and our management believe tedmsonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making jumts about the carrying values of assets andifiebithat are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from thesgmates under different assumptions or condition

While our significant accounting policies are désed in more detail in the notes to our consoliddieancial statements appearing
elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K, wieele the following accounting policies to be mostical to the judgments and estimates
used in the preparation of our financial statements

Revenue Recognition

We have derived all of our revenue to date fromsulrcontracts with CUBRC under the BARDA Contrad ¢he NIAID Contract and
our subaward under the NIAID Grant. We recognizenele under these best-efforts, cost-reimbursataleast-plus-fixed-fee subcontracts
and subaward as we perform services under the stracts and subaward so long as a subcontractidradvard has been executed and the
for these services are fixed or determinable, lgdrllable and reasonably assured of collectioacégnized amounts reflect our partial
performance under the subcontracts and subawardaral direct and indirect costs incurred plusdifees, where applicable. We do not
recognize revenue under these arrangements forrasmlated to contract periods where funding tsyeb committed as amounts above
committed funding thresholds would not be considdieed or determinable or reasonably assured écion. Revenues and expenses undel
these arrangements are presented gross on ounstaseof operations and comprehensive loss as wedetermined we are the primary
obligor under these arrangements relative to teeareh and development services we perform agéeadical expert.

Revenue under our subcontracts under both the Nf2d¢btract and the BARDA Contract are earned undsrséplus-fixed-fee
arrangement in which we are reimbursed for direstincurred plus allowable indirect costs anckedffee earned. Billings under these
contracts are based on approved provisional indiiiing rates, which permit recovery of fringertedits, allowable overhead and general and
administrative expenses and a fixed fee.
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Revenue under our subaward under the NIAID Graeaised under a cost-reimbursable arrangementichwie are reimbursed for
direct costs incurred plus allowable indirect coBi#lings under the NIAID Grant are based on apebprovisional indirect billing rates,
which permit recovery of fringe benefits and alld@leageneral and administrative expenses.

Accrued Research and Development Expenses

As part of the process of preparing our finandiatesnents, we are required to estimate our acaypgenses. This process involves
reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, conuaiing with our personnel to identify serviceatthave been performed for us and
estimating the level of service performed and $woeiated cost incurred for the service when we It yet been invoiced or otherwise
notified of the actual cost. The majority of oungee providers invoice us monthly in arrears fengces performed or when contractual
milestones are met. We make estimates of our ad@xgenses as of each balance sheet date in anciah statements based on facts and
circumstances known to us at that time. We peralyiconfirm the accuracy of our estimates with sleevice providers and make adjustments
if necessary. Examples of estimated accrued reseaautt development expenses include fees paid to:

* CROs in connection with the conduct of our clinitéls;
» CMOs with respect to the manufacture of drug supmiyclinical trials and manufacture of drug sulbs&and finished product; a

» vendors and consultants in connection with prezdihdlevelopment activitie

We base our expenses related to clinical studiesioestimates of the services completed and sffoqpended pursuant to contracts witt
multiple CROs that conduct and manage clinicalistidn our behalf. The financial terms of theseagrents are subject to negotiation, vary
from contract to contract and may result in unepayment flows. There may be instances in which gatmmade to our vendors will exceed
the level of services provided and result in a gyapent of the clinical expense. Payments under sifitteese contracts depend on factors suc
as the successful enrollment of subjects and thgptadion of clinical trial milestones. In accruisgrvice fees, we estimate the time period ove
which services will be performed, enroliment of jgals, number of sites activated and the leveFofEto be expended in each period. If the
actual timing of the performance of services orléwel of effort varies from our estimate, we adljin® accrual or prepaid accordingly.
Although we do not expect our estimates to be ratgdifferent from amounts actually incurred oifir estimates of the status and timing of
services performed differ from the actual status taming of services performed we may report amstinat are too high or too low in any
particular period. To date, there have been no maatifferences from our estimates to the amowtaaly incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

We apply the fair value recognition provisions aid@nhcial Accounting Standards Board Accounting 8ads Codification Topic 718,
Compensation-Stock Compensatjar ASC 718, to account for all stock-based corspéan. We recognize compensation costs related to
stock options granted to employees based on tireagst fair value of the awards on the date of gi@tock compensation related to non-
employee awards is remeasured at each reportingdpantil the awards are vested.

Determining the amount of stock-based compensatidoe recorded requires us to develop estimatdsedhir value of stock-based
awards as of their grant date for awards grantexiployees and as of their measurement date fadavgaanted to noemployees. For awar
granted to employees, we recognize stock-based @osagtion expense ratably over the requisite sepgded, which in most cases is the
vesting period of the award. For awards grantatbtoemployees, we recognize stock-based compensatjgense over the requisite service
period using the accelerated attribution methodc@ating the fair value of stock-based awards meguthat we make highly subjective
assumptions. We use the Black-Scholes option grigindel to value our stock option awards. Use isfyhluation methodology requires that
we make assumptions as to the
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volatility of our common stock, the fair value airocommon stock on the grant date for the peridar po our IPO, the expected term of our
stock options, the risk free interest rate for aqukthat approximates the expected term of ouwrkstptions and our expected dividend yield.
Because there had been no public market for ountamstock prior to our IPO, we believe that we himsaifficient data from our limited
public trading history to appropriately utilize cpamy-specific historical and implied volatility mfmation. Accordingly, we utilize data from a
representative group of publicly traded companiesstimate expected stock price volatility. We steld representative companies from the
biopharmaceutical industry with similar charactécsas us, including stage of product developraedttherapeutic focus. We use the
simplified method as prescribed by the Securitied Bxchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin Ml67,Share-Based Paymeas we dt
not have sufficient historical exercise data tovjte a reasonable basis upon which to estimatexpected term of stock options granted to
employees. For non-employee grants, we use an egtarm equal to the remaining contractual terrthefaward. We utilize a dividend yield
of zero based on the fact that we have never @&l dividends and have no current intention ofqgagash dividends. The risk-free interest
rate used for each grant is based on the U.S. Omegield curve in effect at the time of measurehfeninstruments with a similar expected
term.

Under ASC 718, we are also required to estimatéetied of forfeitures expected to occur and reamthpensation expense only for th
awards that we ultimately expect will vest. We haeeformed an historical analysis of option awahdg were forfeited prior to vesting and
recorded total stock option expense that reflettiedestimated forfeiture rate. ASC 718 requira$eitures to be estimated at the time of grant
and revised, if necessary, in subsequent pericaistial forfeitures differ from those estimatesribg the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012 our estimated annual forfeiture wate 5.9%, 3% and 3%, respectively.

Stock-based compensation expense includes optiansegl to employees and non-employees and haséeerted in our statements of
operations and comprehensive loss as follows (ogands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Research and development $1,84¢ $ 69C $462
General and administrati 3,38¢ 611 14¢
Total $5,23( $1,301 $612

We estimated the fair value of each employee arattdir stock option award on the grant date usieg®lack-Scholes option-pricing
model based on the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Volatility factor 53.41-58.13% 54.5(-60.54% 56.8¢-68.12%
Expected life (in years 5.31-6.11 5.87.1 6.C-6.1
Risk-free interest rat 1.71%2.13% 0.91%-2.01% 0.85%-1.21%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

87



Table of Contents

Prior to our IPO, due to the absence of an actiaeket for our common stock, the fair value of oomenon stock was determined in gt
faith by our board of directors, with the assiseand upon the recommendations of management, basaltjective and subjective factors
consistent with the methodologies outlined in thmekican Institute of Certified Public Accountanta€tice Aid,Valuation of Privately-Held-
Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation

Since our IPO, the exercise price per share affibn grants has been set at the closing priceotommon stock on the NASDAQ
Global Select Market on the applicable date of gnahich our board of directors believes represémdair value of our common stock.

Stock-based compensation expense related to ageadied to employees was $4.0 million, $1.3 millérd $0.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respgctivelof December 31, 2014, we had approximatell. Binillion of total unrecognized
stock-based compensation expense related to udvastek options, expected to be recognized ovegightedaverage period of 2.6 years. \
expect that our stock-based compensation expelseddo stock options granted will grow in futyreriods due to the potential increases in
the value of our common stock and headcount.

During April 2014, we granted an option to a remployee to purchase 100,000 shares of common. stbekoption vests with respect
25% of the underlying shares eighteen months #feedate of grant, an additional 25% of the undieglghares two years after the date of
grant, and the remaining 50% of the underlying ehamn eight equal quarterly installments startingtee date three months after the two year
anniversary of the original date of grant. Thisi@pthas a contractual term of ten years. Duringp®et 2014, we granted an option to a non-
employee to purchase 10,000 shares of common stbékoption vests with respect to 50% of the ulyiey shares one year after the date of
grant, with the remaining 50% of the underlyingrelsavesting two years after the date of grant. ©pitfon has a contractual term of ten years.
We did not grant stock options to non-employeesngu2013 or 2012.

The total expense related to non-employee stodkmptvas $1.2 million, $39,000 and $0.3 million fbe years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 and3201

The following tables summarize the results of querations for each of the years ended Decemb&@¥ and 2013, together with the
changes in those items in dollars and as a pegenta

Years Ended

December 31 Increase/
2014 2013 (decrease %
(in thousands)

Revenue: $ 9,09¢ $ 10,48¢ $ (1,38¢) (139)%
Operating expense

Research and developmt 61,93: 31,50¢ 30,42« 97%

General and administratiy 12,93: 7,16¢ 5,764 _80%
Total operating expens: 74,86¢ 38,67¢ 36,18¢ _94%
Loss from operation (65,76¢€) (28,190 (37,57¢) 132%
Interest incom 17 10 7 70%
Interest expens (1,01%) (1,719 702 (4%
Other income 24 263 (239) _(9D)%
Net loss $(66,747) $(29,63¢) $(37,106) 125%
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Revenue from U.S. Government Contracts and G

The following table sets forth our contract andngr@venue for the years ended December 31, 20d 2@13:

Years Ended

December 31, Increase/
Revenug 2014 2013 (decrease %
(in thousands)
BARDA $6,88¢ $ 7,707 $ (821 (1)%
NIAID Contract 2,077 2,51z (43E) 17)%
NIAID Grant 13E 267 (132) (49)%

$9,00¢ $10,48¢ $(1.389  (13%

Contract and grant revenue was $9.1 million fornytear ended December 31, 2014 compared to $10li6mfibr the year ended
December 31, 2013, a decrease of $1.4 million366.1This decrease was primarily due to the scopdieaning of activities under our
subcontracts with respect to the BARDA and NIAIDn@acts conducted during the year ended Decemh&t034 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2013.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development expenses were $61.9mfiliche year ended December 31, 2014 compar$d1& million for the year
ended December 31, 2013, an increase of $30.4omili 97%. This increase was due to higher clirtoats of $18.4 million primarily
associated with our two Phase 3 clinical trialem@vacycline for the treatment of clAl and cUTI;inorease of $8.5 million in non-clinical and
drug manufacturing costs principally in supportNidA-related activities; an increase in personn&dtesl costs of $1.9 million in connection
with additional headcount to support our eravacyckPhase 3 clinical trials; an increase of $1.8anilin drug manufacturing costs related to
our activities under our BARDA subcontract; andrarease in stock-based compensation expense 2hdillion resulting from additional
headcount and our annual stock option awards tdagmegs granted during the quarter ended March @14 2These increases were offset in
part by a $2.0 million milestone fee under ourrise agreement with Harvard University that we irediduring the year ended December 31,
2013 in connection with the dosing of the firstipat in our Phase 3 clAl clinical trial. No milesifees were incurred during the year ended
December 31, 2014.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the yededkBDecember 31, 2014 were $12.9 million compaweki’t2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013, an increase of approXn&ie3 million or 80%. This increase was primaidlye to an increase in stock-based
compensation expense of $2.8 million resulting frxiditional headcount, our annual stock option d&#& employees granted during the
quarter ended March 31, 2014, as well as a stottarogranted to a non-employee during 2014; areiase in personnel-related costs of $1.0
million in connection with additional headcountsigpport our increased level of research and dewedopand presommercialization activitie
an increase of $0.9 million in consulting costsrarily related to planning and pre-commercializatétivities; and an increase in legal costs
of $0.3 million primarily related to patent costs.

Interest Incomt
Interest income for the years ended December 34 a6d December 31, 2013 was de minimis.
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Interest Expens

Interest expense for the year ended December 34, 28s $1.0 million compared to $1.7 million foetpear ended December 31, 2013,
a decrease of $0.7 million or 41%. The decreasstémest expense was primarily attributable to erelese in the principal balance under our
term loan facility with Silicon Valley Bank and Oxfd Finance associated with our principal paymerdade. We expect that our interest
expense will continue to decrease in future perasiwe continue to pay down principal on our inddhess to Silicon Valley Bank and Oxfc
Finance over the term of the loan facility.

Other Income

Other income for the year ended December 31, 2G#stde minimis compared to $0.3 million for the yeaded December 31, 2013.
Other income during the year ended December 313 2@k primarily due to a decrease in the fair valugne underlying preferred stock,
which impacted the fair value of our preferred kta@rrants issued in connection with various détarfcings. We do not anticipate that we
will recognize any further amounts with respecthese fair value adjustments as a result of theersion of all outstanding warrants to
purchase our preferred stock into warrants to @getour common stock in connection with the cormguietf our IPO.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and2201

The following tables summarize the results of querations for each of the years ended Decemb&@B and 2012, together with the
changes in those items in dollars and as a pe@enta

Years Ended

December 31 Increase/
2013 2012 (decrease %
(in thousands)

Revenue! $ 10,48¢ $ 7,60C $ 2,88¢ 38%
Operating expense

Research and developm 31,50¢ 17,29¢ 14,21 82%

General and administratiy 7,16¢ 4,30¢ 2,85¢ 66%
Total operating expens: 38,67¢ 21,60 17,07: 79%
Loss from operation (28,190 (14,009 (14,187 101%
Interest incom 10 — 10 10C%
Interest expens (1,719 (1,027 (69¢) 68%
Other income (expens 263 (63) 32€ (517)%
Net loss $(29,63¢) $(15,087) $(14,549) 96%

Revenue from U.S. Government Contracts and Gi
The following table sets forth our contract andngr@venue for the years ended December 31, 20d 2@12:
Years Ended
December 31 Increase/
Revenue 2013 2012 (decrease %
(in thousands)
BARDA $ 7,707 $4,87¢ $ 2,831 58%
NIAID Contract 2,512 2,451 61 2%
NIAID Grant 267 273 (6) (2%
$10,48¢ $7,60( $ 2,88¢ 38%
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Contract and grant revenue was $10.5 million ferytear ended December 31, 2013 compared to $7i6mfibr the year ended
December 31, 2012, an increase of $2.9 millior88%. This increase was primarily due to revenue@ated with an increase in the activities
under our subcontract with respect to the BARDA tCamt.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development expenses were $31.5miiliche year ended December 31, 2013 compar$tl 3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $14.2milli 82%. This increase was primarily due to angase of $8.5 million in clinical costs
related to our Phase 3 clinical program for erachiog for the treatment of clAl and cUTI; an incseaof $3.1 million in expenses related to
activities under our subcontract with CUBRC witepect to the BARDA Contract; a $2.0 million milestofee due under our license
agreement with Harvard University that became pkeydbring the year ended December 31, 2013 in adimmewith the dosing of the first
patient in our Phase 3 clAl clinical trial; an irese of $1.9 million in drug manufacturing costoammted with our Phase 3 clinical program
eravacycline for the treatment of clAl and cUTI;inarease in personnel-related costs of $0.9 millmsupport our increased activities related
to the Phase 3 clinical program for eravacyclihe,BARDA Contract, the NIAID Contract, and the NDAGrant; and an increase of $0.6
million in development costs associated with the tarmulation of eravacycline. These increasesvedfset in part by a decrease in clinical
and drug manufacturing costs of $3.3 million atttdble to the completion of our Phase 2 clinidal of eravacycline in the first half of 2012.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the yedecDecember 31, 2013 were $7.2 million compareg#it8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012, an increase of $2.9 million6366This increase was primarily due to an incredskl.3 million in audit, legal, insurance
and consulting costs primarily due to operating asiblic company; an increase in personnel-relatats of $0.8 million; and an increase in
stock-based compensation expense of $0.5 million.

Interest Incomt
Interest income for the years ended December 313 a6d December 31, 2012 was de minimis.

Interest Expens

Interest expense for the year ended December 3B, &8s $1.7 million compared to $1.0 million foethear ended December 31, 2012,
an increase of approximately $0.7 million or 68%eTncrease in interest expense was primarilybaitiable to an increase in debt under the
term loan facility with Silicon Valley Bank and Gxd Finance associated with our borrowings in Ddzem2012 and February 2013.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) for the year ended DeceB81het013 was $0.3 million compared to $(0.1) millfor the year ended
December 31, 2012. The increase in other incomeuwagrily due to a decrease in the fair valuehef inderlying preferred stock, which
impacted the fair value of our preferred stock wats issued in connection with our December 20t2Fabruary 2013 debt facility with
Silicon Valley Bank and Oxford Finance.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred losses since our inception andipate that we will continue to incur losses fofemst the next several years. We
expect that our research and development and demetadministrative expenses will continue to @&se and, as a result, we will need
additional capital to fund our operations, which mway obtain from additional financings, researafding, collaborations, contract and grant
revenue or other sources.

Since our inception, we have funded our operatitipally through the receipt of funds from puhdifferings and private placements
of equity securities, debt financings and contrasearch funding and research grants from the d&tates government. As of December 31,
2014, we had cash and cash equivalents of appreedyr121.0 million. We invest cash in excess ahietiate requirements in accordance
with our investment policy, primarily with a view tiquidity and capital preservation. As of DecemBg, 2014, our funds were held in cash
and money market funds.

On March 25, 2013, we completed the sale of 10Z8BBIshares of common stock in our IPO at a pridkégublic of $7.00 per share,
resulting in net proceeds to us of $68.0 millioreafleducting underwriting discounts and commissiofi$4.4 million and offering costs of
$2.5 million. On April 12, 2013, we completed tteesof an additional 797,792 shares of common sto¢ke underwriters under the
underwriters’ option in the IPO to purchase additioshares of common stock at a price to the pwibl&7.00 per share, resulting in net
proceeds to us of $5.2 million after deducting unditing discounts and commissions.

On November 13, 2013, we completed the sale of4080 shares of common stock in a follow-on pubffering at a price to the public
of $10.00 per share, resulting in net proceedstof$41.8 million after deducting underwriting eisints and commissions of $2.7 million and
offering costs of $0.5 million. On November 19, 30tve completed the sale of an additional 407,4@8es of common stock to the
underwriters under the underwriters’ option in thikow-on public offering to purchase additionabsbs of common stock at a price to the
public of $10.00 per share, resulting in net prasge us of $3.8 million after deducting underwgtidiscounts and commissions.

On October 22, 2014, we completed the sale of 4gPshares of common stock in a follow-on pubffering at a price to the public of
$19.00 per share, which number of shares inclutesitderwriters’ exercise in full of their optiampurchase additional shares. This offering
resulted in net proceeds to us of $80.8 millioeradteducting underwriting discounts and commissair$5.2 million and offering costs of $C
million.

The following table summarizes our sources and aseash for each of the periods set forth below:

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activit $(57,627) $(24,50¢) $(16,657)

Net cash used in investing activiti (197) (129 (59

Net cash provided by financing activiti 76,14« 118,26¢ 3,33¢

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ 18,33( $ 93,63: $(13,379)

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@h8, our operating activities used net cash of@5illion, $24.5 million and
$16.7 million, respectively. The net cash usedgarating activities in these periods primarily féetifrom our net losses and changes in our
working capital accounts. The increase in net ces&dl in operations for the year ended Decembe2®Y as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2013 was due primarily to higher apegaxpenses during the year ended December 34, @0$74.9 million as compared to
$38.7 million for the year ended December 31, 20h® increase in net cash used in operations éoyd¢ar ended December 31, 2013 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 veagrduarily to higher operating expenses duringysa ended December 31, 2013 of
$38.7 million as compared to $21.6 million for trear ended December 31, 2012.
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During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@h#8, our investing activities used net cash ofl$1@0, $129,000 and $54,000,
respectively. The net cash used by investing des/during these periods resulted from purchaépsoperty, plant and equipment to facilitate
our increased research and development activitidsreereased headcount.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@b@ our net cash provided by financing activities $76.1 million, $118.3 millic
and $3.3 million, respectively. The net cash predithy financing activities during the year endeddmsber 31, 2014 was primarily related to
proceeds from our follow-on public offering of $80million, as well as proceeds from the exercisstotk options of $1.5 million, offset in
part by principal payments on our loans payabl$6ot million. The net cash provided by financing\aties during the year ended
December 31, 2013 primarily included proceeds foamIPO of $73.8 million, proceeds from our follaw-public offering of $45.6 million,
and $3.0 million in borrowings that we made under @ebt facility with Silicon Valley Bank and OxfbiFinance, offset in part by repayments
on our debt facility of $4.2 million. The net cgstovided by financing activities during the yeaded December 31, 2012 was primarily rel;
to $6.2 million in borrowings made under our dedtility with Silicon Valley Bank and Oxford Financeffset in part by $2.2 million in
principal payments on our loans payable.

Credit Facilities

In May 2011, we executed a Loan and Security Agergwith two financial institutions, Silicon Vallegank and Oxford Finance, whi
provided for up to $8.0 million in funding, to beade available in two tranches. We borrowed thé $its5 million in May 2011 and the second
tranche for the remaining $6.5 million in DecemBei1. As of December 31, 2014, these amounts heee paid in full and there is no
outstanding principal or interest balance relatethése two tranches. On December 20, 2012, wededdhe Loan and Security Agreement tc
provide for up to an additional $9.2 million in fling, to be made available in two tranches. Wedweed the first $6.2 million on
December 20, 2012, of which $3.0 million of prireignd accrued interest remained outstanding aémber 31, 2014. The second tranche of
$3.0 million was borrowed by us on February 28,2@f which $1.6 million of principal and accruederest remained outstanding at
December 31, 2014. As of December 31, 2014, thesggte principal balance outstanding was $4.6 anilli

The $4.6 million of principal outstanding under thebt facility as of December 31, 2014 bears istesie 9% per annum with an
additional payment of 2.9% of the original $6.2lrail of principal due at the maturity date of Marth2016. We were required to pay interest
only on the 2012 borrowing through June 1, 2013.aMenow repaying this indebtedness in 33 equakihppayments of $0.2 million throug
March 1, 2016. The additional payment of 2.9% ef dhiginal $6.2 million of principal will be due #te same time as the last loan payment.
The remaining $1.6 million of outstanding principahich we borrowed under the debt facility in Redmy 2013, bears interest at 9% per
annum with an additional payment of 2.9% of thgioal $3.0 million of principal due at the maturdwte of May 1, 2016. We were requiret
pay interest only on the 2013 borrowing through éatdl, 2013. We are now repaying this indebtedime38 equal monthly payments of $0.1
million through May 1, 2016. The additional paymeh®.9% of the original $3.0 million will be du¢ the same time as the last loan payment

The outstanding loans under the debt facility alateralized by a blanket lien on all of our comte assets, excluding intellectual
property, and by a negative pledge on our intal@gbroperty. The loan and security agreement amtaustomary default provisions that
include material adverse events, as defined thetteéh would entitle the lenders to declare alhpipal, interest and other amounts owed by us
under the loan and security agreement immediatgdyashd payable.
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In connection with the December 2012 borrowing uride debt facility, we issued to the lenders 18rygarrants to purchase an
aggregate of 964,605 shares of Series C prefetoell with an exercise price of $0.2571 per shareonnection with the February 2013
borrowing under the debt facility, the warrant wsued to Silicon Valley Bank automatically becamereisable for an additional 233,372
shares of Series C preferred stock. In additionissxeed to Oxford Finance a 10-year warrant tolmase an additional 233,372 shares of Serie
C preferred stock with an exercise price of $0.2p&dshare. Upon completion of the IPO, the wasr&#ued in connection with the Decem
2012 borrowing and the February 2013 borrowing becaxercisable for an aggregate of 49,356 sharesrafommon stock at an exercise
price of $7.46 per share and the related warrahtlify was reclassified to additional paid-in dapi

All warrants issued in connection with the loarsirSilicon Valley Bank and Oxford Finance have berercised and no warrants
remain outstanding as of December 31, 2014. Thewairants that remain outstanding are warranpitohase 1,103 shares of common stoc
issued to Silicon Valley Bank in September 200teiation to an equipment loan at an exercise @ic29.00.

Operating Capital Requirements

We expect to incur increasing operating losseafteast the next several years as we continuermgoing Phase 3 clinical trial of
eravacycline for the treatment of cUTI, seek markgapproval for eravacycline, pursue developmémrtravacycline for additional indicatior
including hospital-acquired bacterial pneumonias atther serious and life-threatening infectionsidiect pre-commercialization and launch-
related activities for eravacycline, advance oteoproduct candidates and satisfy our obligatiorder our license agreement with Harvard
University. We may not be able to complete the tgyaent and initiate commercialization of eravaayelor our other product candidates if,
among other things, our preclinical research aimicell trials are not successful, the FDA or the &ANbes not approve eravacycline or our
other product candidates when we expect, or abiflynding under the NIAID Contract, the NIAID Giteor the BARDA Contract is
discontinued.

We believe that our available funds will be suffiti to fund our current operating plan into atti¢hs third quarter of 2016, enable us to
obtain top-line data from our ongoing Phase 3 céihtrial of eravacycline for the treatment of cUi submit an NDA to the FDA for
eravacycline, and to perform pre-commercializatiotivities for eravacycline. We expect that thased will not, however, be sufficient to
enable us to commercially launch eravacycline. Assalt, we will be required to obtain further fumgl through public or private equity
offerings, debt financings, collaborations andiiag arrangements or other sources.

We have based our projections of operating capgtgilirements on assumptions that may prove todmriact and we may use all of our
available capital resources sooner than we expectuse of the numerous risks and uncertaintiesassd with research, development and
commercialization of pharmaceutical products, welarable to estimate the exact amount of our opegratpital requirements. Our future
funding requirements will depend on many factarsluding, but not limited to:

» the timing and costs of our ongoing Phase 3 clinita of eravacycline for the treatment of cU’
* manufacturing costs related to regulatory filings anticipated commercial launc

« the initiation, progress, timing, costs and resoftpreclinical studies and clinical trials for cather product candidates and poter
product candidate:

« the amount of funding that we receive undersubcontracts under the BARDA Contract and the BI&lontract and under our
subaward under the NIAID Grant, and the activifiesdled under the BARDA Contract, the NIAID Contracd the NIAID Grant

e the number and characteristics of product candidhtz we pursue

« the timing and costs of developing eravacycioreadditional indications, including hospital-aiged bacterial pneumonias and
other serious and li-threatening infection:
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» the outcome, timing and costs of seeking regulaapprovals

» the costs of commercialization activities foaacycline and other product candidates if weivecmarketing approval, including
the timing and costs of establishing product safemketing, distribution and manufacturing capaiei;

« revenue received from commercial sales of eravaw/cbubject to receipt of marketing appro
« the terms and timing of any future collaboratidit®nsing, consulting or other arrangements thatmag establish

« the amount and timing of any payments we may beired to make, or that we may receive, in connectwith the licensing, filing
prosecution, defense and enforcement of any patertther intellectual property rights, includingl@stone and royalty payments
and patent prosecution fees that we are obligatpay to Harvard pursuant to our license agreen

» the costs of preparing, filing and prosecutiagent applications, maintaining and protectingiotellectual property rights and
defending against intellectual property relatedneta and

» the extent to which we -license or acquire other products and technolo

We expect that we will need to obtain substanti@itonal funding in order to commercialize eravelgye. To the extent that we raise
additional capital through the sale of common steckivertible securities or other equity securjtte ownership interests of our existing
stockholders may be materially diluted and the teafithese securities could include liquidatiorotirer preferences that could adversely affec
the rights of our existing stockholders. In addifidebt financing, if available, would result ircirased fixed payment obligations and may
involve agreements that include restrictive covém#mat limit our ability to take specific actiorssich as incurring additional debt, making
capital expenditures or declaring dividends, tlmatld adversely impact our ability to conduct ousipess. If we are unable to raise capital
when needed or on attractive terms, we could beetbto significantly delay, scale back or discamtithe development or commercializatio
eravacycline or other product candidates, seelaloothtors at an earlier stage than otherwise woeildesirable or on terms that are less
favorable than might otherwise be available, atidgaish or license, potentially on unfavorablentsr our rights to eravacycline or other
product candidates that we otherwise would seelet@lop or commercialize ourselves.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our outstanding @ettial obligations as of payment due date by peaid>ecember 31, 2014:

Payment due by period

Less thar More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5Years
(in thousands)
Term loan (1, $ 5,20¢ $ 3,78¢ $ 1,42( — —
Operating leases (. 2,66¢ 1,431 1,23¢ — —
Harvard milestone payment ( 3,32¢ 25 3,30( — —
Total contractual cash obligatio $11,20! $ 5,24¢ $ 5,95¢ — —

(1) Consists of repayment obligations relating iagipal and interest outstanding under our detitifg with Silicon Valley Bank and
Oxford Finance as of December 31, 2C

(2) On September 4, 2014, we amended our exispiegating lease which extended our lease term thwrdlayember 30, 2016, and entered
into a new operating sublease for additional spétiea lease term through November 30, 2(
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(3) Consists of milestone payments that would bexdoe to Harvard of (i) $3.0 million upon acceptifrom the FDA of an NDA filing for
eravacycline, and (ii) an aggregate amount of ¥8®brelated to various development milestoneséatam preclinical compound

We are contractually obligated under our licenseagent with Harvard University to make paymentslaovard upon the achievement
of specified future development and regulatory stdees totaling up to $15.1 million for each licethgroduct candidate ($3.1 million of
which has already been paid with respect to eralame), and to pay tiered royalties in the singlgitd based on annual worldwide net sales, if
any, of licensed products by us, our affiliates anbdlicensees. We are also obligated to pay Hamaamkcified share of non-royalty
sublicensing revenue that we receive from sublieesgor the grant of sublicenses under the licandgeo reimburse Harvard for specified
patent prosecution and maintenance costs. Manyesktpotential payments are contingent upon ther@awe of certain future events and,
given the nature of those events, it is uncleamyifesver, we may be required to pay such amoontghat the total amount of such payments
will be. Except for the milestone payments refesghin the contractual obligations table and describn the footnote above, the table does no
include any other potential milestone or royaltympants to Harvard.

We have employment agreements with certain empoydich require the funding of a specific levepafyments, if certain events, such
as a change in control or termination without caoseur.

In the course of normal business operations, wetedse agreements with contract service provideessist in the performance of our
research and development and manufacturing aesvitWe can elect to discontinue the work undertlgseements at any time. We could
enter into additional collaborative research, caettresearch, manufacturing, and supplier agreeniemiie future, which may require up-front
payments and even long-term commitments of cash.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have, during the periods presentedyando not currently have, any off-balance sheetrgyements, as defined under
applicable SEC rules.

ITEM 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changiegarest rates. Our cash equivalents are cladsaeavailable-for-sale and consisted o
money market funds at December 31, 2014 and 2di8investments in these financial instruments adeann accordance with an investment
policy approved by our board of directors whichcsfies the categories, allocations and ratingsestisities we may consider for investment.
The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while at the same time imé&ing the income we receive without
significantly increasing risk. Some of the finaddérestruments that we invest in could be subjeahtrket risk. This means that a change in
prevailing interest rates may cause the valueefristruments to fluctuate. For example, if we pase a security that was issued with a fixed
interest rate and the prevailing interest rater lases, the value of that security will probabBctine. To minimize this risk, we intend to
maintain a portfolio which may include cash, caghigalents and investment securities availablesle in a variety of securities which may
include money market funds, government and non-gwrent debt securities and commercial paper, & warious maturity dates. Based on
our current investment portfolio, we do not beli¢hat our results of operations or our financialdition would be materially impacted by an
immediate change of 10% in interest rates.

We do not hold or issue derivatives, derivative oadity instruments or other financial instrumergs$peculative trading purposes.
Further, we do not believe our cash equivalentsimestment securities have significant risk ofadstf or illiquidity. We made this
determination based on discussions with our investradvisors and a review of our holdings. Whilebhgéeve our cash equivalents and
investment securities do not contain excessive wgkcannot provide absolute assurance that ifutiee our investments will not be subjec
adverse changes in market value. All of our investis are recorded at fair value.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, IncC(ihgpany) as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statsmé&operations and comprehensive loss, conVepiteferred stock and stockholders’
equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of thesthyears in the period ended December 31, 2014 Thescial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these foahstatements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform a @fuithe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audit included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnixiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting thewents and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlebars significant estimates made by managementeaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of
Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of Decemb&034, and 2013 and the consolidated results opisations and its cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31,20 conformity with U.S. generally accepted aguing principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 6, 2015
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Assets

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivabl

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Restricted cas

Other asset

Total asset

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred revenu
Current portion of term loan payat
Total current liabilities
Accrued final interest payment on term Ic
Deferred rent, net of current porti
Term loan payabl
Commitments and contingenci

Preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share; 55B@6es authorized; no shares issued and outsts
Common stock, par value $0.001 per share; 12508fs authorized; 30,806 and 25,629 shares isst

Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except par value amounts)

and outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013 ctgply

Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financédstents.
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December 31

December 31

2014 2013
$ 121,04 $ 102,71
3,45¢ 1,70¢
2,09 1,00z
126,59 105,42(
30C 23E
19¢ 19¢
10€ 32
$ 127,20 $ 105,88
$ 4108 $ 1,88
9,47 5,29(
25¢ 92
3,43 5,92¢
17,27¢ 13,19
22: 327

16 —
1,12 4,56(
31 26
294,99 207,50
(186,46 (119,72)
108,56t 87,80
$ 127,20 $ 105,88
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Revenues

Operating expenses
Research and developm
General and administrati\
Total operating expens:
Loss from operation

Other income (expense)
Interest incomi
Interest expens
Other income (expens
Other expense, n

Net loss

Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Loss

(In thousands, except per share data)

Net loss per shar-basic and diluted
Weighted-average number of common shares used in net loss ghare-basic and diluted

Comprehensive los:

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanaédstents.
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Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

$ 909t $1048 $ 7,60
61,03 31,50¢ 17,29

12,93 7,16¢ 4,30¢

74,86¢ 38,67¢ 21,60:
(65,760 (28,190 (14,009
17 10 —
(1,019 (1,719 (1,029)
24 26¢ (63)
(976) (1,449 (1,089
$(66,749  $(29,63)  $(15,08)
$ (249 $ (179 $ (47.5)
26,80: 16,66 317
$(66,749  $(29,63)  $(15,08)
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Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred $tk and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

(In thousands)

Series /-1
Convertible
Preferred Shares

Series /-2
Convertible
Preferred Shares

Series B
Convertible
Preferred Shares

Series C
Convertible
Preferred Shares

Common Shares

Additional
Paid-In

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Shares Amount

Shares Amount

Capital

Total

Stockholders

Accumulated
Deficit

Equity
(Deficit)

Balance at
December 31, 2011

Exercise of stoc
options

Stock-based
compensation
expense

Net loss

10,04C $ 9,92 13,09¢ $ 15,058 57,47 $ 9,94¢

175,41¢ $ 44,91¢

30¢

$

— $ 63% %

(74,999 $

(15,08)

(68,60

29

612
(15,08)

Balance at
December 31, 2012

10,04C $ 9,92t 13,09¢ $ 15,058 57,47. $ 9,94¢

175,41¢ $ 44,91¢

328

(90,08 $

(83,049

Exercise of stoc
options
Issuance of commc
stock from initial
public offering
(net of
underwriters
discounts and
issuance costs o
$7,391)
Conversion of
convertible
preferred stock
into common
stock
Reclassification of
warrants for
common stocl
Issuance of commc
stock from
follow-on public
offering (net of
underwriters
discounts and
issuance costs of
$3,475)
Stock-based
compensation
expense
Net loss

(10,040 (9,925 (13,096 (15,058 (57,47) (9,946 (175,419

— 5€

— 11,515

(44,919  8,82¢

— 4,907

12 73,18:

9 79,83:

— 462

5 45,59«

— 1,301

(29,630)

96

73,19«

79,84:

462

45,59¢

1,301
(29,630)

Balance at
December 31, 2013

= 25,62¢

26 $ 207,500 $

(119,72) $

87,80¢

Exercise of stoc
options

Issuance of commc
stock from
follow-on public
offering (net of
underwriters
discounts and
issuance costs o
$5,542)

Issuance of commc
stock under
employee stock
purchase pla

Issuance of commc
stock from
warrant exercis

Stocl-basec
compensation
expenst

Net loss

— 56¢

= 4,54:

— 1,421

5 80,76

— 5,23(

(66,747

1,421

80,76¢

83

5,23(
(66,747

Balance at
December 31, 201

— 30,80¢

$

31 $ 294,99 $

(186,46) $

108,56t




See accompanying notes to consolidated financédstents.
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Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash useg@erating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of deferred financing costs and dabtadunt
Accretion of final interest payment on term loi
Fair value adjustment of warrants and investortrajitigation
Stock-based compensation expel
Loss from disposal of property and equipm
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Restricted cas
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses and accrued final interest payoretgrm loar
Deferred revenu
Net cash used in operating activit
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipm
Net cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net of undeamaiscounts and issuance cc
Deferred financing fee
Proceeds from issuance of term loan pay
Repayment of term loan payal
Proceeds from issuance of stock under stock j
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiy
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for intere:

Fair value of warrants issued in connection wittuénce of term loa
Conversion of convertible preferred stock into comnnstock
Reclassification of warrant liability to additiongaic-in-capital
Reclassification of deferred financing costs toiildal paic-in-capital

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanaddstents.
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Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
$(66,74)  $(29,630)  $(15,08)
124 12¢ 352
22¢€ 34z 175
11F 19¢ 12¢

- (26%) 63
5,23( 1,301 612

2 — —

—_ (63) —
(1,757) 74¢€ (2,267)
(1,199 (154) (227)
2,22¢ 31C 772
3,98: 3,19( (1,87¢)
16€ (607) 69¢
(57,629 (24,50 (16,65
(191 (129 (59
(197) (129) (54)
80,76¢ 119,40 (611)
— — (85)

— 3,00( 6,20(
(6,126) (4,237) (2,197)
1,50¢ 96 29
76,14 118,26t 3,33¢
$18,33( $9363:  $(13,37Y
102,71 9,07¢ 22,45¢
$121,04; $102,71: $ 9,07¢
$ 948 0§ 114: $ 70C
$ — $ 115 $ 241
$ — $7984 $ —
$ — $ 462 $ —
$ — $ 1261 $ —
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Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Organization and Operations
The Company

Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Compang’'g, dlinical-stage biopharmaceutical company ttes iwcorporated in Delaware on
July 7, 2006 and has a principal place of busine¥gatertown, Massachusetts. The Company is ussngroprietary chemistry technology to
create novel antibiotics for serious and life-the@ing multidrug-resistant infections. The Compangleveloping its lead product candidate
eravacycline, a fully synthetic tetracycline detiva, as a broad-spectrum intravenous (“1V”) andl @ntibiotic for use as a first-line empiric
monotherapy for the treatment of multidrug-resistafections, including multidrug-resistant Gramgagéve infections. The Company is
conducting a global Phase 3 clinical program favacycline called IGNITE [ nvestigatingG ram-N egativel nfectionsT reated withe
ravacycline) consisting of two Phase 3 clinicalsi IGNITE 1 is a Phase 3 clinical trial evalugtthe safety and efficacy of eravacycline with
IV administration for the treatment of complicaiatta-abdominal infections (“clAl”), for which th€ompany announced top-line data in
December 2014. IGNITE 2, a second Phase 3 clitiigdlof eravacycline for the treatment of complaghurinary tract infections (“cUTI"),
with IV-to-oral transition therapy, is ongoing.

Consistent with guidance issued by the United Statod and Drug Administration (“FDA”), with respec the development of
antibiotics for clAl and the Company’s discussiovith the FDA, the Company expects that positivelitssrom these two Phase 3 clinical
trials will be sufficient to support submissionahew drug application (“NDA”") for eravacyclinetime treatment of clAl and cUTI. In
December 2014, the Company announced positivéiriepdata from IGNITE 1. In September 2014, the @any announced positive data fr
the lead-in portion of IGNITE 2, and in October 20the Company announced the selection of thedmse for the IV-toeral transition theray
(1.5 mg/kg IV followed by 200 mg oral dose) to beleiated by the pivotal portion of IGNITE 2 and théiation of patient enroliment. The
Company expects to have top-line data from thetplywortion of IGNITE 2 in mid-2015. If the Compangmpletes the pivotal portion of
IGNITE 2 when anticipated, and it is successfud, @ompany expects to submit an NDA to the FDA lgyehd of 2015 and a marketing
authorization application (“MAA"), to the Europededicines Agency (“EMA"), in the first half of 2018he Company is also pursuing the
discovery and development of additional antibiotitat target unmet medical needs, including multidresistant Gram-negative bacteria.

The Company is devoting substantially all of itas to product research and development, marketldpment, and raising capital. T
Company is subject to a number of risks similathtwse of other life science companies in a sinsitage of development, including rapid
technological change, dependence on key individealmpetition from other companies, compliance witlrernment regulations, protectior
proprietary technology, dependence on third partiesduct liability, the need for development ofrooercially viable products, regulatory
approval of products, uncertainty of market acoegeeof products, and the need to obtain additifinahcing to fund the development of its
product candidates. The Company has not completeelgpment of any product candidate and has destiestantially all of its financial
resources and efforts to research and developinehtding preclinical and clinical development. TBempany expects to continue to incur
significant expenses and increasing operating ofgeat least the next several years, and expecexjuire additional financial resources to
advance its product candidates to either commestagle or liquidity events.

The Company has incurred annual net operatingddasevery year since its inception. As of Decen81er2014, the Company had
incurred losses since inception of $186.5 millibhe Company has not generated any product revealatsd to its primary business purpose
and has financed its operations primarily throughlig offerings and private placements of its egsicurities, debt financings and funding
from the United States government. In March 2068,Gompany completed the sale of 10,714,286 sléi@smmon stock in the Company’s
initial public offering (“IPO”) at a price to theuplic of $7.00 per share. In April 2013, the Comypan
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completed the sale of an additional 797,792 shafreemmon stock to the underwriters for the IPOrufize exercise of the underwriters’
option in the IPO to purchase additional sharesoaimon stock at a price to the public of $7.00Névember 2013, the Company completed
the sale of 4,907,403 shares of common stock all@f-on public offering at a price to the publit%10.00 per share. In October 2014, the
Company completed the sale of 4,542,500 sharesmfmon stock in a follow-on public offering at ageito the public of $19.00 per share.

There can be no assurance that the Company walbleeto obtain additional debt or equity financorggenerate revenues from
collaborative partners, on terms acceptable tcCibmmpany, on a timely basis or at all. The failuf¢he Company to obtain sufficient funds on
acceptable terms when needed could have a maddxiatse effect on the Company’s business, resuttparations and financial condition.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Segment Informatior

Operating segments are defined as componentsaitarprise about which separate discrete informasi@vailable for evaluation by t
chief operating decision maker, or decision-malgngup, in deciding how to allocate resources araksessing performance. The Company
views its operations and manages its businessdroparating segment, which is the business of dpird and commercializing its proprietary
chemistry technology to create novel antibiotiassferious and life-threatening infections, inclgimultidrug-resistant infections.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets, liabilities, revenue and exgeaséd related disclosures. On an ongoing
basis, the Company’s management evaluates itsagsnincluding estimates related to clinical taietruals, stock-based compensation
expense, contract and grant revenues, and expéirse€ompany bases its estimates on historicalretuee and other markepecific or othe
relevant assumptions that it believes to be reddenmder the circumstances. Actual results maerdifom those estimates or assumptions.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Off-Balance Sheeisk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@mmpany to concentrations of credit risk are prilpaash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash. The Company maintains its caslttaskl equivalent balances in the form of cash ammkegnmarket accounts with financial
institutions that management believes are credttwoiThe Company’s investment policy includes glirses on the quality of the institutions
and financial instruments and defines allowablegtments that the Company believes minimize it®gure to concentration of credit risk.
The Company has no financial instruments with @ffabce-sheet risk of loss.

Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of the Company and its wholly owned subsiels, Tetraphase Securities
Corporation and Tetraphase Pharma SecuritiesNtassachusetts Securities Corporations, and TetsegPharmaceuticals (Bermuda) Ltd. All
significant intercompany balances and transacti@ve been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith maturities of three months or less from tlagedof purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents at Dece®ih@014 and 2013 consisted of cash and money trfarkes.
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Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s financial instruments consist priattipof cash and cash equivalents, accounts relskeivaccounts payable, accrued
liabilities, and term loan payable. Fair value meaments are classified and disclosed in one ofdif@ving three categories:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 that are observablegeitlirectly or indirectly, such as quoted pricesdimilar assets or liabilitie
guoted prices in markets that are not active; lbeoinputs that are observable or can be corrobdiag observable market
data for substantially the full term of the assmt8abilities.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by littla@market activity and that are significant to faie value of the assets or
liabilities.
Financial instruments measured at fair value d@3eafember 31, 2014 and 2013 are classified belowdbas the three fair value hierarc
tiers described above (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements ai
Reporting Date Using

Balance Level 1 Level Z Level &
December 31, 201
Cash $ 2,91¢ $ 2,91¢ $— $ —
Money market funds, included in cash equivals $118,12: $118,12: $— $—
December 31, 201
Cash $ 2,70¢ $ 2,70¢ $— $—
Money market funds, included in cash equivals $100,00¢ $100,00¢ $— $—

The Company measures cash equivalents at fair ealw@erecurring basis. The fair value of cash esjaivts is determined based on
“Level 1" inputs, which consist of quoted pricesaictive markets for identical assets.

The fair value of the Company’s term loan payablddtermined using current applicable rates foilairmstruments as of the balance
sheet date. The Company’s term loan payable isvall3liability within the fair value hierarchy. Ehair value of the Company’s term loan
payable at December 31, 2014, computed pursuantiiecounted cash flow technique using the effedtiterest rate based on the Company’s
estimated borrowing rate at December 31, 2014 ,$&2% million.

The fair value of the preferred stock warrant ligpas of March 25, 2013 was determined basedl@vél 3" inputs utilizing the Black-
Scholes option pricing model (Note 7). On March 2813, upon completion of the Company’s IPO, therards to purchase preferred stock
converted into warrants to purchase common stodklasm Company reclassified the fair value of therarts as of March 25, 2013 to
additional paid-in capital. The following table pemts activity in the preferred stock warrant ligpduring the year ended December 31, 2013
(in thousands):

Balance
Fair value at December 31, 2012 $ 61C
Value of warrants issued in 20 11t
Decrease in fair value recognized in net | (269
Reclassification of fair value to additional g-in capital (462
Fair value at December 31, 20 $ —

105



Table of Contents

Accounts Receivable

In September 2011, the National Institutes of Heslf‘NIH") National Institute of Allergy and Infamus Diseases (“NIAID”) division
awarded a contract of up to $35.8 million ovena{year term for the development of TP-271, a &l compound, for respiratory disease
caused by bacterial biothreat pathogens (“NIAID Eact”) (Note 3). The Company is collaborating weélUBRC Inc. (“CUBRC"), an
independent, not for profit, research corporatlmat specializes in U.S. government-based contrantthis NIAID Contract and has entered
into a subcontract with CUBRC that could potenyipitovide funding to the Company of up to approxieha$13.3 million over the five-year
term, including committed funding of $8.3 milliorofn the initial contract date through September28d,6, of which $7.1 million had been
received by the Company through December 31, 2@&ddition during 2011, the Company was a subagetthder a separate grant from the
NIAID (“NIAID Grant”) (Note 3).

In January 2012, the Biomedical Advanced ReseardrDeevelopment Authority (‘“BARDA”), an agency ofetU.S. Department of
Health and Human Services, awarded a contract ¢ $67.0 million for the development of eravacyelias a potential countermeasure for th
treatment of disease caused by bacterial biotipathbgens (“BARDA Contract”). The funding under 8®RDA Contract is also being used
for certain activities in the development of eragx@dine to treat certain infections caused by lieeatening multidrug-resistant bacteria. The
Company is also collaborating with CUBRC on the BRContract and has entered into a subcontract @iiBRC that could potentially
provide funding to the Company of up to approxirhe$39.8 million, including committed funding of $3® million from the initial contract
date through September 9, 2016, of which $16.4anilhad been received by the Company through Deee3th 2014 (Note 3).

Accounts receivable at December 31, 2014 and 28dr@2sent amounts due from CUBRC under the Companysontracts under the
NIAID Contract and the BARDA Contract and under @empan’s subaward under the NIAID Grant. The Companyactice is to bill the
prime contractor, CUBRC, amounts for which the Camphas been invoiced by third parties in the cds®ntract research or subcontractor
costs or for internal costs incurred. Expensestiyrassociated with the Company’s NIAID and BARQANtracts and NIAID Grant that have
been accrued at the end of the reporting periosatrilled to the prime contractor until third paimvoices have been received or until inte
costs have been paid. Unbilled accounts receiwah&e$2.9 million and $0.8 million at December 3112 and 2013, respectively.

Property and Equipment, Ne

Property and equipment are stated at cost, lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreaiadiod amortization are recognized
using the straight-line method over the estimataful lives of the respective assets, which is galyethree to five years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter ofdhse term or the estimated useful economic livélseorelated assets.

Restricted Casl

At December 31, 2014 and 2013 the Company had 8@09n restricted cash deposits with a bank, ocWl$i159,000 is collateral for a
letter of credit issued to the landlord of the Camgs leased facility. If the Company defaults tsrental obligations, $159,000 will be
payable to the lessor of the leased facility. Iditioin, the Company has $40,000 in restricted ¢astecure the Comparsytorporate credit ca
issued through the same bank.

Revenue Recognitio

The Company’s revenue is derived from its subcatdravith CUBRC under the BARDA Contract and the NDAContract and its
subaward under the NIAID Grant (Note 3). The Conypatognizes revenue under these best-efforts;reabursable and cost-plus-fixéele
subcontracts and subaward as the Company perfemvises under the subcontracts and subaward sca®agsubcontract and subaward has
been executed
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and the fees for these services are fixed or détebte, legally billable and reasonably assuredafiection. Recognized amounts reflect the
Company'’s partial performance under the subcorgtractl subaward and equal direct and indirect costsred plus fixed fees, where
applicable. The Company does not recognize revander these arrangements for amounts related toaodiperiods where funding is not yet
committed as amounts above committed funding tlmidshwould not be considered fixed or determinalbleeasonably assured of collection.
Revenues and expenses under these arrangemeptesepted gross on the consolidated statementseodtions and comprehensive loss a
Company has determined it is the primary obligatarthese arrangements relative to the researcbesrelopment services it performs as |
technical expert.

Revenue under the Company’s subcontracts with cespéhe BARDA Contract and NIAID Contract is eadnunder a cost-plus-fixed-
fee contract through which the Company is reimbdifse direct costs incurred plus allowable indireasts and a fixed fee earned. Billings
under the Company’s subcontracts under the BARDAt@ot and NIAID Contract are based on approvedipianal indirect billing rates that
permit recovery of allowable fringe benefits, ovead and general and administrative expenses aredfée.

Revenue under the Company’s subaward with respebetNIAID Grant is earned under a cost-reimbuesabntract through which the
Company is reimbursed for direct costs incurred plilowable indirect costs. Billings under the Camygs subaward under the NIAID Grant
are based on approved provisional indirect billiags that permit recovery of allowable fringe Hagsend general and administrative
expenses.

Research and Development Expen:
Research and development costs are charged tosxpserincurred and include, but are not limited to:
» personnerelated expenses, including salaries, benefits stoal-based compensation expen

e expenses incurred under agreements with cdamgaearch organizations, contract manufacturiggmizations and consultants that
provide preclinical, clinical, regulatory and maacturing services

e payments made under the Com(’s license agreement with Harvard Univers
» the cost of acquiring, developing and manufactucdingjcal trial materials and lab supplie

» facility, depreciation and other expenses, Whinclude direct and allocated expenses for reatntanance of the Company’s
facilities, insurance and other supplies; .

» costs associated with preclinical and regulatotiviies.

Costs for certain development activities, suchliagcal trials, are recognized based on an evadumadif the progress to completion of
specific tasks using data such as patient enrolineéinical site activations, or information proed to the Company by its vendors on their
actual costs incurred. Payments for these activitie based on the terms of the individual arraegésnwhich may differ from the pattern of
costs incurred, and are reflected in the finarstilements as prepaid or accrued research ancbgdewaht. In certain circumstances, the
Company is required to make nonrefundable advaagmpnts to vendors for goods or services thatheilteceived in the future for use in
research and development activities. In such cistantes, the nonrefundable advance payments awatbfind capitalized, even when there
is no alternative future use for the research angtldpment, until related goods or services argigeal.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of net income or lodchanges in equity during a period from transastiand other events and
circumstances generated from non-owner sourcesCohgany’s net loss equals comprehensive losdlfpeaods presented.
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Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method of accountorgncome taxes. Under this method, deferredatesets and liabilities are
determined based on the difference between thadiabreporting and the tax reporting basis of &sanrd liabilities and are measured using
enacted tax rates and laws that are expecteditodftect when the differences are expected torseveThe Company provides a valuation
allowance against net deferred tax assets unlassdhlupon the available evidence, it is more likieyn not that the deferred tax assets will be
realized. The Company has evaluated available pealand concluded that the Company may not retileebenefit of its deferred tax assets;
therefore a valuation allowance has been establifdrehe full amount of the deferred tax assetee Tompany'’s practice is to recognize
interest and/or penalties related to income taxtaratn income tax expense.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company applies the provisions of Accountiran8ards Codification (*“ASC”) 718Compensation-Stock Compensatiorstock-
based awards. Under ASC 718, the Company deterramet/-based compensation at the grant date tisenglack-Scholes option pricing
model to estimate fair value for employee equityaeds. The Company recognizes the value of the athatds ultimately expected to vest as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the riggjsisrvice period using the estimated fair maviedie of the stock. Any changes to the
estimated forfeiture rates are accounted for preispay. The Company records stock-based compemsatipense for share-based payments
issued to non-employees based on the fair valtieeofwards using the Black-Scholes option pricimgleh. Share-based payments issued to
non-employees are revalued at each reporting pariddas the equity instruments vest and are rezedras expense using the accelerated
attribution method over the related service period.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Issued and Adoy

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@q&FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (\ApNo. 2014-09, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), whicpexsedes all existing revenue recognition requirggsyéncluding most industry-specific
guidance. The new standard requires a companygtgnéze revenue when it transfers goods or sert@esstomers in an amount that reflects
the consideration that the company expects toveder those goods or services. The new standdtdeveffective for the Company on
January 1, 2017. The Company is currently evalgatie potential impact that this update may havéherCompany’s financial position and
results of operations.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-10, whiotpifies financial reporting for development staagdities by eliminating
requirements specific to development stage entifies result, entities in a development stage magllonger need to present inception-to-date
information about income statement line items, dashs, and equity transactions. Instead, the naidance clarifies how these entities shoulc
tailor existing disclosures to explain the risksl amcertainties related to their activities. Thislate is effective for annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2014, and early applicatiorersnitted for any annual or interim period for whitie entity’s financial statements have not
yet been issued. The Company adopted this guidammeto issuing the financial statements in therpany's quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended June 30, 2014. The adoptigksdd 2014-10 impacted disclosure only and did reatehany impact on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.

In 2014, the FASB issued new guidance on managesmesponsibility in evaluating whether or not thés substantial doubt about a
company’s ability to continue as a going concerthinione year from the date the financial statesan issued each reporting period. This
new accounting guidance is effective for annuaiquisrending after December 15, 2016. Early adopqrermitted. The Company is in
process of evaluating the new guidance and detargithe expected effect on its financial statements
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Net Loss per Common Shai

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividiegnet loss by the weighted average number oest@rCommon Stock outstanding for
the period, without consideration for common stegkivalents. Diluted net loss per share is compbyjedividing the net loss by the weighted
average number of common share equivalents outstafmt the period determined using the treasuogismethod. For purposes of this
calculation, preferred stock, stock options andraras are considered to be common stock equivadgrdtsare only included in the calculation
of diluted net loss per share when their effeclilistive.

On February 28, 2013, the Company’s board of dirscapproved an amendment to the Company’s cattfiof incorporation to effect a
1-for-29 reverse split of its common stock. The @amy effected this amendment to its certificatenobrporation on March 5,
2013. Following the Company’s reverse split, arfdative as of the completion of the Company’s IROMarch 25, 2013, all of the
Company’s preferred stock was converted to comnmeksat a 1-for-29 ratio. For purposes of calcualgtnet loss per common share for the
year ended December 31, 2013, the preferred shatliconverted to common stock was included in #idass per common share calculai
on a post-conversion basis as of March 25, 20E3ettective date of conversion, and the correspandonverted shares were included on a
pro-rata basis for each applicable reporting perisda result, the weighted-average common shanssamding during the year ended
December 31, 2013 was 16.7 million, as compare&b16 million shares outstanding as of Decembef813.

The amounts in the table below were excluded filoencilculation of diluted weighted-average shargstanding, prior to the use of the
treasury stock method, due to their anti-dilutiffe:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Preferred stock — — 8,828,43!
Warrants 1,10¢ 104,10 88,01:
Outstanding stock optior 3,409,49 2,844,34. 1,442,81I

(3) Significant Agreements and Contracts
License Agreemer

In August 2006, the Company entered into a licaggeement for certain intellectual property withré#ad University (the “University).
Under the license agreement, as of December 34, 204 Company has paid the University an aggregfa$8.8 million in upfront license fet
and development milestone payments, and has issly8d@9 shares of common stock to the University.

The Company is obligated to make certain paymenéding up to approximately $15.1 million upon asreément of certain development
and regulatory milestones and royalties on nessafi@roducts covered by the agreement. In Jar2@0y and April 2010, the Company and
the University amended the license agreement tadeccertain additional intellectual property. TGempany paid an additional $25,000 to the
University with each amendment. In February 20hé license agreement was further amended to ineldditional intellectual property in the
license granted by the University without the pagtrad any additional consideration. The Company alaid a $2.0 million milestone fee in
October 2013 in connection with the dosing of fin& patient in the Company’s Phase 3 clinical mieeravacycline for the treatment of clAl.
This amount was recorded as research and develogxegense during the year ended December 31, 2013.

Government Grant and Contracts
BARDA Contract for Eravacyclir

The Company has received funding for its lead pcbdandidate, eravacycline, under an award from BARIn January 2012, BARDA
awarded a five-year contract that provides forap total of $67.0 million
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in funding for the development, manufacturing alwical evaluation of eravacycline for the treatrhehdisease caused by bacterial biothreat
pathogens. The funding under the BARDA Contraeiss being used for the development, manufactuimbclinical evaluation of
eravacycline to treat certain infections causedifeythreatening multidrug-resistant bacteria.

In connection with the BARDA Contract, in Febru@@12, the Company entered into a five-year coss-fiked-fee subcontract with
CUBRC under which it may receive funding of up ppeoximately $39.8 million, reflecting the portiofithe BARDA funding that may be
paid to the Company for its activities.

Although the BARDA Contract and the Company’s suttcact with CUBRC under the BARDA Contract, hawefiyear terms, BARDA
is entitled to terminate the project for convenieat any time, and is not obligated to provide icwretd funding beyond current-year amounts
from Congressionally approved annual appropriatidiosthe extent that BARDA ceases to provide fugdifiithe program to CUBRC, CUBF
has the right to cease providing funding to the Gany. Committed funding from CUBRC under the ConyaBARDA subcontract is $31.0
million through September 9, 2016, the current @ritend date, as a result of the exercise of akwptions by BARDA under the BARDA
Contract. Total funds of $16.4 million had beereieed by the Company through December 31, 2014nthiecontract. During the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Compaagnized revenue of $6.9 million, $7.7 milliamde$4.9 million, respectively, from
the Company’s subcontract under the BARDA Contract.

NIAID Grant and Contract for T-271

The Company has received funding for its preclinicanpound TP-271 under two awards from NIAID foe tdevelopment,
manufacturing and clinical evaluation of TP-271fespiratory diseases caused by biothreat andiatitipesistant public health pathogens, as
well as bacterial pathogens associated with comtynaiquired bacterial pneumonia:

» the NIAID Grant awarded in July 2011 that providgsto a total of approximately $2.8 million ovevdiyears; an
» the NIAID Contract awarded in September 2011 thatiples up to a total of approximately $35.8 miilim funding over five year

In connection with the NIAID Grant, in November 20CUBRC awarded the Company a 55-month, no-feavgattl of approximately
$980,000, reflecting the portion of the NIAID Grdahding that may be paid to the Company for it$vées.

In connection with the NIAID Contract, in Octobdd12, the Company entered into a five-year cost-fikesl-fee subcontract with
CUBRC under which the Company may receive fundihgpoto approximately $13.3 million, reflecting thertion of the NIAID Contract
funding that may be paid to the Company for itsvitets.

Although the NIAID Contract, the NIAID Grant andetfCompany’s subcontract with CUBRC under the NIA&IBntract have terms of
five years, and the Company’s subaward under thdINGrant has a term of 55 months, NIAID is entitl® terminate the project for
convenience at any time, and is not obligated ¢wige continued funding beyond September 30, 20t&he extent NIAID ceases to provide
funding of the programs to CUBRC, CUBRC has thétrtg cease providing funding to the Company. ABDetember 31, 2014, committed
funding from CUBRC under the Compasysubcontract with respect to the NIAID Contrac8s3 million through the current contract end
which has been extended to September 30, 2016hichw7.1 million had been received through Decan3fie 2014. Committed funding fro
CUBRC under the Company’s subaward with respetttadNIAID Grant is $0.8 million through the currergntract end date which has been
extended to May 30, 2016, of which $0.7 million tmen received through December 31, 2014.
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During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@h8, the Company recognized revenue of $2.1 mjl$2.5 million, and $2.5
million, respectively, from the Company’s subcontrander the NIAID Contract. During the years en@etember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
the Company recognized revenue of $135,000, $267/608 $273,000, respectively, from the Companytmward under the NIAID Grant.

(4) Property and Equipment
Property and equipment at December 31, 2014 an8 @@isisted of the following (in thousands):

Sssggﬁlt_‘iafi December 31
In Years 2014 2013
Laboratory equipment 5 $ 1,932 $ 1,80¢
Furniture and fixture 5 17¢ 17c
Office and computer equipme 3 162 17¢
Leasehold improvemen 527 527
2,80( 2,67¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize 2,500) (2,449
Property and equipment, r $ 30C $ 23t

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $124029,000 and $353,000,
respectively.

(5) Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses at December 31, 2014 and 201&tmhsf the following (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2014 2013

Drug supply and development $ 5,44 $ 97C
Salaries and benefi 2,35¢ 1,55¢
Clinical trial relatec 724 1,84¢
Preclinical 32¢€ 78
Professional fee 34¢ 24¢
Other 281 592
Total $ 9,477 $ 5,29(

(6) Long-Term Debt

In May 2011, the Company executed a Loan and Sgddgreement with Silicon Valley Bank and OxforchBince (the “Term Loan”),
which provided for up to $8.0 million of fundingy be made available in two tranches. The Companytved the first $1.5 million in May
2011 and the second tranche for the remaining $@l®n in December 2011. The Term Loan bore intéeg 10% per annum and provided for
a final payment of 2.75% of the original principie at the maturity date of November 1, 2014. Utigeterms of the Term Loan, the
Company was only required to pay interest (andoniotipal) through February 28, 2012. Each tranehe being repaid in 33 monthly
payments of equal principal, plus accrued interstr the interest only period that ended on Fatyr@8, 2012. The final payment of 2.75%
was due at the same time as the last loan payiieatTerm Loan matured on November 1, 2014, andaas paid in full.

In December 2012, the Company amended the Term (tharf2012 Term Loan”) to provide for up to an dubehal $9.2 million in
funding, to be made available in two tranches. Thenpany borrowed the first tranche
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totaling $6.2 million under the 2012 Term Loan iad@mber 2012 (“2012 Term A Loan”) and borrowedr#reaining $3.0 million in February
2013 (“2012 Term B Loan”). Both the 2012 Term A haand the 2012 Term B Loan bear interest at 9%apeum.

The Company was only required to pay interest (aicrincipal) for the first six months of eachriche of the 2012 Term Loan. Each
tranche of the 2012 Term Loan is being repaid ir@3al monthly payments of principal, plus accrinterest, after the interest only period.
additional payment of 2.90% of the original priradipmount of each tranche will be due at the same &s the last loan payment for the
tranche. The 2012 Term A Loan matures on Marcl0162

The 2012 Term Loan is collateralized by a blaniet bn all corporate assets, excluding intellectuaperty, and by a negative pledge of
the Companys intellectual property. The 2012 Term Loan corganstomary default provisions that include mateilverse events, as defir

therein. The Company has determined that the fiskilsjective acceleration under the material advexents clause is remote and therefore
has classified the outstanding principal in curgemd long-term liabilities based on scheduled mpimicpayments.

Future principal payments on the 2012 Term Loaraarfllows (in thousands):

December 31

2014
2015 S BilE
2016 1,132
Total term loan paymen 4,64
Current term loan payab 3,51z
Less debt discount and issuance ¢ (77)
Current term loan payable, r 3,43¢
Term loan payable, less current port 1,132
Less debt discount and issuance ¢ (8)
Term loan payable, less current portion, $ 1,124

(7) Warrants

In May 2011, the Company issued warrants to puehasaggregate of 1,555,815 shares of Series €rry@fStock at an exercise price
of $0.2571 per share in connection with the TerrarL{Note 6). The warrants are exercisable immdgiated have a ten year life. The
warrants were initially valued at $302,000 using Black-Scholes pricing model with the followingsamptions; risk free interest rate of 3.2%;
dividend yield of zero; expected volatility of 67%ith an expected life of ten years, and were bexyensed as additional interest over the
term of the loan. In accordance with ASC 480, tharacteristics of these warrants and the rightspaivileges of the underlying Series C
Preferred Stock resulted in the classificationhefse warrants as a liability and changes to tmev&iie of the warrants were recognized as a
component of other income (expense) in the stateofesperations and comprehensive loss.

In December 2012, the Company issued warrantsrchpee an aggregate of 964,605 shares of Seriesf€feéd Stock at an exercise
price of $0.2571 per share in connection with t&2Term Loan (Note 6). The warrants are exerotsehinediately and have a ten year life.
The warrants were initially valued at $241,000 gdime Black-Scholes pricing model with the follogiassumptions; risk free interest rate of
1.8%; dividend yield of zero; expected volatilitiy61%; with an expected life of ten years, andtsing expensed as additional interest over
the term of the loan. In accordance with ASC 4B8,dharacteristics of these warrants and the
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rights and privileges of the underlying Series €f@red Stock resulted in the classification okthevarrants as a liability and changes to the
fair value of the warrants were recognized as apmmant of other income (expense) in the statenfepperations and comprehensive loss.

In connection with the February 2013 borrowing urttie Term Loan, the warrant that the Company id$0eilicon Valley Bank in
December 2012 automatically became exercisablarf@additional 233,372 shares of Series C prefestaak. In addition, the Company issued
to Oxford Finance a 10-year warrant to purchasadatitional 233,372 shares of Series C preferreckstith an exercise price of $0.2571 per
share. The warrants were initially valued at $1@6,0sing the Black-Scholes option pricing modehwite following assumptions: risk-free
interest rate of 1.89%, dividend yield of zero, exed volatility rate of 59% and an expected lif¢em years, and are being expensed as
additional interest over the term of the loan. Wasrant was classified as a liability in accordamita ASC 480 and was subject to
remeasurement at each balance sheet date and shartlye fair value were recognized as a compoofesiher income (expense) in the
statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

The Company estimated the fair value of the pretestock warrants using the Bla8kholes option pricing model based on the follov
assumptions:

December 31

2012
Expected volatility 60%
Expected term (in year 5.¢-10.0
Risk-free interest rat 0.72%-1.78%
Expected dividend yiel 0%
Estimated fair value of Series-1 Preferred Stoc $0.45
Estimated fair value of Series C Preferred St $0.34

Upon completion of the IPO, the warrants relatetheoTerm Loan became exercisable for 53,648 sludithe Company common stoc
at an exercise price of $7.46 per share, the wirrafated to the 2012 Term A Loan became exeredab33,262 shares of the Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $7.46 pereshad the warrants related to the 2012 Term B lbemame exercisable for 16,094 shares c
the Company’s common stock at an exercise pricky gf6 per share. On the date of the conversioheofviarrants, the Company revalued the
outstanding warrants using the Black-Scholes ogiricing model with the following assumptions: Hgke interest rate of 0.67% to 1.84%,
dividend yield of zero, expected volatility rate5d%, expected term of 5 to 10 years and stoclei&7.00. The fair value of the warrants at
March 25, 2013 was $462,000. The Company recortiegt mcome of $263,000 in the statement of openatand comprehensive loss during
the year ended December 31, 2013 equal to the eharfgir value of the warrants from December 311 2to March 25, 2013. The Company
reclassified the fair value of the warrants at Mia26, 2013, of $462,000, to additional paid-in talpi

On June 23, 2014, Silicon Valley Bank exercisedvasrants under the Term Loan and 2012 Term Loaord®ed above pursuant to the
cashless exercise feature of the warrants. In atiomewith the exercise of the warrants under teenTLoan, the Company issued 12,354
shares of the Company’s common stock. Warrantsitchase 14,470 shares of common stock were cad@sdlpayment for the aggregate
exercise price of the warrants. In connection whthexercise of the warrants under the 2012 TeranLthe Company issued 11,366 shares of
the Company’s common stock. Warrants to purchasgl 23hares of common stock were cancelled as payforethe aggregate exercise price
of the warrants.

On December 13, 2014, Oxford Finance exercisedarsants under the Term Loan and 2012 Term Loacoritbes] above pursuant to the
cashless exercise feature of the warrants. In atiomewith the exercise of the warrants under teenTLoan, the Company issued 20,488
shares of the Company’s common stock. Warrantsitchaise 6,336 shares of common stock were canasdlpdyment for the aggregate
exercise price of the
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warrants. In connection with the exercise of therarts under the 2012 Term Loan, the Company is$8e&#19 shares of the Company’s
common stock. Warrants to purchase 5,829 sharesnofnon stock were cancelled as payment for theegigtg exercise price of the warrants.

(8) Stockholders’ Equity
Initial Public Offering

In March, 2013, the Company completed its IPO,irgpd0,714,286 shares of common stock at a pritkeegublic of $7.00 per share,
resulting in net proceeds to the Company of $68lllom after deducting underwriting discounts of.44nillion and offering costs of $2.5
million.

In connection with the IPO, all of the Compamgutstanding preferred stock automatically corekimto a total of 8,828,438 shares o
common stock.

In April 2013, the Company completed the sale o&dditional 797,792 shares to the underwriters uperexercise of the underwriters’
option in the IPO to purchase additional sharesbaimon stock at a price to the public of $7.00yltexy in net proceeds to the Company of
$5.2 million after deducting underwriting discouatsd commissions.

2013 Follow-on Public Offering

In November 2013, the Company completed a foltowpublic offering, issuing 4,907,403 shares of own stock at a price to the puk
of $10.00 per share, resulting in net proceedeedtompany of $45.6 million after deducting undémg discounts and commissions of $2.9
million and offering costs of $0.5 million.

2014 Follow-on Public Offering

In October 2014, the Company sold 4,542,500 stefresmmon stock in a follow-on public offering apsace to the public of $19.00 per
share, resulting in net proceeds to the Compar$g0f8 million after deducting underwriting discosiaind commissions of $5.2 million and
offering costs of $0.4 million.

(9) Stock-based Compensation

In August 2006, the Company adopted the TetrapRhaemaceuticals, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan (théd&®Blan”) under which it was
able to grant incentive stock options, nonqualiiéack options, restricted stock, and stock gremtmurchase up to 1,128,183 shares of
Common Stock. In May 2010, the Company amendegldreto increase the number of shares of CommockS$suable under the 2006 Plan
to 1,853,288. The options expire ten years aftegttant date. As of December 31, 2014, no shares available for future issuance under the
2006 Plan.

In February 2013, the Company'’s board of direcéord stockholders approved, effective upon the gpef the IPO, the 2013 Stock
Incentive Plan (the “2013 Plan”). Under the 2018rPthe Company may grant incentive stock optinoastatutory stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, restrictextls units and other stock-based awards for thelfage of that number of shares of Common
Stock equal to the sum of (i) 1,688,777 sharesash@on Stock, (ii) 258,265 shares of Common Stoakwere reserved for issuance unde
2006 Plan that remained available for issuance ruh@e2006 Plan upon the closing of the IPO, &y shares of Common Stock subject to
awards under the 2006 Plan which awards expimit@te or are otherwise surrendered, canceledifed or repurchased by the Company
without having been fully exercised or resultingamy Common Stock being issued. In addition, thalmer of shares of Common Stock that
may be issued under the 2013 Plan is subject toreatic annual increases, to be added on Janudrgdch year from January 1, 2014 through
and including January 1, 2023, equal to the nurobshares that is the lesser of
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(a) 3,000,000, (b) 4% of the then outstanding shafeCommon Stock or (c) an amount determined bydbmpany’s board of directors. In
January 2014, the number of shares authorized$oance under the 2013 Plan increased by 1,025hEfé&s. As of December 31, 2014,

386,147 shares were available for future issuandemthe 2013 Plan. In January 2015, the numbsghafes authorized for issuance under the
2013 Plan increased by 1,232,232 shares.

Terms of stock award agreements, including vestagirements, are determined by the board of direcsubject to the provisions of |
2013 Plan. Options granted by the Company typioadist over a four year period. Certain of the apgtiare subject to acceleration of vesting i
the event of certain change of control transactidhg options are exercisable from the date oftgiara period of ten years. For options
granted prior to the Company’s IPO, the exerciseepequaled the estimated fair value of the Com®tmick as determined by the board of
directors on the date of grant. For options grastdzsbequent to the Company’s IPO, the exercise pqealed the closing price of the
Company’s stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Makethe date of grant.

Stock option activity at December 31, 2014 and gearduring the year then ended are presented taltleeand narrative below (in
thousands, except share and per share data):

Weighted- Weighted-
Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term (years, Value
Options outstanding at December 31, 2013 2,844,34. $ 5.1C 7.97 $ 23,96(
Granted 1,292,65I 14.3:
Exercisec (562,56 2.5%
Cancelec (164,92) 10.6:
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 3,409,49 $ 8.7t 7.92 $105,55(
Options vested or expected to vest at Decembe2@H (1) 3,256,81! $ 8.61] 7.8¢ $101,27¢
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 1,415,55! $ 5.3 6.7¢€ $ 48,71¢

(1)  This represents the number of vested optiortd Becember 31, 2014, plus the number of unveséidns that the Company estimated

as of December 31, 2014 would vest, based on thested options at December 31, 2014, as adjustebidastimated forfeiture rate of
5.9%.

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeasents the difference between the Company’sngasimmon stock price on the last
trading day during the year ended December 31, 20ti4he exercise price of the options, multipbgdhe number of in-the-money
options. The total intrinsic value of options exsed in the years ended December 31, 2014, 20H8X@H2 was $8.1 million, $0.5 million and
$25,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2014¢eteas $11.7 million of total unrecognized stoclsdmhcompensation cost related to
employee and non-employee unvested stock optiargep under the 2006 Plan and the 2013 Plan. Tintakbognized compensation cost will
be adjusted for future forfeitures. The Companyeexpto recognize that cost over a remaining weitfalverage period of 2.6 years.

Since the Company completed its IPO on March 25320 has not had sufficient historical data tpsart a calculation of volatility and
expected life. As such, the Company has used anezleaverage volatility considering the Companyisa/olatility and the volatilities of a
representative group of publicly traded comparftes.purposes of identifying similar entities, ther@pany selected a group of publicly traded
life science/biotechnology companies based on tlisgase focus, stage of development, number opoands in clinical trials and number of
years as a public-traded company. The risk-free interest rate i®tam the
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U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegodnt, commensurate with the expected life assumpiihe expected life of stock options
granted represents the weightagerage period of time that stock options granteceapected to be outstanding determined usingithplified
method for employee grants. For non-employee grémsexpected life is equal to the remaining caettral term. The expected life is applied
to the stock option grant group as a whole, aibrapany does not expect substantially different@ge or post-vesting termination behavior
among its employee population.

The Company estimates the fair value of each enegleynd director stock option award on the grarg dsing the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model based on the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Volatility factor 53.41-58.13% 54.5(-60.54% 56.8¢-68.12%
Expected life (in years 5.31-6.11 5.&7.1 6.C-6.1
Risk-free interest rat 1.71%-2.13% 0.91%-2.01% 0.85%-1.21%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Compensation cost for stock options granted to eyaggs is based on the estimated grant-date faieaid is recognized over the
vesting period of the applicable option on a stralme basis. Stock-based compensation expenatdaio stock options granted to employee:
was $4.0 million, $1.3 million, and $0.3 million g the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, @h#l, 2espectively. The amount of stock-
based compensation expense recognized during@dpsiibased on the value of the portion of the de/éttat the Company determines are
expected to vest. Forfeitures are required to bmated at the time of grant and revised, if neapgsn subsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates. The term “forfeiturésdistinct from “cancellations” and representtydhe unvested portion of the surrendered
option. The Company re-evaluates this analysistgtlgy and adjusts the forfeiture rate as necess&étimately, the actual expense recognized
over the vesting period will only be for those ops that vest.

Using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, theighted-average grant date fair values of optioastgd to employees for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $4%BL &nd $2.32, respectively.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized Ddimpany’s consolidated statements of operationstémk options granted during
the periods presented was as follows (in thousands)

Year Ended

December 31
2014 2013 2012
Research and development $1,84¢ $ 69C $46%
General and administrati 3,38t 611 14¢
Total $5,23( $1,301 $612

Stock Option Grants to Nc-employees

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coyngiaamted nonqualified options to purchase 110gl0es of common stock to
non-employee consultants, with an average exepeise of $12.56 per share. There were no stoclongtgranted to non-employee consultant
during the years ended December 31, 2013 or 20i2 Cbmpany valued these options using the Blaclki8sloption-pricing model and the
options are revalued at each reporting period ani@equity instruments vest and are recognized@snse using the accelerated attribution
method over the related service period. Stock-basatpensation expense related to stock optiongegda non-employees was $1.2 million,
$39,000, and $0.3 million for the years ended Ddwa31, 2014,
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2013, and 2012, respectively. Stock-based compensatpense for the year ended December 31, 20%4stanated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following assumptionisk-free interest rate of 2.11%; dividend rate of O%gexted volatility of 56.69%; and :
expected term of 9.3 years.

(10) Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On February 27, 2014, upon the recommendationeoCitmpany’s compensation committee, the Compargasdoof directors adopted,
subject to stockholder approval, the 2014 Empl®&ek Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) pursuant to wiiielCompany may sell up to an
aggregate of 300,000 shares of Common Stock. TIRPE®S approved by the Company’s stockholders o@ 18, 2014. The ESPP allows
eligible employees to purchase common stock aica jpeer share equal to 85% of the lower of therfarket value of the common stock at the
beginning or end of each period during the terrthefESPP. The first offering period began on Audi#st2014, and concluded on
November 14, 2014. The next offering period begaiNovember 15, 2014, and will conclude on May 14,2 Pursuant to the ESPP,
Company sold a total of 8,394 shares of commorksiacing the year ended December 31, 2014 at ehpsecprice of $9.88, which
represented 85% of the closing price of the Comisatgmmon stock on August 15, 2014. The Compangrascstock-based compensation
expense under the ESPP based on the fair valle giurchase rights using the Black-Scholes optiming model. The total stock-based
compensation expense recorded as a result of tR€ B&s approximately $46,000 during the year edEdmber 31, 2014.

(11) Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under ASCDdferred income tax assets and liabilities aterd@ned based upon differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of assetdiabilities and are measured using the endatethtes and laws that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse.

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 arij #68 Company did not have a current or defemedme tax expense or benefit.

As of December 31, 2014 the Company had federadpetating loss carryforwards of approximately $2#@illion and state net
operating loss carryforwards of $140.5 million, ethiare available to reduce future taxable inconhe. fEderal net operating loss carryforwz
exclude approximately $5.5 million of deductionkated to the exercise of stock options. This amoeptesents an excess tax benefit and has
not been included in the gross deferred tax asflected for net operating losses. The Companylasifederal tax credits of $4.1 million and
state tax credits of $1.7 million, which may bedise offset future tax liabilities. The net openatioss (NOL) and tax credit carryforwards v
expire at various dates through 2034. The NOL arctedit carryforwards are subject to review aossible adjustment by the Internal
Revenue Service and state tax authorities. Neidipgrioss and tax credit carryforwards may becenigect to an annual limitation in the
event of certain cumulative changes in the ownprstierest of significant shareholders over a thyegr period in excess of 50%, as defined
under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Rev€&uge, respectively, as well as similar state piomis This could limit the amount of tax
attributes that can be utilized annually to offsgtire taxable income or tax liabilities. The ambahthe annual limitation is determined based
on the value of the Company immediately prior #® dvnership change. Subsequent ownership changegurnttzer affect the limitation in
future years. The Company has not, as yet, condacstudy of research and development (“R&D”) drediryforwards. This study may result
in an adjustment to the CompasyR&D credit carryforwards; however, until a stusyompleted and any adjustment is known, no ansoans
being presented as an uncertain tax position.

The Company has recorded no reserves or unrecabtaizédenefits for tax positions taken. Since &valuation allowance has been
provided against the Company’s deferred tax astetgffect of any unrecognized tax benefits waihdply be to reduce the gross amount of
the deferred tax asset and the corresponding vatualowance. As of December 31, 2014 and 2018Qbmpany had no accrued interest or
penalties related to uncertain tax positions.
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The principal components of the Company’s defetagdassets are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2014 2013
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carry forwar $ 65,37( $41,57:
Temporary difference 3,22¢ 1,97¢
Research and development credit and carry forw 5,17( 3,60¢
Deferred tax asse 73,76¢ 47,15¢
Less valuation allowanc (73,769 (47,159
$ — $§ —

Net deferred tax asse

ASC 740 requires a valuation allowance to redueealtiferred tax assets reported, if based on thghivef available evidence, it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the eleéd tax assets will not be realized. After coasation of all the evidence, both positive and
negative, the Company has recorded a valuatiowaloe against its deferred tax assets at Decemb@034 and 2013, respectively, because
the Company’s management has determined thatsri likely than not that these assets will notdadized. The $26.6 million increase in the

valuation allowance in 2014 primarily relates te tiet loss incurred by the Company.

The Company is currently open to examination utlderstatute of limitations by the Internal ReveSagevice and state jurisdictions for
the tax years ended 2010 through 2013. Carryfortatdittributes generated in years past may stiddjusted upon future examination if they
have or will be used in a future period. The Conyparcurrently not under examination by the IntéfRavenue Service or any other

jurisdictions for any tax year
A reconciliation of the Federal statutory tax raf84% to the Company’s effective income tax ratéofvs:

Year ended
December 31
2014 2013 2012
(34.00% (34.00% (34.00%
(5.26)% (5.26)% (5.26)%

Statutory tax rate
State taxes, net of Federal bene

Permanent difference 0.61% 0.92% 1.01%
Credits (2.39)% (4.39% (0.09%
Change in valuation allowan: 39.81% 39.92% 38.92%
Other 1.14% 2.7¢% (0.56)%

— % — % — %

Effective tax rate

(12) Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitment

The Company leases its facilities under an opegdéiase for 15,899 square feet of office and laiooysspace that was set to expire on
July 31, 2015. In September 2014, the Company aatkitsl operating lease to extend the lease term 3wy 31, 2015 through November 30,
2016 and also entered into a new sublease covanirgglditional 15,174 square feet of office and latmyy space, located next to the
Company’s current headquarters, with a lease tesm February 1, 2015 through November 30, 2016.Ctmmpany recognizes rent expense

on a straight-line basis over the non-cancelalzlsdaerm.
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As of December 31, 2014, the aggregate minimunréutent payments under the lease and subleasaragrteare as follows (in
thousands):

December 31

2014
2015 1,431
2016 1,23¢
Total minimum lease paymer $ 2,66¢

The Company recorded $1.0 million, $0.6 million &@d6 million in rent expense for the years endedddnber 31, 2014, 2013 and 2(
respectively.

Litigation

The Company is not a party to any litigation anédginot have contingency reserves established folitayation liabilities.

(13) Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

March 31, September 3C December 31
June 30,
2014 2014 2014 2014
(in thousands, except per share date
(unaudited)
Revenue $ 2,457 $ 1,27¢ $ 2,29/ $ 3,07:
Operating expenst 15,67¢ 19,46( 16,27 23,45t
Loss from operation (13,219 (18,185 (13,980) (20,387
Other expense, n (30%) (27¢) (22€) (167)
Net loss $(13,527) $(18,467) $ (14,200 $ (20,550
Net loss per sha—basic and dilute: $ (0.59 $ (0.7]) $ (0.5%) $ (0.69)
Three Months Ended
March 31, September 3C December 31
June 30,
2013 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands, except per share datz
(unaudited)
Revenue $ 2,70C $ 3,72 $ 2,16¢ $ 1,89¢
Operating expense 5,32 8,68( 11,852 12,82:
Loss from operation (2,627 (4,95¢) (9,686€) (20,929
Other expense, n (16¥¢) (468) (430 (380
Net loss $ (2,79) $ (5,42¢) $ (10,119 $ (11,309
Net loss per sha—basic and dilute: $ (1.5) $ (0.2¢) $ (0.49) $ (0.49)
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, &vated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2®.4. In designing and evaluating our disclosrrols and procedures, management
recognized that any controls and procedures, neemadw well designed and operated, can providg gdsonable assurance of achieving
their objectives and our management necessarillegpits judgment in evaluating the cost-benefiatienship of possible controls and
procedures. Based on this evaluation, our Chietttkee Officer and Chief Financial Officer conclubithat as of December 31, 2014, our
disclosure controls and procedures were (1) dedigmensure that material information relating $asimade known to our management
including our principal executive officer and pripal financial officer by others, particularly dog the period in which this annual report on
Form 10-K was prepared and (2) effective, in thaytprovide reasonable assurance that informagiquired to be disclosed by us in the
reports we file or submit under the Exchange Acetorded, processed, summarized and reportedwtithitime periods specified in the SEC’
rules and forms.

Management’s report on the Company’s internal abmiver financial reporting (as defined in Ruleg41%(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) appears below.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Managemen's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repdrig

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(fidal5d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Aet psocess designed by, or under the
supervision of, the company’s principal executine @rincipal financial officers and effected by ttmmpanys board of directors, managem
and other personnel, to provide reasonable assuiragarding the reliability of financial reportiagd the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principles and includes thosei@s and procedures that:

» Pertain to the maintenance of records that@sonable detail accurately and fairly reflecttthasactions and dispositions of the
assets of the compar

» Provide reasonable assurance that transa@ren®corded as necessary to permit preparatibnasfcial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #nad receipts and expenditures of the company @irggbmade only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directorthefcompany; an

» Provide reasonable assurance regarding preveotitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitioge or disposition of the
compan’s assets that could have a material effect onitla@dial statement:

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢tmisstatements. Therefore, even thos
systems determined to be effective can provide mrdgonable assurance with respect to financiedratant preparation and presentation.
Projections of any evaluation of effectivenessutniffe periods are subject to the risk that contredy become inadequate because of chang
conditions, or that the degree of compliance witih policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting as of Det®m31, 2014. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria sebfotlle Committee of
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Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commissioimternal Control—Integrated Framewo(R013 framework) (COSO). Based on its
assessment, management believes that, as of Dec8it014, our internal control over financial egjng is effective based on those criteria

Our independent registered public accounting fiem hot issued an attestation report of our intezoatrol over financial reporting due
a transition period established by rules of the $&@ewly public companies.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting that occurred during the quaeteded December 31, 2014 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required by this Item 10 will bentained in the sections entitled “Election of Dims” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance” appearing in thiinidéve proxy statement we will file in connectiomith our 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and is incorporated by reference hefidie information required by this item concerning code of ethics is set forth in the
section entitled “Code of Business Conduct anddsthappearing in the definitive proxy statementwik file in connection with our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorpordigdeference herein. The information required by ilem relating to executive officers
may be found in Part I, Item 1 of this annual répor Form 10-K under the heading “Business—Exeeu®ificers” and is incorporated herein
by reference.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensatior

The information required by this Item 11 will bentained in the sections entitled “Executive anceBior Compensation,”
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and InsideriBigdtion” and “Compensation Committee Report” agojiey in the definitive proxy
statement we will file in connection with our 20ABnual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorpordigdeference herein.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The information required by this Item 12 will bentained in the sections entitled “Ownership of @emmon Stock” andExecutive an
Director Compensation—Equity Compensation Planrinftion” appearing in the definitive proxy statement we fildl in connection with ot
2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incogped by reference herein.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactits, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 will bentained in the sections entitled “Certain Relatiops and Related Person Transactions
appearing in the definitive proxy statement we ¥fildl in connection with our 2015 Annual Meeting®tiockholders and is incorporated by
reference herein.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The information required by this Item 14 will bentained in the section entitled “Corporate GoveoganPrincipal Accountant Fees and
Services” appearing in the definitive proxy statemee will file in connection with our 2015 Annulleeting of Stockholders and is
incorporated by reference herein.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
(@ Documents filed as part of Form-K.
(1) Financial Statemen
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compselehoss
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityfi(itg
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(2) Schedule:
Schedules have been omitted as all required infiomaas been disclosed in the financial statemamtisrelated footnotes.
(3) Exhibits
The Exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index are filad a part of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduty authorized.

TETRAPHASE PHARMACEUTICALS, INC

Date: March 6, 2015 By: /s/ Guy Macdonald
Guy Macdonald
President & Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl Guy Macdonald Director, President and Chief Executive Officer March 6, 201
Guy Macdonald (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ David C. Lubner Senior Vice President and Chief Financial March 6, 201
David C. Lubner Officer
(Principal Financial ancAccounting Officer
/sl L. Patrick Gage Chairman March 6, 201
L. Patrick Gage, Ph.D.
/s/ Garen Bohlin Director March 6, 201
Garen Bohlin
/sl Jeffrey A. Chodakewitz Director March 6, 201
Jeffrey A. Chodakewitz
/sl John G. Freund Director March 6, 201
John G. Freund
/sl Steven R. Gullans Director March 6, 201
Steven R. Gullans
/s/ Nancy Wysenski Director March 6, 201
Nancy Wysenki
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number Description
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Ragist
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regis!
4.1 Specimen certificate evidencing shares of commaoack:
10.1# 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, as amen
10.2# Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under 288&ck Incentive Pla
10.3# Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement und@&Stock Incentive Ple
10.4# 2013 Stock Incentive Ple
10.5# Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under 281k Incentive Pla
10.6# Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement und&®Stock Incentive Ple
10.7# 2014 Employee Stock Purchase F
10.8# Offer letter, dated as of December 4, 2007, bylstdeen the Registrant and Guy
Macdonald, as amend
10.9# Second Amendment to Offer Letter, dated as of M&rc014, by and between the
Registrant and Guy Macdone
10.10s Offer letter, dated as of August 10, 2006, by aetivieen the Registrant and David
Lubner, as amende
10.11s Third Amendment to Offer Letter, dated March 5, 204y and between the Registrant
and David Lubne
10.12s Offer letter, dated as of December 22, 2010, bylmtdieen the Registrant and Patricl
Horn
10.131 Amendment to Offer Letter, dated March 5, 2014ahy between the Registrant and
Patrick Horn
10.144 Offer letter, dated as of March 20, 2009, by anivben the Registrant and Joyce
Sutcliffe
10.15¢ Offer letter, dated as of March 20, 2009, by anmvben the Registrant and Craig
Thompson dated January 30, 2(
10.16¢ Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into bexdw the Registrant and each of its
directors and executive office
10.17 Lease Agreement, dated as of November 16, 2008ntpetween the Registrant and
ARE-480 Arsenal Street, LLC, as amended on Septe#011, March 15, 2012,
September 18, 2012 and November 20, Z
10.18 Amendment, dated September 4, 2014, to Lease Agmteiated as of November 16,

2006, by and between the Registrant and -480 Arsenal Street, LLC, as amen

Incorporated by Reference from

Date Filec
Registrant’ s with the Exhibit
Form SEC Number

16-Q 5/13/13 3.1
16-Q 5/13/13 3.2
S-1/A 3/5/13 4.1
S1 2/11/13 10.5
S1 2/11/13 10.6
S1 2/11/13 10.7
S-1/A 3/5/13 10.8
S-1/A 3/5/13 10.9
S-1/A 3/5/13 10.10
16-Q 8/12/14 10.1
S-1 2/11/13 10.11
16-Q 5/12/14 10.2
S1 2/11/13 10.12
10-Q 5/12/14  10.3
S-1 2/11/13 10.13
16-Q 5/12/14 10.4
S1 2/11/13 10.14
8-K 2/5/14 99.1
S-1/A 3/5/13 10.27
1C-K 3/6/14 10.17
16-Q 11/10/1- 10.1
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10.19t

10.20t

10.21t

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26*

10.27*

21.1*
23.1*
31.1*

31.2*

32.1*

32.2*

101.INS*

License Agreement, dated as of Augusd@62by and between the Registrant and the
President and Fellows of Harvard College, as ant

Subcontract Agreement, dated as of Fepfyat012, by and between the Registrant
and CUBRC, Inc

Subcontract Agreement, dated as of Segtiedth 2011, by and between the Registrant

and CUBRC, Inc

Second Amended and Restated Registratmgintshgreement, dated as of May 14,
2010, as amende

Warrant to purchase shares of Series A €tible Preferred Stock issued by the
Registrant to Silicon Valley Bank expiring on Sepber 27, 201

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of Ma 2011, among the Registrant,
Tetraphase Securities Corporation, Silicon VallenBand Oxford Finance LL

First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreetndated December 20, 2012, by and
among the Registrant, Tetraphase Securities Cdipor&ilicon Valley Bank and
Oxford Finance LLC

Consent and Second Amendment to Loan aodry Agreement, dated December 1,
2014, by and among the Registrant, Tetraphase iBesuorporation, Silicon Valley
Bank, Oxford Finance LLC, the other Lenders naniedein, and Silicon Valley Bank,
as agent for the Lende

Consent and Third Amendment to Loan antliBg Agreement, dated December 18,
2014, by and among the Registrant, Tetraphase iBesu€orporation, Silicon Valley
Bank, Oxford Finance LLC, the other Lenders naniedetin, and Silicon Valley Bank,
as agent for the Lende

Subsidiaries of the Registre
Consent of Ernst & Young LL

Chief Executive Officer—Certification puraot to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Se80@ of the Sarban&3xley Act of
2002

Chief Financial Officer—Certification puramt to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Se80@ of the Sarban&3xley Act of
2002

Chief Executive Officer—Certification purot to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 135@dapted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarban«-Oxley Act of 200z

Chief Financial Officer—Certification purant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 135adapted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarban«-Oxley Act of 200z

XBRL Instance Documer

S-1

S-1

S-1

S-1

S-1

2/11/13

2/11/13

2/11/13

2/11/13

2/11/13

2/11/13

2/11/13

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.1

10.2

10.18

10.23
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101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

* Filed herewith
# Indicates management contract or compensatorygulamrangemen
.l.

Confidential treatment requested as to certaitigpes, which portions have been omitted and fdegarately with the Securities and
Exchange Commissiol



Exhibit 10.26

CONSENT AND SECOND AMENDMENT
TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This Consent and Second Amendment to Loan and Bedgreement (this Amendment”) is entered into this $tday of December,
2014, by and among (iJETRAPHASE PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. , a Delaware corporation with offices located & #8senal Street,
Suite 110, Watertown, Massachusetts 024 7Peftaphase”), TETRAPHASE SECURITIES CORPORATION , a Massachusetts
corporation with offices located at 480 Arsenak8tr Suite 110, Watertown, Massachusetts 024 T2tfaphase Securities’; Tetraphase and
Tetraphase Securities are referred to herein, ishgidly and collectively, jointly and severally, ‘a8orrower ), (i) SILICON VALLEY
BANK , a California corporation with an office locatad®?@5 Grove Street, Suite 2-200, Newton, MA 02466VB "), (i) OXFORD
FINANCE LLC , a Delaware limited liability company with an aféi located at 133 North Fairfax Street, Alexandviaginia 22314 (“
Oxford "), (iv) each of the other Lenders, listed on Salled..1 hereof or otherwise a party thereto frametio time, including SVB and
Oxford in their capacities as Lenders, (each.arider ” and collectively, the ‘Lenders”), and (v) SVB, as agent (in such capacity, the “
Agent”) for the Lenders.

R ECITALS

A. Lenders and Borrower have entered into thabaettoan and Security Agreement dated as of MayQ@é], as amended by that
certain First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreendated as of December 20, 2012 (as the saméramaytime to time be further
amended, modified, supplemented or restated, tuah Agreement”).

B. Each Lender extended credit to Borrower forghgooses permitted in the Loan Agreement.

C. Borrower has requested that Lenders amend the Agreement to make certain revisions to the Lageement as more fully set
forth herein.

D. Each Lender has agreed to so amend certaingiwosi of the Loan Agreement, but only to the extenaccordance with the terms,
subject to the conditions and in reliance uporréipeesentations and warranties set forth below.

A GREEMENT

N ow , T HEREFORE , in consideration of the foregoing recitals andeotyood and valuable consideration, the receiptealequacy of
which is hereby acknowledged, and intending toelgally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Adment shall have the meanings given to them irLt@ Agreement.
2. Amendments to Loan Agreement

2.1 Section 6.6(a) (Operating Accountspection 6.6(a) is amended in its entirety and malavith the following:

“Maintain all of Borrower’s and all of its Subsidias’ operating and other deposit accounts andriesuaccounts with Silicon
Valley Bank or its Affiliates; provided, furthehat Borrower shall have, at all times, on depasi€ollateral Accounts, operating,
and investment accounts maintained with SilicoriayaBank or its Affiliates that are subject to CatAgreements in favor of ea
Lender, cash and/or Cash Equivalents in an amaatriess than one hundred five percent (105%) othka-outstanding
Obligations of Borrower to Lenders. Notwithstandihg foregoing, Bermuda Subsidiary may maintairoants with banks and/or
financial institutions other than Silicon Valley Baor its Affiliates (the* Permitted Accounts”).”



2.2 Section 6.6(b) (Operating Accounts)he last sentence set forth in Section 6.6(b) israted in its entirety and replaced with
the following:

“The provisions of the previous sentence shallapgly to (i) the Permitted Accounts, or (ii) defg@sicounts exclusively used for
payroll, payroll taxes and other employee wagelsamkefit payments to or for the benefit of Borrowest such Subsidiary’s
employees and identified to Agent by Borrower ashsu

2.3 Section 6.6(c) (Operating Accountspection 6.6(c) is amended in its entirety and iegadawith the following:

“(c) Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall not maimi@ny Collateral Accounts except (i) Collateralcdants located in the United
States in accordance with Sections 6.6(a) andatt) (ii) the Permitted Accounts.”

2.4 Section 13.1 (Definitions) The Loan Agreement is amended by (i) replaciigvith “; and” at the end of clause (k) and
(ii) inserting the following new subsection (I) &ppear in the definition of “Permitted Investmergst forth in Section 13.1 thereof:

“(I) Investments by Borrower in Bermuda Subsidiary.

2.5 Section 13.1 (Definitions) The Loan Agreement is amended by inserting tHeviing new definitions to appear alphabetically
in Section 13.1 thereof:

“ Bermuda Subsidiary” means Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals (Bermuda) Lédmaany organized under the laws of Bermuda i
Subsidiary of Borrower.

“ Permitted Accounts” is defined in Section 6.6(a) hereof.

2.6 Exhibit A (Collateral Description) . The Exhibit A to the Loan Agreement is amendeisirentirety and replaced with the
Exhibit A in the form of Schedule dttached hereto.

2.7 Exhibit C (Compliance Certificate). The Compliance Certificate is amended in itsrettiand replaced with the Compliance
Certificate in the form of Schedulea®tached hereto.

3. Consent to Formation of Subsidiary and Exclusivéicense. Borrower has notified Agent and Lenders that Baer intends to
(a) create the Bermuda Subsidiary (tH&ubsidiary Formation ), and (b) enter into a cost sharing agreement wétBtrmuda Subsidiary a
a rights sharing agreement with the Bermuda Sursidinder which Borrower would license intellectpedperty of the Borrower to the
Bermuda Subsidiary, in each case substantialljgrfarm set forth on Scheduleaached hereto (theExclusive License’). Borrower has
requested that Agent and Lenders consent to thei@aty Formation and the Exclusive License. Agemd Lenders hereby consent to the
Subsidiary Formation and the Exclusive License, agrée that the Subsidiary Formation and the Ekauscense shall not, in and of
themselves, constitute an “Event of Default” un8ection 6.10 (relative to creation and acquisibbsubsidiaries, Section 7.1 (relative to
dispositions), Section 7.3 (relative to mergeraaquisitions), Section 7.7 (relative to distribncand investments), or Section 7.8 (relative to
transactions with affiliates) of the Loan Agreemdrtte Bermuda Subsidiary shall continue to be suittgeall of the terms and conditions of
Loan Agreement (other than Section 6.10 of the LAgreement), including, without limitation, restitms on investments set forth in the
definition of “Permitted Investments” pursuant tecBon 13.1 of the Loan Agreement.

4. Pledge Agreement Borrower acknowledges, confirms, and agrees #tahe election of Lenders, Borrower shall provialégent ant
Lenders (a) appropriate certificates and powersfimadicing statements, pledging sixty-five perc@%) of the direct or beneficial ownership
interest in Bermuda Subsidiary, in form and sulbstagatisfactory to Agent and Lenders, and (b)takkiodocumentation in form and substance
satisfactory to Agent and Lenders which in theiin@m is appropriate with respect to the executiad delivery of the applicable
documentation referred to above. It is understowtlagreed that the Bermuda Subsidiary is not andtisequired to become a Borrower or a
guarantor of the Obligations under the Loan Docus



5. Limitation of Amendments.

5.1The amendments set forth in Section 2, above,féeetiwe for the purposes set forth herein andldbalimited precisely as
written and shall not be deemed to (a) be a consearty amendment, waiver or modification of anyentterm or condition of any Loan
Document, or (b) otherwise prejudice any rightemedy which Bank may now have or may have in theréuunder or in connection with any
Loan Document.

5.2 This Amendment shall be construed in connectioh aitd as part of the Loan Documents and all tecorgglitions,
representations, warranties, covenants and agresisettorth in the Loan Documents, except as hegiended, are hereby ratified and
confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect

6. Representations and Warranties To induce Bank to enter into this Amendment, Baxer hereby represents and warrants to Bank :
follows:

6.1 Immediately after giving effect to this Amendmeaj} the representations and warranties containéteihoan Documents are
true, accurate and complete in all material respastof the date hereof (except (i) to the extech sepresentations and warranties relate to al
earlier date, in which case they are true and cba® of such date, and (ii) with respect to Boeoda/representations and warranties relating tc
the Perfection Certificate contained in Sectiond.the Loan Agreement), and (b) no Event of Defaabk occurred and is continuing;

6.2 Borrower has the power and authority to executedsiider this Amendment and to perform its obligat under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment;

6.3 The organizational documents of Borrower delivaeBank on the Effective Date remain true, accuaaig complete and have
not been amended, supplemented or restated amaicdu@ntinue to be in full force and effect;

6.4 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Arderent and the performance by Borrower of its oliiges under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, have didgrauthorized;

6.5 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Arderent and the performance by Borrower of its oliiges under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, do notvdlhdot contravene (a) any law or regulation birglon or affecting Borrower, (b) any
contractual restriction with a Person binding onrBwer, (c) any order, judgment or decree of anyrcor other governmental or public body
or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding onrBawer, or (d) the organizational documents of Baser;

6.6 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Arderent and the performance by Borrower of its oliiges under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, do naireegny order, consent, approval, license, authtian or validation of, or filing,
recording or registration with, or exemption by ajovernmental or public body or authority, or swiglon thereof, binding on either
Borrower, except as already has been obtained denzend

6.7 This Amendment has been duly executed and deliveye®brrower and is the binding obligation of Bomear, enforceable
against Borrower in accordance with its terms, pkes such enforceability may be limited by bankeypinsolvency, reorganization,
liquidation, moratorium or other similar laws ofrgeal application and equitable principles relatimgr affecting creditors’ rights.

7. Integration . This Amendment and the Loan Documents reprebergtire agreement about this subject matter apelrsede prior
negotiations or agreements. All prior agreememdgustandings, representations, warranties, anctiatigns between the parties about the
subject matter of this Amendment and the Loan Damtsimerge into this Amendment and the Loan Doctsn



8. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any numbeowohfterparts and all of such counterparts takenthegehall be
deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.

9. Effectiveness This Amendment shall be deemed effective upoth@pue execution and delivery to Agent of thiselaiment by
each party hereto, and (b) Borrower’s payment ofdegs’ Expenses.

[Signature page follows



I NW ITNESSW HEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendmere thuly executed and delivered as of the dateiristen
above.

BORROWER:
TETRAPHASE PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
By /s/ David Lubner

Name: David Lubner
Title: SVP, CFO

TETRAPHASE SECURITIES CORPORATION

By /s/ David Lubner
Name: David Lubner
Title: SVP, CFO, Treasurer and Secretary

AGENT AND LENDERS:
SILICON VALLEY BANK, as Agent and a Lender
By /sl Kate Walsh

Name: Kate Walsh
Title: Vice President

OXFORD FINANCE LLC, as a Lender

By /sl Mark Davis
Name: Mark Davis
Title: Vice President of Finance




Schedule 1
EXHIBIT A
The Collateral consists of all of Borrower’s rigtitie and interest in and to the following persiomaperty:

All goods, Accounts (including health-care receleal, Equipment, Inventory, contract rights or tigto payment of money, leases,
license agreements, franchise agreements, Gengaiabibles (except as provided below), commeroidldaims, documents, instruments
(including any promissory notes), chattel papergihir tangible or electronic), cash, deposit actnuall certificates of deposit, fixtures, lett
of credit rights (whether or not the letter of dtésl evidenced by a writing), securities, andatlier investment property, supporting obligatit
and financial assets, whether now owned or henmeaftguired, wherever located; and

All Borrower’s Books relating to the foregoing, aady and all claims, rights and interests in anthefabove and all substitutions for,
additions, attachments, accessories, accessionmanovements to and replacements, products, pdscaed insurance proceeds of any or all
of the foregoing.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Collateral doesinclude (a) more than si-five percent (65%) of the presently existing aedeafter
arising issued and outstanding shares of capaaksiwned by Borrower of Bermuda Subsidiary whichrgs entitle the holder thereof to vote
for directors or any other matter, or (b) any listefual Property except to the extent that it isassary under applicable law to have a security
interest in Intellectual Property in order to havperfected lien and security interest in and &"tR Proceeds” defined below; provided,
however, the Collateral shall include all Accoutitense and royalty fees and other revenues, pas;er income arising out of or relating to
any of the Intellectual Property and any claimsdamage by way of any past, present, or futurénigément of any of the Intellectual Property
(collectively, theIP Proceeds”).



Schedule 2

EXHIBIT C -COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

TO: Silicon Valley Bank, as Aget
TETRAPHASE PHARMACEUTICALS,
INC./ TETRAPHASE SECURITIES
FROM: CORPORATION

The undersigned authorized officer of TETRAPHASEARMACEUTICALS, INC. and TETRAPHASE SECURITIES CORRATION
(collectively, “Borrower”)hereby certifies in such capacity that in accordanith the terms and conditions of the Loan anduBgcAgreemen
among Borrower, Agent, and the Lenders (the “Agreet?),

(i) Borrower is in complete compliance for the periending with all requiredsenants except as noted below;
(ii) There are no Events of Default, except as didelow;

(iii) Except as noted below, all representationd amrranties of Borrower stated in the Loan Docuisiane true and correct in all material
respects on this date except as noted below; prdyitbwever, that such materiality qualifier sinalt be applicable to any representations anc
warranties that already are qualified or modifigchiateriality in the text thereof; and providedither that those representations and warra
expressly referring to a specific date shall betaccurate and complete in all material respexts auch date.

(iv) Borrower, and each of its Subsidiaries, hasety filed all required tax returns and reportsj &orrower has timely paid all foreign, fede
state, and local taxes, assessments, depositoatribations owed by Borrower except as otherwisamtted pursuant to the terms of
Section 5.8 of the Agreement;

(v) No Liens have been levied or claims made ag@psrower or any of its Subsidiaries relating tgpaid employee payroll or benefits of
which Borrower has not previously provided writtastification to Agent

Attached are the required documents, if any, supyppour certification(s). The Officer on behalfBbrrower further certifies that the attached
financial statements are prepared in accordande@®énerally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAR§lare consistently applied from one
period to the next except as explained in an acenryipg letter or footnotes and except, in the cdsmaudited financial statements, for the
absence of footnotes and subject to year-end adplistments as to the interim financial statemeDégitalized terms used but not otherwise
defined herein shall have the meanings given threthd Agreemen



Please indicate compliance status since the lasti@pliance Certificate by circling Yes, No, or N/A urder “Complies” column.

1)
2)
3)

4)
5)
6)
7
8)

9)

10)

1)
2)
3)
4)

5)
6)

Reporting Covenan Requirement
Financial statemen Monthly within 30 days

Annual (CPA Audited) statemer Within 150 days after Fiscal Year E
Annual Financial Projections/Budget Annually (w/n 45 days of FYE). and

(prepared on a monthly bas when revise(
A/R & A/P agings If applicable
8-K, 10-K and 1(-Q Filings If applicable

Intellectual Propert Material Changes to composition of

Intellectual Propert New Registration:

Total amount of Borrower’s cash and cash

equivalents at the last day of the

measurement peric $
Month QTD

$

Deposit and Securities Account

Bank Account Number
Silicon Valley Bank
Silicon Valley Bank
Silicon Valley Bank

Bank of Montrea

Yes
Yes

Yes

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

YTD

New Account’

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Minimum Cash at SVB Requirement Actual

Minimum Cash at SVB Not less than 105% of the outstand $

Obligations

Other Matters

Have there been any changes in management sinta&sti@ompliance Certificate

Have there been any transfers/sales/disposalsfretint of Collateral or IP prohibited by the

Agreement’

No

No

No

No

No
No

Yes
Yes

Have there been any new or pending claims or caxfssstion against Borrower that involve more tl Yes

$100,000"

Complies
No

No
No

No
No
No
No

(Please list all accounts; attach separate sheetdtlitional space neede:

N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Acct Control

Agmt in place~

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Compliance

Yes

No
No

No

No

No

No

No

No
No

No



Exceptions
Please explain any exceptions with

respect to the certification above: (If
no exceptions exist, state “No

exceptions.” Attach separate sheet if
additional space needed.)

TETRAPHASE DATE
PHARMACEUTICALS, INC./
TETRAPHASE SECURITIES
CORPORATION

By:
Name
Title:

LENDERS USE ONLY

Received by

Date:

Compliance Statu

Verified by:

Date:

Yes

No
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[Attached]



Exhibit 10.27

CONSENT AND THIRD AMENDMENT
TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This Consent and Third Amendment to Loan and SgcAgreement (this Amendment”) is entered into this 18 day of December,
2014, by and among (iJETRAPHASE PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. , a Delaware corporation with offices located & #8senal Street,
Suite 110, Watertown, Massachusetts 024 Bafrower "), (ii) SILICON VALLEY BANK , a California corporation with an office located
at 275 Grove Street, Suite 2-200, Newton, MA 02468VB "), (iii) OXFORD FINANCE LLC , a Delaware limited liability company with
an office located at 133 North Fairfax Street, Aledria, Virginia 22314 (Oxford "), (iv) each of the other Lenders, listed on Salied..1
hereof or otherwise a party thereto from time neetj including SVB and Oxford in their capacitied anders, (each al“ender ” and
collectively, the “Lenders™), and (v) SVB, as agent (in such capacity, thgéent”) for the Lenders.

R ECITALS
A. Lenders and Borrower have entered into thabaettoan and Security Agreement dated as of MayQé], as amended by that
certain First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreentlated as of December 20, 2012, as amendedbgetiain Consent and Second
Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated Becember 1, 2014 (as the same may from timerte be further amended, modified,
supplemented or restated, thedan Agreement”).

B. Each Lender extended credit to Borrower forghgposes permitted in the Loan Agreement.

C. Borrower has requested that Lenders amend the Agreement to make certain revisions to the Legieement as more fully set
forth herein.

D. Each Lender has agreed to so amend certaingiwosi of the Loan Agreement, but only to the extenaccordance with the terms,
subject to the conditions and in reliance uporréipgesentations and warranties set forth below.
A GREEMENT

N ow , T HEREFORE , in consideration of the foregoing recitals andentyood and valuable consideration, the receiptealequacy of
which is hereby acknowledged, and intending toelgally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Adment shall have the meanings given to them irLtd@ Agreement.
2. Amendments to Loan Agreement

2.1 Section 5.2(b) (Collateral) The Loan Agreement shall be amended by insettiagvords “or in support of a new drug
application” immediately after the words “pre-ctial and clinical trials” in Section 5.2(b) thereof.

2.2 Section 5.3 (Litigation). Section 5.3 is amended by deleting “One Hundrdeolifand Dollars ($100,000)” and replacing it with
“Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000)".

2.3 Section 5.4 (No Material Deterioration in Finagial Condition; Financial Statements). Section 5.4 is amended in its entirety
and replaced with the following:

“ 5.4 No Material Deterioration in Financial Condition; Financial Statements. All consolidated financial statements for
Borrower and its Subsidiaries delivered to Ageirtyfa



present, in all material respects the consolidétethcial condition of Borrower and its Subsidiariznd the consolidated results of
operations of Borrower and its Subsidiaries. Th® not been any material deterioration in Borrésvewnsolidated financial
condition since the date of the most recent firgrstatements submitted to Lenders.”

2.4 Section 6.2(a)(i) (Financial Statements, RepartCertificates).Section 6.2(a)(i) is amended in its entirety amdaeed with

the following:

section:

following:

“(i) no later than forty-five (45) days after thest day of each quarter, a company prepared cdaseti balance sheet, income
statement and cash flow statement covering theotidased operations of Borrower and its Subsid&af@ such quarter certified by
a Responsible Officer and in a form reasonably gtedxe to Agent;”

2.5 Section 6.2(v) (Financial Statements, Report€ertificates). Section 6.2 is amended by adding the followingheénd of suc

“(d) Borrower shall not be required to deliver ardish any document or materials under this Agregrwethe extent such
document or materials are available on the SE@stEinic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrievalt@ys(EDGAR) or on
Borrower’s website on the Internet at Borrower'dosite address.”

2.6 Section 6.2(b) (Financial Statements, ReportSertificates). Section 6.2(b) is amended in its entirety and meglawith the

“Concurrently with the delivery of the financiab#¢ments specified in Section 6.2(a)(i) above loutter than forty-five (45) days
after the last day of each quarter, deliver to Agamuly completed Compliance Certificate signg@liiResponsible Officer.”

2.7 Section 6.5 (Insurance) Section 6.5 is amended in its entirety and regglagith the following:

“ 6.5 Insurance. Borrower shall keep its business and the Cobiasured for risks and in amounts standard fonganies in
Borrower’s industry and location and as Agent megsonably request. Borrower’s insurance policied §le in a form, with
companies, and in amounts that are reasonablyasdtisy to Agent and Lenders. All property policefsBorrower shall have a
lender’s loss payable endorsement showing Agelerater loss payee and waive subrogation againsttAgad all domestic
liability policies shall show, or have endorsemesitewing, Agent, as an additional insured. All dstitepolicies of Borrower (or
the loss payable and additional insured endorsespehall provide that the insurer shall endeavaite Agent at least twenty

(20) days’ notice before canceling, amending, atidig to renew its policy. At Agent’s request, lBmwver shall deliver certified
copies of Borrower’s policies and evidence of allmpium payments. Proceeds payable under any pafiBprrower shall, at
Agent’s option, be payable to Agent on behalf @f tlenders on account of the Obligations. Notwithdiiag the foregoing, (a) so
long as no Event of Default has occurred and igicoimg, Borrower shall have the option of applyihg proceeds of any casualty
policy of Borrower up to $100,000 with respect tyy doss, but not exceeding $250,000, in the agdecipa all losses under all
casualty policies of Borrower in any one year, tmwde replacement or repair of destroyed or dach@geperty; provided that any
such replaced or repaired property (i) shall begpfal or like value as the replaced or repaireda@ohl and (ii) shall be deemed
Collateral in which Agent has been granted a firidrity security interest, and (b) after the ocence and during the continuanci
an Event of Default, all proceeds payable undeh sasualty policy of Borrower shall, at the optmfmAgent, be payable to Agent,
for the ratable benefit of the Lenders, on accaiithe Obligations. If Borrower fails to obtain urance as required under this
Section 6.5 or to pay any amount or furnish anyiregl proof of payment to third persons and Agégent and/or any Lender may
make, at Borrower's expense, all or part of sugimnt or obtain such insurance policies requiretthim Section 6.5, and take any
action under the policies Agent or such Lender depradent.”
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2.8 Section 6.6(a) (Operating Accountspection 6.6(a) is amended in its entirety and rsalawith the following:

“Maintain all of Borrower’s and all of its Subsidias’ operating and other deposit accounts andriesuaccounts with Silicon
Valley Bank or its Affiliates; provided, furthehat Borrower shall have, at all times, on depasi€ollateral Accounts, operating,
and investment accounts maintained with Silicori&jaBank or its Affiliates that are subject to CamtAgreements in favor of ea
Lender, cash and/or Cash Equivalents in an amaatriess than one hundred five percent (105%) oftika-outstanding
Obligations of Borrower to Lenders. Notwithstandthg foregoing, Bermuda Subsidiary and Securitigssiliary may maintain
accounts with banks and/or financial institutiotisen than Silicon Valley Bank or its Affiliates @l Permitted Accounts”).”

2.9 Section 6.9 (Notices of Litigation and Defaulls Section 6.9 is amended by (i) deleting “One HeddFhousand Dollars

($100,000)” and replacing it with “Two Hundred Fiffthousand Dollars ($250,000)" and (ii) deletingré&e (3) Business Dayshd replacing
with “four (4) Business Days”.

2.10 Section 6.10 (Creation/Acquisition of Subsidiges) . The Loan Agreement shall be amended by insetiiagvords “(other

than Bermuda Subsidiary and Securities Subsidianyiediately after the words “creates or acquirgs @ubsidiary” in Section 6.10 thereof.

2.11 Section 6.12 (Investments in Foreign Subsidias). Section 6.12 is amended in its entirety and meglavith the following:
“6.12 [Reserved.]

2.12 Section 7.1(d) (DispositionsHection 7.1(d) is amended in its entirety and megdawith the following:

“(d) of non-exclusive licenses for the use of thiellectual Property of Borrower or its Subsidiarie the ordinary course of
business in connection with joint ventures andatmilations and licenses that do not result in al liegnsfer of title of the licensed
property but that may be exclusive in respectsratien territory and that may be exclusive as tottey only as to discrete
geographical areas outside of the United State®)atispositions contemplated under the Cost 8hakgreement and the Rights
Transfer Agreement.”

2.13 Section 7.2(b) (Changes in Business, Managerméddwnership or Business Locations) The Loan Agreement shall be

amended by inserting the words “(except for TetesgghSecurities)” immediately after the words “ldpte or dissolve” in Section 7.2(b)

thereof.

2.14 Section 7.2 (Changes in Business, Managemedtynership, or Business Locations)Section 7.2(c)(i) is amended in its

entirety and replaced with the following:

“(c) (i) fail to provide notice to Agent and Lendeuf any Key Person departing from or ceasing terbployed by Borrower within
five (5) Business Days after such Key Person’s dapafrom Borrower;”
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2.15 Section 7.7(a) (Distributions; Investments)Section 7.7(a) of the Loan Agreement in its etyiand replaced with the
following

“(a) Except for distributions by any SubsidiaryBorrower, pay any dividends (other than dividendggble solely in capital stock)
or make any distribution or payment on accountraedeem, retire or purchase any capital stoclefatien repurchases pursuan
the terms of employee stock purchase plans, emglmatricted stock agreements, stockholder rightsspdirector or consultant
stock option plans, or similar plans, provided stegiurchases do not exceed One Hundred Thousarar©¢$100,000) in the
aggregate per fiscal year), or”

2.16 Section 7.8 (Transactions with Affiliates) Section 7.8 is amended in its entirety and regalagith the following:

“ 7.8 Transactions with Affiliates. Directly or indirectly enter into or permit toiskany material transaction with any Affiliate of
Borrower, except for (i) Permitted Investments, iiiconnection with the Rights Transfer Agreemamd the Cost Sharing
Agreement, and (iii) transactions that are in thdirary course of Borrower's business, upon faat esasonable terms that are no
less favorable to Borrower than would be obtaimedn arm’s length transaction with a non-affiliaR&tson.”

2.17 Section 7.12 (Securities Corporation)The Loan Agreement shall be amended by insettiadollowing new provision to
appear as Section 7.12 thereof.

“ 7.12 Securities Corporation. Permit Securities Subsidiary or Tetraphase Seesitio hold or maintain any assets (including,
without limitation, any intellectual property), @hthan cash and Cash Equivalents.”

2.18 Section 9.1(c) (Rights and RemediesJhe Loan Agreement shall be amended by insetiegvords “and Lenders”
immediately before the words “shall have the rig¥ithout notice or demand” in Section 9.1(c) théreo

2.19 Section 9.1(c)(iv) (Rights and RemediesThe Loan Agreement shall be amended by insettiagvords “of Borrower”
immediately after the words “place a “hold on aggaunt” in Section 9.1(c)(iv) thereof.

2.20 Section 13.1 (Definitions) The Loan Agreement shall be amended by (i) dejetnd” at the end of subsection (f);
(ii) changing “.” to “; and” at the end of subsexti(g); and (iii) inserting the following new sulstien (h) to appear in the definition of
“Permitted Indebtedness” set forth in Section tBereof:

“(h) unsecured Indebtedness pursuant to the Casir@hAgreement and the Rights Transfer Agreement.”

2.21 Section 13.1 (Definitions) Subsection (I) appearing in the definition of ffréted Investments” set forth in Section 13.1 is
amended in its entirety and replaced with the foitm:

“() (i) Investments by Borrower in Bermuda Subsidgi (including pursuant to the Cost Sharing Agreetyend (ii) provided
Borrower has complied with the provisions of Setffol2, cash Investments by Borrower in Securlbigissidiary; and provided
further that in each case of (i) and (ii) no EvehbDefault exists or would result from such Investr”

2.22 Section 13.1 (Definitions) The following definitions set forth in Section.13are amended in their entirety and replaced with
the following:

“ Cash Equivalents” are (a) marketable direct obligations issuedmranditionally guaranteed by the United Statesngragency
or any State thereof having maturities of not ntbem one (1) year from the date of acquisition;ggmhmercial paper maturing no
more than one (1) year after its creation and lathe highest rating from either Standard & Po&&ings Group or Moody’s
Investors Service, Inc., (c) certificates of depasaturing no more than one (1) year
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after issue provided that the account (other tlemoants of Securities Subsidiary) in which any scetiificate of deposit is
maintained is subject to a Control Agreement irofaaf Agent, and (d) money market accounts at leasty-five percent (95%) of
the assets of which constitute Cash Equivalentseokinds described in clauses (a) through (chisfdefinition. For the avoidance
of doubt, the direct purchase by Borrower, any oodower, any guarantor, or any subsidiary of Boeowf any Auction Rate
Securities, or purchasing participations in, oeenty into any type of swap or other derivativansiaction, or otherwise holding or
engaging in any ownership interest in any type oét#fon Rate Security by Borrower, any co-borrovegry guarantor or any
subsidiary of Borrower shall be conclusively detiraal by the Lenders as an ineligible Cash Equivakem any such transaction
shall expressly violate each other provision of #tgreement governing Permitted Investments. Niegteinding the foregoing, Ca
Equivalents does not include and Borrower andiitssiliaries are prohibited from purchasing, pursigaparticipations in, enterir
into any type of swap or other equivalent derivatiransaction, or otherwise holding or engagingrip ownership interest in any
type of debt instrument, including, without limitat, any corporate or municipal bonds with a loegwt nominal maturity, in each
case, for which the interest rate is reset thraughtch auction and more commonly referred to asuation rate security.

“ Collateral Account” is any Deposit Account, Securities Account, om@oodity Account of Borrower.

“ Loan Documents” are, collectively, this Agreement, the Warranke Perfection Certificate, each Compliance Cesit, the
Pledge Agreement, any subordination agreementsp@i@y or notes or guaranties executed by Borroawet,any other present or
future agreement between Borrower for the benétiemders and Agent in connection with this Agreainall as amended,
restated, or otherwise modified.

2.23 Section 13.1 (Definitions) The Loan Agreement is amended by inserting theviing new definitions to appear
alphabetically in Section 13.1 thereof:

“ Cost Sharing Agreement’ means that certain Agreement For Sharing Intdeditevelopment Costs between Borrower and
Bermuda Subsidiary dated as of December 1, 2014ffactive as of November 25, 2014.

“ Pledge Agreement means that certain Pledge Agreement executeddoso®er in favor of Agent, for the ratable benefithe
Lenders, dated as of December 18, 2014, as magnbaded, modified, supplemented or restated frora totime.

“ Rights Transfer Agreement” means that certain Rights Transfer Agreement betwBorrower and Bermuda Subsidiary dated &
of December 1, 2014.

“ Securities Subsidiary” means Tetraphase Pharma Securities, Inc., a iipo organized under the laws of Massachusetisaan
Subsidiary of Borrower.

“ Tetraphase Securities means Tetraphase Securities Corporation, a catjoororganized under the laws of Massachusett@and
Subsidiary of Borrower.

2.24 Exhibit C (Compliance Certificate). The Compliance Certificate is amended in itsrehtiand replaced with the Compliance
Certificate in the form of Scheduleattached hereto.



3. Release of TetraPhase Securities Corporatiaripon the occurrence the Condition to Effectiven@s defined in Section 10 of this
Amendment:

3.1 TETRAPHASE SECURITIES CORPORATION (“ Released Borrower") will automatically, and without the need for any
further action on the part of Agent, Lenders or ather Person, be fully and forever released asreo®er under the Loan Agreement and ¢
other Loan Document;

3.2the Liens, security interests and other rights géit and each Lender in and to any and all of $iseta of Released Borrower
will automatically, and without the need for anyther action on the part of Agent, Lenders, or ather Person, be fully and forever released
and terminated;

3.3Released Borrower, or any of Released Borrowersigdees as notified to Agent in writing (which nizgy submitted by
facsimile or electronic mail transmission), andthespective attorneys, agents and representats/asithorized to file UCC-3 termination
statements with respect to Released Borrower iapgilicable jurisdictions to evidence the releasdtermination referred to above; and

3.4 Agent shall at Borrower’s sole cost and expeng@réimptly execute and deliver to Released Borraailetocuments and
instruments reasonably requested by Released Berrowurther evidence the release and terminatfdhe Liens, security interests and other
rights in favor of Agent, for the ratable benefitloe Lenders, in and to the assets of Release®er under the Loan Documents, and
(ii) promptly deliver to Released Borrower, or thesspective designees as notified to Bank in mgifwhich may be submitted by facsimile or
electronic mail transmission), all instruments atiter property of Released Borrower that are inpthesession of Agent, for the ratable benefi
of the Lenders.

3.5The other Borrower hereby consents to Agent’'s seled Released Borrower and acknowledges and awnfhiat it remains
fully liable under the Loan Agreement and the othesin Documents. Notwithstanding the foregoinghimaj herein shall be deemed a release
or discharge by Agent or Lenders of any securitgrist, lien, or pledge of any other Collaterakottihan as expressly set forth herein.

4. Consent to Formation of Subsidiary. Borrower has notified Agent and Lenders that Bagr intends to create the Securities
Subsidiary (the ‘Subsidiary Formation ). Borrower has requested that Agent and Lendensent to the Subsidiary Formation. Agent and
Lenders hereby consent to the Subsidiary Formatimhagree that the Subsidiary Formation shallin@nd of itself, constitute an “Event of
Default” under Section 6.10 (relative to creation acquisition of subsidiaries), Section 7.3 (fe&ato mergers or acquisitions), or Section 7.7
(relative to distributions and investments) of tlman Agreement. The Securities Subsidiary shaltinae to be subject to all of the terms and
conditions of the Loan Agreement (other than Seddid 0 of the Loan Agreement).

5. Limitation of Amendments.

5.1The amendments set forth in Section 2, above,féeetiwe for the purposes set forth herein andldhalimited precisely as
written and shall not be deemed to (a) be a consearty amendment, waiver or modification of anyestterm or condition of any Loan
Document, or (b) otherwise prejudice any rightemedy which Bank may now have or may have in theréuunder or in connection with any
Loan Document.

5.2This Amendment shall be construed in connectioh aitd as part of the Loan Documents and all tecorgglitions,
representations, warranties, covenants and agresisettorth in the Loan Documents, except as hegiended, are hereby ratified and
confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect

6. Representations and Warranties To induce Bank to enter into this Amendment, Baxer hereby represents and warrants to Bank :
follows:

6.1 Immediately after giving effect to this Amendmeaj} the representations and warranties containétbihoan Documents are
true, accurate and complete in all material respastof the date hereof (except to the extent mpresentations and warranties relate to an
earlier date, in which case they are true and cbag of such date), and (b) no Event of Defaudtdurred and is continuing;

6.2 Borrower has the power and authority to executedsiider this Amendment and to perform its obligat under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment;



6.3 The organizational documents of Borrower delivaeBank on the Effective Date remain true, accuaaig complete and have
not been amended, supplemented or restated amac@ntinue to be in full force and effect;

6.4 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Arderent and the performance by Borrower of its oliiges under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, have didgrauthorized;

6.5 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Arderent and the performance by Borrower of its oliiges under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, do notv@hdot contravene (a) any material law or regiaia binding on or affecting Borrower,
(b) any material contract with a Person bindingdonrower, (c) any order, judgment or decree of emyrt or other governmental or public
body or authority, or subdivision thereof, bindioig Borrower, or (d) the organizational documentBoifrower;

6.6 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Arderent and the performance by Borrower of its oliiges under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, do natreegny order, consent, approval, license, autatian or validation of, or filing,
recording or registration with, or exemption by ajovernmental or public body or authority, or swiglon thereof, binding on either
Borrower, except as already has been obtained denzend

6.7 This Amendment has been duly executed and deliveye®brrower and is the binding obligation of Bomear, enforceable
against Borrower in accordance with its terms, pkes such enforceability may be limited by bankzypinsolvency, reorganization,
liquidation, moratorium or other similar laws ofrgeal application and equitable principles relatimgr affecting creditors’ rights.

7. Updated Perfection Certificate. Borrower has delivered an updated Perfectionifate in connection with this Amendment (the “
Updated Perfection Certificate”) dated as of December 18, 2014, which Updateé:Pon Certificate shall supersede in all respéuas
certain Perfection Certificate dated as of Decer2le2012. Borrower agrees that all referenceberLban Agreement to “Perfection
Certificate” shall hereinafter be deemed to beferemce to the Updated Perfection Certificate.

8. Integration . This Amendment and the Loan Documents reprebergtitire agreement about this subject matter apersede prior
negotiations or agreements. All prior agreememtdgtstandings, representations, warranties, anotiaigns between the parties about the
subject matter of this Amendment and the Loan Danisymerge into this Amendment and the Loan Doctsnen

9. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any numbeowofterparts and all of such counterparts takenthegehall be
deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.

10. Effectiveness This Amendment shall be (i) conditioned upon ijgicef each of the closing deliverables set fonthttee Document
Agenda attached as Schedulee?eto, and (ii) deemed effective upon (a) theekexution and delivery to Agent of (a) this Amendirigy
each party hereto, and (b) Borrower’s payment afdegs’ Expenses (collectively, theCondition to Effectiveness’).

[Signature page follows.]
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I NW ITNESSW HEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendmere thuly executed and delivered as of the dateiristen
above.

BORROWER:
TETRAPHASE PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ David Lubner
Name: David Lubner, CFO

AGENT AND LENDERS:
SILICON VALLEY BANK, as Agent and a Lender
By: /s/ Kate Walsh

Name: Kate Walsh
Title:  Vice President

OXFORD FINANCE LLC, as a Lender

By: /sl Mark Davis
Name: Mark Davis
Title:  Vice President Finance, Secretary & Treasu




Schedule 1

EXHIBIT C -COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

TO: Silicon Valley Bank, as Aget
FROM: TETRAPHASE PHARMACEUTICALS, INC

The undersigned authorized officer of TETRAPHASEARMACEUTICALS, INC. (“Borrower”) hereby certifiesnisuch capacity that in
accordance with the terms and conditions of thenlared Security Agreement among Borrower, Agent,thed_enders (the “Agreement”),

(i) Borrower is in complete compliance for the periending with all requiredvenants except as noted below;
(ii) There are no Events of Default, except as didelow;

(iii) Except as noted below, all representationd aarranties of Borrower stated in the Loan Docutsiane true and correct in all material
respects on this date except as noted below; prdyitbwever, that such materiality qualifier sinalt be applicable to any representations anc
warranties that already are qualified or modifigchiateriality in the text thereof; and providedither that those representations and warra
expressly referring to a specific date shall be taccurate and complete in all material respexcts auch date.

(iv) Borrower, and each of its Subsidiaries, haeety filed all required tax returns and reportsd &orrower has timely paid all foreign, fede
state, and local taxes, assessments, depositoatribations owed by Borrower except as otherwiserptted pursuant to the terms of
Section 5.8 of the Agreement;

(v) No Liens have been levied or claims made ag&pnsower or any of its Subsidiaries relating tpaid employee payroll or benefits of
which Borrower has not previously provided writtestification to Agent

Attached are the required documents, if any, supmpour certification(s). The Officer on behalfBbrrower further certifies that the attached
financial statements are prepared in accordande@®énerally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAR§lare consistently applied from one
period to the next except as explained in an acemyipg letter or footnotes and except, in the cdsmaudited financial statements, for the
absence of footnotes and subject to year-end adflistments as to the interim financial statemeDagitalized terms used but not otherwise
defined herein shall have the meanings given threthd Agreemen



Please indicate compliance status since the lasti@pliance Certificate by circling Yes, No, or N/A urder “Complies” column.

Reporting Covenan Requirement Complies
1) Financial statemen Quarterly within 45 day Yes No N/A
2) Annual (CPA Audited) statemer Within 150 days after Fiscal Year E Yes No N/A
3) Annual Financial Projections/Budget Annually (w/n 45 days of FYE). and Yes No N/A
(prepared on a monthly bas when revise(
4) 8K, 1C-K and 1(-Q Filings If applicable Yes No N/A
5) Intellectual Propert Material Changes to composition of Yes No N/A
6) Intellectual Propert New Registration: Yes No N/A

7) Total amount of Borrower’s cash and cash
equivalents at the last day of the

measurement peric $
8) Month QTD YTD
9) $
Deposit and Securities Accounts (Please list all accounts; attach separate sheetdflitional space needed)
Acct Control
Bank Account Number New Account”: Agmt in place?
1) Yes No Yes No
Silicon Valley Bank
2) Yes No Yes No
Silicon Valley Bank
3) Yes No Yes No
Silicon Valley Bank
5) Yes No Yes No
6) Yes No Yes No
Minimum Cash and Cash Equivalents
at SVB Requirement Actual Compliance
Minimum Cash and Cash Equivalents Not less than 105% of the outstand $ Yes No
at SVB Obligations
Other Matters
Have there been any changes in Key Person sindash€ompliance Certificate Yes No
Have there been any transfers/sales/disposalsfretint of Collateral or IP prohibited by the Yes No
Agreement’
Have there been any new or pending claims or cafsasion against Borrower that involve more t Yes No

$250,000°,



Exceptions
Please explain any exceptions with

respect to the certification above: (If
no exceptions exist, state “No

exceptions.” Attach separate sheet if
additional space needed.)

TETRAPHASE DATE
PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:

Name
Title:

LENDERS USE ONLY

Received by

Date:

Compliance Statu

Verified by:

Date:

Yes

No



Schedule 2

SILICON VALLEY BANK
OXFORD FINANCE LLC
TERM LOAN FACILITY
WITH
TETRAPHASE PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

DECEMBER 2014

Responsible
Party 1
.  AUTHORITY DOCUMENTS
1. Certificate of Incorporation, as amenc BC
2. By-Laws, as amende BC
3. Certificate of Good Standing (Long For+~ Delaware BC
4. Certificates of Foreign Qualification
(a) Massachusetts
(b) California BC
5. Secretar’s Corporate Borrowing Certificate (attaching Bo@ahsent AC
6. Shareholder Consent, as necessiplease provide drafts for R&s review prior to executio) BC
. LOAN DOCUMENTS
7. Consent and Third Amendment to Loan and Securitseigen AC
8. UCC Termination Stateme— TetraPhase Securities Corporat AC

1 AC = Agen’s Counse- Riemer & BraunsteilLLr
BC = Borrowe’s Counse— Wilmer, Cutler, Pickering Hale & Dorr LL



10.

11.
12.
13.
14.

Stock Pledge Agreeme

Updated Perfection Certificafeo be completed by Borrower and delivered to Lengeior to
closing)

Landlorc's Consents, as necess(pending review of Updated Perfection Certifice
Baile€'s Waivers, as necessépending review of Updated Perfection Certifice
Deposit/Securities Account Control Agreements, ecessan

Pos-Closing Lettel

. MISCELLANEOUS

15.
16.
17.
18.

19.
20.

UCC and other Lien Searches for each Borrc

Intellectual Property Search Rest

Stock Certificates and Stock Pow- Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals (Bermuda)
Stock Certificates and Stock Powers - Tetraphasend Securities, Inc.

Evidence of Insurance (On Acord 28 Form, and A@58 Form), together with Endorseme

Payment of Fee- Lender’ Fees

Responsible

Party !
AC

AC/BC

AC
AC

On File with Lender:
AC

On File with Lender:
On File with Lender:
BC

Post-Closing within 10
days

On File with Lender:

Borrower



Name

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Jurisdiction of Organization

Exhibit 21.1

Percentage Ownershig

Tetraphase Securities Corporat
Tetraphase Pharma Securities, |
Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals (Bermuda)

Massachusett
Massachusett
Bermudas

100%
100%
100%



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33-195631) of Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals,

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-193@@8taining to Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Int4 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-194 p25taining to the 2013 Stock Incentive Plan afdghase Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
and

(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-189®@ttaining to the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan dred2013 Stock Incentive Plan of
Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, i

of our report dated March 6, 2015, with respec¢htconsolidated financial statements of TetrapPdsemaceuticals, Inc. included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Tetraphase Pharmacaelsj Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 6, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Guy Macdonald, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, It

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or eéonditate a material fact necessar
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsotimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, angdtfie periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isfg prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financiglaring or caused such internal control over finan@porting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrigistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 6, 2015

/s! Guy Macdonals
Guy Macdonald
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, David Lubner, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, It

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or eéonditate a material fact necessar
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsotimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, angdtfie periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isfg prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financiglaring or caused such internal control over finan@porting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrigistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 6, 2015

/s/ David C. Lubne
David C. Lubner
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offic




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 104K etraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Compafoy”jhe fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014 as filed with the SecuritiesExethange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8ptne undersigned, Guy Macdonald,
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby ifiet, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, thahiscknowledge on the date hereof:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphlgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 6, 2015

/s! Guy Macdonals
Guy Macdonald
Chief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 104K etraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Compafoy”jhe fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014 as filed with the Securitiesixcthange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8ptiie undersigned, David Lubner,
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby iées, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, thahisdknowledge on the date hereof:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphlgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 6, 2015

/s/ David C. Lubne

David C. Lubner
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




